

## Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

**Research and Development Report** 



**U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION** 



U.S. Department of Education NCES 2009-453



Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

Research and Development Report

November 2008

Sami Kitmitto Victor Bandeira de Mello American Institutes for Research

Taslima Rahman Project Officer National Center for Education Statistics

#### **U.S. Department of Education**

Margaret Spellings Secretary

Institute of Education Sciences Grover J. Whitehurst Director

#### **National Center for Education Statistics**

Mark Schneider

Commissioner

The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) is the primary federal entity for collecting, analyzing, and reporting data related to education in the United States and other nations. It fulfills a congressional mandate to collect, collate, analyze, and report full and complete statistics on the condition of education in the United States; conduct and publish reports and specialized analyses of the meaning and significance of such statistics; assist state and local education agencies in improving their statistical systems; and review and report on education activities in foreign countries.

NCES activities are designed to address high-priority education data needs; provide consistent, reliable, complete, and accurate indicators of education status and trends; and report timely, useful, and high-quality data to the U.S. Department of Education, the Congress, the states, other education policymakers, practitioners, data users, and the general public. Unless specifically noted, all information contained herein is in the public domain.

We strive to make our products available in a variety of formats and in language that is appropriate to a variety of audiences. You, as our customer, are the best judge of our success in communicating information effectively. If you have any comments or suggestions about this or any other NCES product or report, we would like to hear from you. Please direct your comments to

National Center for Education Statistics Institute of Education Sciences U.S. Department of Education 1990 K Street NW Washington, DC 20006-5651

November 2008

The NCES World Wide Web Home Page address is <u>http://nces.ed.gov</u>. The NCES World Wide Web Electronic Catalog is <u>http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch</u>.

#### Suggested Citation

Kitmitto, S., and Bandeira de Mello, V. (2008). *Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities* (NCES 2009-453). National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC.

#### For ordering information on this report, write to

U.S. Department of Education ED Pubs P.O. Box 1398 Jessup, MD 20794-1398

or call toll free 1-877-4ED-Pubs or order online at http://www.edpubs.org.

#### Content Contact

Taslima Rahman (202) 502-7316 taslima.rahman@ed.gov

## FOREWORD

The Research and Development (R&D) series of reports at the National Center for Education Statistics has been initiated to

- Share studies and research that are developmental in nature. The results of such studies may be revised as the work continues and additional data become available;
- Share the results of studies that are, to some extent, on the cutting edge of methodological developments. Emerging analytical approaches and new computer software development often permit new and sometimes controversial analyses to be done. By participating in frontier research, we hope to contribute to the resolution of issues and improved analysis; and
- Participate in discussions of emerging issues of interest to educational researchers, statisticians, and the Federal statistical community in general.

The common theme in all three goals is that these reports present results or discussions that do not reach definitive conclusions at this point in time, either because the data are tentative, the methodology is new and developing, or the topic is one on which there are divergent views. Therefore, the techniques and inferences made from the data are tentative and subject to revision. To facilitate the process of closure on the issues, we invite comment, criticism, and alternatives to what we have done.

Such responses should be directed to

Marilyn Seastrom Chief Statistician Statistical Standards Program National Center for Education Statistics 1990 K Street NW Washington, DC 20006-5651

## EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Since the late 1990s, participation rates of students with disabilities (SDs) in the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) from different states have fluctuated. To address concerns that these changes may affect the validity of reports on achievement trends, NAEP has

- instituted policies for providing test accommodations for students with disabilities;
- developed a methodology to correct for the bias resulting from changing inclusion rates, and
- implemented procedures to increase the number of students with disabilities who are included as test-takers, such as better training of field staff, better procedures to assign proper accommodations for students, and improved communications with schools.

States' procedures for including and accommodating students with disabilities are also evolving.

To measure whether these strategies and changes are associated with higher state-by-state inclusion rates, we have developed two distinct approaches for comparing state inclusion rates with one another and gauging progress in their improvement over time. Both approaches rely on regression analysis to estimate the relationship between a student's characteristics and the probability that the student is included on the NAEP assessment. One approach, the nation-based one, estimates one regression using data pooled from all states. The other, the state-specific approach, estimates the regression separately for each state. The relationships are estimated using individual-level data and are then used to establish expectations (or predicted probabilities) for the inclusion of students with disabilities with different characteristics. Individual-level predicted probabilities are aggregated to the state level to form state-level expected inclusion rates. The two approaches examined changes in inclusion rates from 2003 to 2005 and from 2005 to 2007 for grades 4 and 8 mathematics and reading assessments.

For the comparison between 2005 and 2007 described in this report, the two approaches produced similar results when comparing the indices of baseline status of inclusion and change over time:

- The majority of states did not make a statistically significant change in the rate of inclusion.
- Among states that did show a significant change, most were less inclusive in 2007 than in 2005.
  - For the nation-based approach: 8 out of 15 states for mathematics grade 4 were less inclusive in 2007 than in 2005; 17 out of 19 states for mathematics grade 8; 18 out of 26 states for reading grade 4; 21 out of 25 states for reading grade 8.
  - For the state-specific approach: 17 out of 19 states for mathematics grade 8 were less inclusive in 2007 than in 2005; 12 out of 22 states for reading grade 4; 14 out of 18 states for reading grade 8.
  - The exception was for the state-specific approach for mathematics grade 4, where more of the states with significant changes had increases: 8 out of 15.
- Most of the states whose inclusion rate significantly increased in 2007 had a relatively low inclusion rate in 2005.
  - All states with significant increases in inclusion rates in 2007 had relative inclusion rates in the bottom 50 percent in 2005 with the exception of one state for the nation-based method for grade 8 mathematics.

- States whose inclusion rate significantly decreased in 2007 had varied relative inclusion rates in 2005.
- The expected (predicted) inclusion rates varied from state to state by grade and subject.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report was designed and developed with the help and feedback of many people. We thank members of a panel that was convened to provide a review of the work. We also thank the Education Information Management Advisory Consortium (EIMAC) participants for their feedback and comments on numerous occasions. Finally, thanks go to the many NAEP State Coordinators who also provided a good deal of comments and feedback to preliminary drafts of this report. In particular, we appreciate the contributions of Wendy Geiger (Virginia Department of Education), Marcie Hickman (North Carolina State Department of Education), and Angie Mangiantini (Washington State Department of Education).

## CONTENTS

Forewordiii
Executive Summaryv
Acknowledgmentsvii
List of Tablesxi
List of Figuresxiv
Introduction 1
Distribution of types of students with disabilities2
Partitioning changes in state-level inclusion rates3
Summary6
Methodology7
Overview7
Nation-Based Approach10
State-Specific Approach12
Summary and Comparison of Approaches16
The Role of Accommodations and State Policies17
Illustrations of the Approaches
Starting Point vs. Change25
Data27
Summary Statistics
Caveats and Cautions in Interpretation
Subjectivity and Measurement Error35
Changes in Identification Rates of Students with Disabilities
Caution Against Normative Interpretations
Results
Nation-Based Results
State-Specific Results
Comparison of Nation-Based and State-Specific Results
Summary

References	57
Appendix A. Calculation of Standard Errors	A-1
Appendix B. Changes Inclusion Rates From 2003 to 2005	B-1
Appendix C. Recentering Measures	C-1
Appendix D. SD Background Questionnaires	D-1

## LIST OF TABLES

#### Table

1.	Percentages of grades 4 and 8 public school students with disabilities who are not English language learners included in NAEP reading and mathematics assessments, by type of disability, severity level of disability, grade level of instruction, and use of non-NAEP accommodation on state assessment: 2005 and 2007
2.	Average, standard deviation, and range of state-level percentage of students with disabilities by each characteristic, NAEP grade 4 mathematics: 2007
3.	Summary and comparison of nation-based and state-specific measures of change 16
4.	Summary and comparison of nation-based and state-specific measures of starting point
5.	Example of nation-based approach for measuring change
6.	Example of state-specific approach for measuring change
7.	Categories of variables in regression equation
8a.	Sample size of public school students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessment, percentage included on the assessment, and percentage with each disability type: By state, 2007
8b.	Percentages of public school students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessment with each severity level of disabilities: By state, 2007
8c.	Percentages of public school students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessment at each grade level of instruction, and percentage who received a non-NAEP accommodation: By state, 2007
9.	Actual and predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments, starting point and change measures, using nation-based approach: By state, 2005 and 2007
10.	Actual and predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments, starting point and change measures, using nation-based approach: By state, 2005 and 2007
11.	Actual and predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 reading assessments, starting point and change measures, using nation-based approach: By state, 2005 and 2007
12.	Actual and predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 reading assessments, starting point and change measures, using nation-based approach: By state, 2005 and 2007
13.	Actual and second-period predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments, starting point and change measures, using state-specific approach: By state, 2005 and 2007
14.	Actual and second-period predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments, starting point and change measures, using state-specific approach: By state, 2005 and 2007

#### Table

#### Page

15.	Actual and second-period predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 reading assessments, starting point and change measures, using state-specific approach: By state, 2005 and 2007
16.	Actual and second-period predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 reading assessments, starting point and change measures, using state-specific approach: By state, 2005 and 2007
17.	Number of states in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grades 4 and 8 mathematics assessments: 2005 and 2007
18.	Number of states in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grades 4 and 8 reading assessments: 2005 and 2007
19.	States in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments: 2005 and 2007
20.	States in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments: 2005 and 2007
21.	States in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grade 4 reading assessments: 2005 and 2007
22.	States in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grade 8 reading assessments: 2005 and 2007
B-1.	Percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach: By state, 2003 and 2005B-2
B-2.	Percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach: By state, 2003 and 2005B-3
B-3.	Percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach: By state, 2003 and 2005B-4
B-4.	Percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach: By state, 2003 and 2005B-5
B-5.	Starting point and change measures for percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments from state-specific approach: By state, 2003 and 2005
B-6.	Starting point and change measures for percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments from state-specific approach: By state, 2003 and 2005
B-7.	Starting point and change measures for percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 reading assessments from state-specific approach: By state, 2003 and 2005
B-8.	Starting point and change measures for percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 reading assessments from state-specific approach: By state, 2003 and 2005
B-9.	Number of states in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grades 4 and 8 mathematics assessments: 2003 and 2005B-10

#### Table

#### Page

B-10.	Number of states in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grades 4 and 8 reading assessments: 2003 and 2005
C-1.	Benchmark percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007C-3
C-2.	Benchmark percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007C-4
C-3.	Benchmark percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007C-5
C-4.	Benchmark percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007C-6
C-5.	Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007C-7
C-6.	Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007C-8
C-7.	Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007C-9
C-8.	Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007C-10
C-9.	Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 and 8 mathematics assessments, estimated using state-specific approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005
C-10.	Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 and 8 reading assessments, estimated using state-specific approach and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005C-12

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	re	Page
1.	Algebra of the partitioning technique for a linear case	5
2.	Illustration of nation-based approach for measuring change	19
3.	Illustration of state-specific approach for measuring change	24
4.	Composite index score by quartile of starting point score and statistical significance of change score	26

### INTRODUCTION

The purpose of the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) is to provide a reliable measure of achievement and trends in achievement at the national and state levels in several grades and subjects. Additionally, NAEP is supposed to report on the achievement of students with disabilities and students identified as limited English proficient (National Assessment of Educational Progress Authorization Act of 2002). Since the late 1990s, the rates at which sampled students with disabilities (SDs) participate (i.e., are included) in NAEP have fluctuated. Reporting of trends requires consistency in practices across years, and the lack of consistency in the inclusion of students with disabilities has called the validity of NAEP trends into question (Forgione 1999; McLaughlin 2000, 2001, 2003). To address these concerns, the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), the administrator of NAEP, instituted policies for providing test accommodations and has supported the development of a methodology to correct for any bias resulting from changing inclusion rates.<sup>1</sup>

In July 2005, the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) released the report *No Child Left Behind Act: Most Students with Disabilities Participated in Statewide Assessments, but Inclusion Options Could Be Improved*. In the report, the GAO recommended that NAEP "work with the states, particularly those with high exclusion rates, to explore strategies to reduce the number of students with disabilities who are excluded from the NAEP assessment." NCES responded with four actions:

- researched the local decision-making process for participation and accommodation decisions of students with disabilities on NAEP;
- implemented a decision tree that asks whether students could participate in NAEP without their normal state accommodations;
- improved training of NAEP administrators and field staff for 2007 assessments; and
- commissioned this study to develop a methodology for comparing state inclusion rates to one another and gauging progress in improving inclusion rates over time.

This report describes the methodological approach which calculates for each state an expected inclusion rate based on (a) its previous inclusion rates, (b) changes in the distribution of types of students with disabilities in the state, and (c) the set of accommodations offered by the state on its own tests. The method developed is applied to measuring changes from 2005 to 2007 for grades 4 and 8 mathematics and reading assessments.

This report is the first in a series of reports that explore methodologies to measure state-level changes in inclusion rates of students with disabilities as well as English language learners (ELLs). This report focuses on the inclusion of students with disabilities who are not English language learners. In the 2005 and 2007 mathematics and reading NAEP assessments, students with disabilities who were also English language learners made up 13.5 to 15.3 percent of all grade 4 students with disabilities and 16.1 to 19.2 percent of all grade 8 students with disabilities. However, because the factors influencing the inclusion of SDs and ELLs are distinct, we investigate their inclusion processes separately prior to modeling them jointly. We expect SDs who are also ELLs to be included on NAEP under a different process; hence expect that the model and, possibly, results will change by including them. Therefore, findings in this report may not be applicable to SDs who are ELLs or may be different when SDs who are ELL are included. The inclusion of ELLs and of SDs who are also ELLs will be addressed in subsequent reports.

<sup>1</sup> For a methodological approach to correct for bias see McLaughlin (2003).

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

#### DISTRIBUTION OF TYPES OF STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES

Provisions for the participation of an SD on NAEP differ by each student's characteristics. Table 1 shows weighted inclusion rates of students with disabilities with different characteristics: different types of disabilities, different severity levels of those disabilities, different grade levels of instruction on the subject being assessed (relative to their grade of enrollment), and whether the student received an accommodation on his or her state assessment that was not allowed on NAEP. For example, among all students with disabilities who were sampled for the 2005 mathematics grade 4 NAEP assessment and were identified with *a specific learning disability*, 85.1 percent participated on NAEP. From this table, it is clear that inclusion rates on NAEP vary by

- different types of disabilities;
- different severity levels of disabilities;
- different grade levels of instruction in the subject being assessed; and
- whether a student receives an accommodation on his or her state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP.

# Table 1. Percentages of grades 4 and 8 public school students with disabilities who are<br/>not English language learners included in NAEP reading and mathematics<br/>assessments, by type of disability, severity level of disability, grade level of<br/>instruction, and use of non-NAEP accommodation on state assessment: 2005<br/>and 2007

	2005				2007			
	Mathe	matics	Rea	ding	Mathe	matics	Rea	ding
Characteristics	Grade 4	Grade 8	Grade 4	Grade 8	Grade 4	Grade 8	Grade 4	Grade 8
Disability type (not mutually ex	clusive)							
Learning disability	85.1	81.7	64.0	73.5	83.5	75.5	64.4	71.3
Speech impairment	85.8	71.1	75.0	63.4	85.6	66.7	77.6	58.7
Mental retardation	38.2	36.1	20.4	25.5	30.3	24.4	19.4	20.4
Emotion disturbance	76.6	76.8	62.7	72.1	72.2	67.2	61.4	70.5
Other disabilities	75.0	72.3	61.6	64.6	75.3	67.5	62.8	65.6
Disability severity level								
Severe	52.9	42.2	36.0	32.8	41.7	29.7	33.7	30.1
Moderate	79.1	72.8	61.4	63.5	76.8	63.2	59.9	59.6
Mild	92.3	86.6	77.1	80.1	91.2	80.8	79.3	77.5
Not reported	74.4	67.5	61.9	58.2	78.9	71.0	66.8	65.3
Grade level of instruction								
Same grade level or above	94.8	89.8	85.9	84.0	93.6	82.7	85.5	81.4
One year below grade	83.0	83.7	68.7	81.2	84.4	75.1	69.5	75.4
Two years or more below grade	51.9	58.1	39.9	51.2	52.2	50.8	41.7	48.4
Not reported	76.4	68.8	63.7	63.0	77.3	70.2	65.7	63.6
Received accommodation on s	tate asses	ssment tha	t is not allo	wed on NA	<b>\EP</b>			
No	86.2	83.3	76.8	78.4	86.6	80.3	76.2	75.5
Yes	58.4	56.4	42.1	47.4	51.5	39.3	31.9	34.9

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) 2005 and 2007 Mathematics and Reading Assessments.

Variation in the distribution of characteristics of students with disabilities across states is demonstrated in table 2, which shows the average, standard deviation, and range of state-level percentage of students with disabilities with each characteristic.<sup>2</sup> For example, the average state-level percentage of students with disabilities with a *specific learning disability* in the 2007 NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessment was 45.8 percent, but this ranged from 14.7 percent in Kentucky to 63.3 percent in the District of Columbia.

	Average	Standard	Range of percents		
Characteristics	(percent)	deviation	Min	Мах	
Disability type (not mutually exclusive)					
Learning disability	45.8	8.7	14.7	63.3	
Speech impairment	28.3	8.2	7.2	48.0	
Mental retardation	6.0	2.8	1.6	13.2	
Emotion disturbance	5.0	2.7	1.2	13.3	
Other disabilities	30.2	6.4	16.4	42.7	
Disability severity level					
Severe	7.7	3.3	2.3	15.0	
Moderate	35.1	9.3	12.3	57.6	
Mild	47.5	10.8	25.9	74.5	
Not reported	9.8	4.8	2.5	26.2	
Grade level of instruction					
Same grade	46.5	9.0	18.4	63.9	
One year below grade	19.8	4.2	10.0	27.0	
Two years or more below grade	22.6	6.4	7.8	44.3	
Not reported	11.1	3.9	4.2	26.2	
Received accommodation on state assessm	ent that is not allo	wed on NAEP			
Yes	15.2	9.7	2.0	47.5	

## Table 2. Average, standard deviation, and range of state-level percentage of students with disabilities by each characteristic, NAEP grade 4 mathematics: 2007

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) 2007 Mathematics Assessments.

#### PARTITIONING CHANGES IN STATE-LEVEL INCLUSION RATES

For NCES to track changes in state-level inclusion rates of students with disabilities on NAEP, the goal is to decompose those changes into a portion explained by changes in the distribution of SD characteristics (type of disability, severity of disability, and grade level of instruction) and another, an *unexplained* portion, capturing changes in NCES policy and practices, state efforts, and other factors. As such, in this report, we develop a *partitioning* technique that is based on and akin to Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition techniques (Oaxaca 1973; Blinder 1973).<sup>3</sup> Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition techniques in studies of discrimination in which differences in an outcome variable, such as different wages for Blacks and Whites, are broken

<sup>2</sup> The average given is an average of state-level figures. It is not weighted by the number of students with disabilities in each state and hence does not represent the average prevalence of a characteristic across the country.

<sup>3</sup> Fairlie (2003) extended Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition techniques to nonlinear models.

down into two portions, one that can be explained by differences in underlying characteristics thought to affect the outcome, such as years of education and experience, and another that is explained by differences in how those characteristics are treated/rewarded, which is interpreted as discrimination. Our *partitioning* employs Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition techniques but does not delve as deeply in to explanation or interpretation of the portion not explained by differences in underlying characteristics.

The Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition technique measures the portion of mean group differences attributed to differences in underlying characteristics by fixing the individual-level relationship between observed characteristics and outcome. Similarly, our *partitioning* technique fixes the individual relationship between observed characteristics and outcome. This relationship provides a predicted outcome for each individual that is based on his or her characteristics. The difference between two groups' predicted outcomes (Predicted Outcome for Group 2 minus Predicted Outcome for Group 1) determines the portion of the actual difference in outcome (Actual Outcome for Group 2 minus Actual Outcome for Group 1) that is attributed to differences in observed characteristics. The Oaxaca-Blinder analysis simultaneously goes on to analyze and explain the remaining portion as differences in treatment and, hence, discrimination. Here, in our *partitioning*, the remaining portion of the actual difference that is not explained by differences in observed characteristics is attributed to *other* factors.

In the application of our partitioning methodology, we are comparing two groups: a state's SD sample in the initial period and that same state's SD sample in the second period. Here, the initial period is the 2005 NAEP administration and the second period is the 2007 NAEP administration. We use student-level logistic regression models to estimate the relationship between the probability of inclusion on NAEP (dependent variable or outcome) and the observable SD characteristics (the control variables). The estimated coefficients from this regression are used to calculate predicted probabilities of inclusion for all students in each year. These predicted probabilities are aggregated to the state level to get a state-level predicted inclusion rate. The difference between the state's 2007 and 2005 predicted inclusion rates determines how much of the overall difference in inclusion rates is due to differences in the distribution of SD characteristics. The remaining portion of the overall difference is called our *change measure*. The change measure is the primary focus of this report because it is the portion of change that is not due to factors that we expect to cause natural variation in inclusion rates. The methodology is illustrated in figure 1 for the linear case. Our application is to a nonlinear case, which is more complex, but the principles illustrated are the same.

Variation in the application of the Oaxaca-Blinder technique is found in how the individual-level relationship between observed characteristics and outcome is estimated. Different approaches to fixing this relationship can lead to different results. One variation that has been used is to pick one of the two groups as a reference group and estimate the relationship using only individuals in that group. Another variation is to pool the two groups and estimate the relationship using all individuals. Other variations on the estimation of the individual-level relationship exist. Though different variations may lead to different results, each result is still interpreted as a decomposition of the differences between groups. We have the same potential for variation in the application of our methodology for partitioning.

In this study, we develop two approaches to fixing the relationship between observed characteristics and outcome. One is the nation-based approach, in which all the students with disabilities in the initial period (2005, in this report) NAEP sample are used as the reference group for fixing the individual-level relationship between the characteristics of a student and his or her probability of inclusion on NAEP. The second, the state-specific approach, fixes the relationship between the characteristics of a student and his or her probability of inclusion separately for each state, using only that state's initial period (2005, in this report) NAEP SD sample. The benefit of the nation-based approach is that owing to pooling the data across states for estimation, it is possible to use more interactions between the control variables when establishing the relationship between student characteristics and probability of inclusion. The benefit of the state-specific approach is that a separate relationship is estimated for each

state, thus circumventing potential bias resulting from differences between states that might be systematic, such as different definitions of disability used in each state. Neither approach pools data across time periods. Both approaches can, hence, be interpreted as using the initial period as the reference period and as the basis for forming expectations for the second period.

#### Figure 1. Algebra of the partitioning technique for a linear case

For a given state, let  $\overline{Y}_1$  be the inclusion rate in 2005 and  $\overline{Y}_2$  the inclusion in 2007. Let  $\overline{X}_1$  and  $\overline{X}_2$  be the mean vector of control characteristics in 2005 and 2007, respectively. If  $\hat{\beta}^*$  is the reference vector of coefficients relating control characteristics to inclusion probability, then  $\overline{X}_1\hat{\beta}^*$  is the predicted inclusion rate for state in time period 1 and  $\overline{X}_2\hat{\beta}^*$  is the predicted inclusion rate for state in time period 1.

The actual inclusion rate equals the predicted inclusion rate plus a difference,  $D_1$  and  $D_2$ , for time periods 1 and 2 respectively.

$$\overline{Y}_1 = \overline{X}_1 \hat{\beta}^* + D_1$$
$$\overline{Y}_2 = \overline{X}_2 \hat{\beta}^* + D_2$$

The actual difference in inclusion rates,  $\overline{Y}_2 - \overline{Y}_1$ , can be partitioned in a portion explained changes in controls,  $(\overline{X}_2 \hat{\beta}^* - \overline{X}_1 \hat{\beta}^*)$ , and a portion not explained,  $(D_2 - D_1)$ :

$$\overline{Y_2} - \overline{Y_1} = \left(\overline{X_2}\hat{\beta}^* - \overline{X_1}\hat{\beta}^*\right) + \left(D_2 - D_1\right)$$

Difference Portion Portion not in inclusion explained by explained by rates differences in differences in controls controls

The change measure factors out the portion explained by differences in control variables and, hence, is

$$Change = D_2 - D_1 = \left(\overline{Y}_2 - \overline{X}_2\hat{\beta}^*\right) - \left(\overline{Y}_1 - \overline{X}_1\hat{\beta}^*\right).$$

In addition to providing measures of change in inclusion rates over time, we provide a context for this change by comparing states' inclusion rates on NAEP in the initial period. We refer to this as the measure of the *starting point* for each state. Even when we hold constant the different types and severities of disabilities and the different accommodations offered by the states for their own state assessments, not all states start with the same inclusion rate of SDs on NAEP. We expect to observe less change in NAEP inclusion rates in states that initially include SDs at relatively higher rates than other states. Hence, the starting point measure is intended to be a context for understanding the change measure. The use of the starting point measure vis-à-vis the change measure is discussed in detail below.

#### SUMMARY

Students with disabilities with different characteristics are included at different rates and the distribution of such characteristics differs across states and across time. Hence, the rate of inclusion of SDs on NAEP is expected to vary across states and across time. At the same time, because of NCES's efforts, states are improving their procedures for including and accommodating SDs on NAEP. We estimate an expected rate of inclusion for each state on the basis of its distribution of SD characteristics. Using this predicted inclusion rate, we then partition the total change in inclusion rates over time into a portion explained by observed changes in the distribution of SD characteristics (i.e., the expected change) and into a remaining portion attributable to other factors (e.g., NCES's efforts). If a state's change in the distribution of SD characteristics), it is considered a positive change or *progress*. The measure of change developed here provides NCES with an indicator for how its efforts and other factors relate to state-level NAEP inclusion rates holding SD characteristics and state assessment accommodations constant.

Two approaches were developed for applying this methodology. Both approaches were tested using 2003 and 2005 NAEP data. In this report, they are applied to 2005 and 2007 NAEP data to look at changes in state-level inclusion rates from 2005 to 2007. Additionally, we develop a method for comparing inclusion rates across states at a given point to provide context for the measure of change.

The concepts and measurement methods applied in these analyses are limited by existing data. NAEP data about students' disabilities do not have the level of detail necessary to create absolute rules for inclusion of SDs (i.e., a normative determination of whether any given student should be included). The concepts for measuring improvement in inclusion rates are relative to a set benchmark, the predicted inclusion rate, which is intended to be a *point of reference*, not a *goal*. The measures are relative in content (e.g., "NAEP's inclusion rate in State X is *higher/lower* than the benchmark"), not normative (e.g., "NAEP's inclusion rate in State X is a *better/worse* inclusion rate than it *should be*").

This report is limited to the discussion and application of methods for measuring change in state-level inclusion rates. Not included here are discussions of the explanations, other than methodological, behind reported results or the implications of these results for policy.

## METHODOLOGY

#### OVERVIEW

#### Measure of Change Over Time

Inclusion rates can vary among states and across time owing to<sup>4</sup>

- differing proportions of students with different types and severities of disability;
- differing accommodations offered by the states for their own state assessment tests;
- measures taken by NCES to increase the number of students with disabilities who are included; and
- other factors not associated with characteristics of the states' SD population or policies for accommodations on their own state assessment tests.

The motivation behind this report is that state-level inclusion rates are *expected* to vary according to differing proportions of students with different types and severities of disabilities and the offering of accommodations on the state assessment that are not allowed on NAEP. Variations that result from other factors that we cannot measure, such as actions taken by NCES, are not standard and are meant to be captured by our change measure. This breakdown lends itself to an analogy to studies that attempt to measure discrimination. In the discrimination case, wages are *expected* to vary according to certain demographic characteristics, such as education and experience. However, wages can also vary because of factors we cannot measure, such as discrimination. Studies of discrimination have commonly used the Oaxaca-Blinder technique to decompose differences in wages into a portion that is expected and a portion that is not. The similarities to the discrimination application motivated us to borrow from Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition for the development of our methodology for measuring change.

The Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition technique partitions the difference of the means between two groups into a portion explained by differences in control variables and a portion that is explained by differences in how those characteristics are treated/rewarded. In the discrimination application, it is the difference in the mean wages between women and men, for example. In our application, it is the difference between a state's inclusion rate in the initial period, 2005, and in the second period, 2007. Because our focus is on a state-by-state analysis and not on a national analysis, we need to apply the technique 51 times: one for each state and the District of Columbia.

Both the Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition technique and our partitioning technique measure the portion of mean group differences attributed to differences in underlying characteristics by fixing the individual-level relationship between observed characteristics and outcome. In both techniques, this relationship is held constant across groups being compared. In the application of our partitioning technique, as described further below, this fixed relationship acts as the yardstick for comparison.

We use Fairlie's (2003) framework for Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition in the non-linear case to explain the differences and similarities with our partitioning technique. Fairlie provides the

<sup>4</sup> A discussion of how these factors affect inclusion rates is provided later in this report.

following equation for the Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition of different outcomes between blacks and whites in a non-linear case:  $^{5}$ 

$$\overline{Y}^{W} - \overline{Y}^{B} = \left[\sum_{i=1}^{N^{W}} \frac{F(X_{i}^{W}\hat{\beta}^{W})}{N^{W}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N^{B}} \frac{F(X_{i}^{B}\hat{\beta}^{W})}{N^{B}}\right] + \left[\sum_{i=1}^{N^{B}} \frac{F(X_{i}^{B}\hat{\beta}^{W})}{N^{B}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N^{B}} \frac{F(X_{i}^{B}\hat{\beta}^{B})}{N^{B}}\right],$$

where

 $\overline{Y}^W - \overline{Y}^B$  is the difference in overall mean outcome between whites and blacks, respectively;  $F(\bullet)$  is a non-linear function;

 $X_i^W$  and  $X_i^B$  are vectors of control variables for whites and blacks, respectively;

 $N^{W}$  and  $N^{B}$  are the number of observations for whites and blacks, respectively; and

 $\hat{eta}^{\scriptscriptstyle W}$  and  $\,\hat{eta}^{\scriptscriptstyle B}$  are the vectors of coefficients from the non-linear regressions estimated for

whites and blacks, respectively.

The term in the first set of brackets is the portion of the difference in overall means that is due to different distributions of the control variables while the second set of brackets contains the portion that is due to differences in overall group average outcome.

Our partitioning technique diverges from the Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition by simply subtracting out the portion in the first bracket from the difference in overall means and using the remainder as our *change measure*.

$$Change = \left[\overline{Y}^{2} - \overline{Y}^{1}\right] - \left[\sum_{i=1}^{N^{2}} \frac{\Lambda(X_{i}^{2}\hat{\beta}^{*})}{N^{2}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N^{1}} \frac{\Lambda(X_{i}^{1}\hat{\beta}^{*})}{N^{1}}\right]$$

Where:

 $\overline{Y}^2 - \overline{Y}^1$  is the difference in overall mean outcome between periods 2 and 1, respectively;

 $\Lambda(z) = \frac{e^z}{1 + e^z}$  is the logistic cumulative distribution function;

 $X_i^2$  and  $X_i^1$  are vectors of control variables for period 2 and period 1, respectively;

 $N^2$  and  $N^1$  are number of observations for period 2 and period 1, respectively; and

 $\hat{eta}^*$  is a vector of regression coefficients.

In both the Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition and our partitioning technique, the relationship between outcome and controls,  $\hat{\beta}^{W}$  and  $\hat{\beta}^{B}$  in the Oaxaca-Blinder equation and  $\hat{\beta}^{*}$  in our partitioning equation, is estimated by using regression analysis at the individual level. Within the Oaxaca-Blinder framework and our partitioning technique, how these coefficients are derived can vary. In particular, the population on which this relationship is estimated can vary and will, hence, provide slightly different measures.

In this vein, we developed two approaches to applying our partitioning technique for measuring change in state-level inclusion rates over time: the nation-based approach and the

<sup>5</sup> Fairlie (2003), p 2.

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

state-specific approach.<sup>6</sup> The two approaches differ in how the relationship between inclusion on NAEP and student characteristics,  $\hat{\beta}^*$ , is estimated:

- In the nation-based approach, one regression on initial-period national data is used to fix the relationship between inclusion on NAEP and SD characteristics. Change in each state is measured using that same estimated relationship.
- In the state-specific approach, a regression model is estimated separately for each state to fix the relationship between inclusion on NAEP and student characteristics. The regression is estimated for each state using that state's SD sample in the initial year.

Once the relationship is fixed in the form of the estimated coefficients, it is applied to the states' data (to the initial and second period data under the nation-based approach; to the second period data alone in the state-specific approach) to provide individual-level predicted probabilities of inclusion for each student. The predicted probabilities for each student are based on his or her control characteristics. Within each state in each time period, the student-level predicted probabilities are aggregated to the state level to provide a state-level predicted inclusion rate. As an aggregation of student-level predicted probabilities, the predicted inclusion rate for each state in each period is based on the state's distribution of student characteristics. The predicted inclusion rates for each state in each time period is then compared with the actual inclusion rate, and the differences are then used to construct the change measure as in the discrimination examples above. Exact details and formulas for estimation, aggregation, and measure determination are provided below separately for each approach.

#### Measure of Starting Point

In addition to providing the measures of change in inclusion rates over time described above, we provide a context for this change by comparing states' inclusion rates on NAEP in the initial period. We refer to this measure as the *starting point* for each state. Even when we hold constant different types and severities of disabilities and different accommodations offered by the states for their own state assessments, not all states start with the same inclusion rate for NAEP. In some states, SDs are initially included at higher rates than in others; therefore, we would expect less change in including students in these states.

Each approach to measuring change is discussed below, and the discussion includes explanations of how the measure of *starting point* is calculated. The use of the starting point measure vis-à-vis the change measure is also discussed in detail below.

A separate starting point measure was developed for each of the nation-based and statespecific approaches to measuring change. Those different starting point measures were designed for the approaches under which they were developed, but both can be used with either approach. We present them without preference because each has its benefits and drawbacks.

- In the nation-based approach, the same estimated regression model used to fix the relationship between inclusion on NAEP and SD student characteristics is also used to calculate differences between states in the initial period. In other words, we use previously calculated results to construct the starting point measure.
- In the state-specific approach, the regressions estimated to calculate the change measure are state specific and cannot be used to compare states or provide a starting point measure. For this reason, a separate regression model is estimated on the entire NAEP SD

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

<sup>6</sup> The terms nation-based and state-specific describe the different approaches and, in particular, how the relationship between inclusion and SD characteristics is fixed. All analysis of change is done on a state-by-state basis.

sample in the initial period to generate a starting point measure. The model is the same as that used under the nation-based approach but includes state fixed effects.

Building on the Oaxaca-Blinder methodology used to measure change, we similarly fix the relationship between control and outcome variables to provide individual-level predicted probabilities. The individual-level predicted probabilities serve as a basis of comparison. Details and formulas for estimation, aggregation, and measure determination are provided below separately for each approach.

#### NATION-BASED APPROACH

In the nation-based approach, one regression on national data is used to fix the relationship between inclusion on NAEP and SD student characteristics. Here, the entire NAEP sample for the initial year is used to estimate the relationship between student characteristics and the probability of inclusion with no differences between states explicitly modeled. The estimated coefficients are applied to each year of data to provide a predicted probability of inclusion for each SD. The *average* predicted probability of inclusion for all students with a disability in a given state in a given year is then the benchmark for that state for that year, or, in other words, that state's predicted inclusion rate for that year. Whereas the predicted probability for a student with a given set of characteristics is fixed by the model and does not change across states or time, the predicted inclusion rate for each state is different and changes across time because of differences in the populations of SDs.

In practice, the nation-based approach is based on the following regression model:

$$Included_{i} = \Lambda \left( \alpha + \sum_{j} \sum_{l} \sum_{k} \left( \beta_{j,l,k} \cdot DisabilityType_{i}^{j} \cdot SeverityType_{i}^{k} \cdot GradeLevel_{i}^{l} \right) + \varphi \cdot NonNaepAcc_{i} \right)$$

where

 $Included_i = 1$  if student *i* was included on the NAEP assessment; 0 otherwise;

 $\Lambda(z) = \frac{e^{z}}{1 + e^{z}}$  is the logistic cumulative distribution function;

 $DisabilityType_i^j = 1$  if student *i* has disability type *j*; 0 otherwise;

SeverityType<sub>i</sub><sup>k</sup> = 1 if student *i* has disability severity level k; 0 otherwise;

 $GradeLevel_i^l = 1$  if student *i* is receiving instruction at grade level *l*; 0 otherwise;

 $NonNaepAcc_i = 1$  if student *i* receives an accommodation on state assessments not allowed on NAEP; 0 otherwise;

 $\alpha, \beta_{i,l,k}, \varphi$  are coefficients to be estimated; and

i indexes students, j indexes disability types, k indexes severity levels, and l indexes grade levels of instruction.

This logistic regression is estimated using initial period student-level data and respective sampling weights.<sup>7</sup> The interpretation of this regression is that it provides the *average rate of inclusion* for students with a given set of characteristics in the initial period across the nation. These averages then become our yardstick for measuring state-level changes in inclusion.

<sup>7</sup> All estimations and aggregations to state-level statistics use the individual NAEP weights assigned to the data. For details on the use of weights see appendix A.

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

Included in the model are indicators for the student's type of disability, severity level of disability, and grade level.<sup>8</sup> Each of these measures is crossed with the others so that there is a unique indicator variable for each disability, severity level, and grade level combination. Different disabilities are more or less easy to accommodate on NAEP assessments, and some disabilities hinder learning more than others. Students with disabilities that are classified as severe are expected to be included less often than students whose disabilities are classified as moderate or mild. Grade level of instruction is also an indicator of how severe the disability is. The measure of grade level of instruction is measured on a more objective scale than severity level and additionally is subject specific (mathematics or reading). Also part of the model is an indicator for whether the student received an accommodation on his or her state assessment that was not allowed on NAEP. Students who receive an accommodation on their state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP are expected to be included less often, other things being equal, because the respondent to NAEP's SD Background Questionnaire may judge NAEP's accommodations to be inadequate for the student in question. (See the Data section for further information on the questionnaire.)

Under the nation-based approach, change over time is measured by the change in the difference between the actual inclusion rate and the predicted inclusion rate. State-level actual and predicted inclusion rates are calculated as follows:<sup>9</sup>

$$StateLevelPredicted_{s}^{y} = \frac{1}{N_{s}^{y}} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{s}^{y}} \hat{Included}_{i}^{0} \cdot Weight_{i},$$
$$StateLevelActual_{s}^{y} = \frac{1}{N_{s}^{y}} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{s}^{y}} Included_{i}^{y} \cdot Weight_{i},$$

 $DistAbovePredicted_s^y = StateLevelActual_s^y - StateLevelPredicted_s^y$ ,

where

 $\hat{I}$ ncluded<sup>0</sup><sub>i</sub> is the predicted probability of inclusion for student *i*, based on the initial period (time=0) model;

 $Included_i^y = 1$  if student *i* was included on the NAEP assessment in time period *y*; 0 otherwise;

 $Weight_i$  = sampling weight for student *i*;

 $N_s^y$  is the sum of weights of all students with disabilities in state s at time period y; and

*i* indexes students, *s* indexes states, and *y* indexes time period (initial=0, second=1).

Change over time for a state is measured by the change in the *distance above the predicted* measure:

 $Change_{s} = DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{1} - DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{0}$ 

As an example, if a state's initial-period actual inclusion rate is 3 percentage points above its initial-period predicted inclusion rate (*distance above predicted* in initial period is 3 percentage points), and its second period actual inclusion rate is 5 percentage points above its second period predicted inclusion rate (*distance above predicted* in initial period is 3 percentage points)

<sup>8</sup> See table 7 for a list of disabilities, severity levels, and grade levels used in the analysis.

<sup>9</sup> State-level predicted inclusion rates and distance above the predicted inclusion rate measures are essentially based on average inclusion rates across the country. In preparation of this study, we explored presenting recentered distance above the benchmark measures. A discussion of the rationale along with the recentered results are presented in appendix C.

points), this is an improvement of 2 percentage points. It would also be an improvement of 2 percentage points if a state's initial-period actual inclusion rate is 4 percentage points *below* its initial-period state-level benchmark inclusion rate and its second-period actual inclusion rate is 2 percentage points *below* its second-period benchmark inclusion rate. Improvement is, therefore, movement upward relative to the state-level benchmark inclusion rate and can be an increase in the distance above the benchmark, a decrease in the distance below the benchmark to above the benchmark.

#### Starting Point

To provide the context for the change measure, we compare states in the initial period, the starting point, under each approach. The rationale for providing a starting point measure is that states that initially have a high relative inclusion rate have less room for improvement than states that have a relatively lower inclusion rate to begin with. Hence, a measure of how states compare in relative inclusiveness is a useful context for helping understand the change measure. If a state has a high relative inclusion rate in the starting period, we would not expect a positive change measure. The starting point measure is useful only for comparing states in the period under consideration over which change is measured.

In the nation-based approach, the starting point measure for a state is simply that state's initial-period *distance above predicted* inclusion rate. For example, if State X has an initial *distance above predicted* of -1.1 and State Y has an initial-period *distance above predicted* of -5.5, we conclude that State X has a higher starting point measure than State Y.

 $StartingPoint_{s} = DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{0}$ 

#### STATE-SPECIFIC APPROACH

In the state-specific approach for measuring change, the regression that estimates the relationship between a student's characteristics and the probability of inclusion is calculated separately for each state in the initial period, providing a (potentially) unique yardstick for measurement for each state. Because the regression model is estimated for each state using that state's data in the initial period, it will produce student-level predicted probabilities for that state *in the initial period* that will exactly return the state's actual inclusion rate of that state in the initial period when aggregated to the state level. Hence, to measure change, we need only apply the estimated student-level predicted probabilities to the second year of data.<sup>10</sup>

The intuition behind the state-specific approach is that change in each state is measured relative to itself because a separate yardstick is set up for each state on the basis of that state's initial period data. The predicted probabilities of inclusion for different types of SDs estimated using the initial period data in State X are used as expectations for inclusion of different types of SDs in State X in the second period. The relationship between inclusion and student characteristics that is used as a yardstick is not set by national averages, as it is in the nation-based approach, but is set separately for each state by its own state averages. Unlike the model in the nation-based approach, this model does not include a control for students who receive an accommodation on their state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP. This omission is discussed further below.

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

<sup>10</sup> In other words, were we to apply the student-type benchmarks to the data on which they were estimated, we would end up with a state-level benchmark for the initial period that exactly equaled the state-level actual rate of inclusion for the initial period.

This model used in this approach is as follows:<sup>11</sup>

$$Included_{i,s} = \Lambda \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_s + \sum_j \sum_k \beta_{j,k,s} \cdot DisabilityType_{i,s}^j \cdot SeverityType_{i,s}^k \\ + \sum_l \gamma_{l,s} \cdot GradeLevel_{i,s}^l \end{pmatrix}, \text{ for each state } s$$

where

 $Included_{i,s} = 1$  if student *i* in state *s* was included on the NAEP assessment; 0 otherwise;

$$\Lambda(z) = \frac{e^z}{1 + e^z}$$
 is the logistic cumulative distribution function;

 $DisabilityType_{i,s}^{j} = 1$  if student *i* in state *s* has disability type *j*; 0 otherwise;

 $GradeLevel_{i,s}^{l} = 1$  if student *i* in state *s* is receiving instruction at grade level *l*; 0 otherwise;

Severity  $Type_{i,s}^{k} = 1$  if student *i* in state *s* has disability severity level *k*; 0 otherwise;

 $\alpha_s, \beta_{i,k,s}$  and  $\gamma_{l,s}$  are coefficients to be estimated; and

*i* indexes students, *j* indexes disability types, *k* indexes severity levels, *l* indexes grade levels of instruction, and *s* indexes states.

This logistic regression is estimated separately for each state using that state's initial period student-level data and respective sampling weights. For each state, this estimated model is applied to the state's second year of data to provide a predicted probability of inclusion for each student with a disability in that state in the second period. This predicted probability for each student is based on that student's characteristics. Because the model is estimated separately for each state, each state will (potentially) have a different predicted probability for any given set of student characteristics. The state-level predicted inclusion for all students with disabilities in the second year is the average of the predicted probabilities of inclusion for all students with disabilities in the state in the second year. The measure of change over time is the difference between a state's actual second-period inclusion rate and its state-level benchmark inclusion rate.

In this state-specific approach, we use the same formulas for aggregation and measure construction as in the nation-based approach. However, the formulas can be simplified here because the relationship between inclusion and the control characteristics was estimated using data from each state's initial-year data only. Therefore, in the initial period, the state's predicted inclusion rate will exactly equal the state's actual inclusion rate.

$$StateLevelPredicted_{s}^{0} = \frac{1}{N_{s}^{0}} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{s}^{0}} \hat{Included}_{i}^{0} \cdot Weight_{i}$$
$$= \frac{1}{N_{s}^{0}} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{s}^{0}} Included_{i}^{0} \cdot Weight_{i}$$

<sup>11</sup> An alternative model for the state-specific model was developed but not pursued in this report. Under the alternative model, all data were pooled for estimation of a random coefficients logit model that estimated separate coefficients for each state. Results were very similar to those using the model presented here that estimates a logistic regression separately for each state.

#### = StateLevelActual<sub>s</sub><sup>0</sup>

Hence, the distance above the predicted inclusion rate for initial period is zero.

 $DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{0} = StateLevelActual_{s}^{0} - StateLevelPredicted_{s}^{0} = 0$ 

The change measure then reduces to only the distance above the predicted inclusion rate for the second period.

$$Change_{s} = DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{1} - DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{0}$$
$$= DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{1} - 0$$
$$= DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{1}$$

As an example, if a state's actual second-period inclusion rate is 2 percentage points above its state-level predicted inclusion rate (i.e., the inclusion rate predicted by the initial-period model), this is considered an improvement of 2 percentage points. If, instead, a state is 3 percentage points *below* its predicted inclusion rate in the second period, this is a 3 percentage point decline in the rate of inclusion.

#### Starting Point

In the nation-based approach, the relationship between student characteristics and the probability of inclusion, or yardstick, was the same across all states. Hence, it was possible to turn this into a comparison of states in the initial period, 2005. In the state-specific approach, however, the relationship between student characteristics and the probability of inclusion used for measuring change across time is specific to each state and cannot be used to make comparisons among states at any given time. In other words, measurements using different yardsticks cannot be compared. Hence, a second regression, estimated on the sample including all states in the initial period and their respective weights, is used to make comparisons among states:

$$Included_{i} = \Lambda \begin{pmatrix} \alpha + \sum_{j} \sum_{l} \sum_{k} \left( \beta_{j,l,k} \cdot DisabilityType_{i}^{j} \cdot SeverityType_{i}^{k} \cdot GradeLevel_{i}^{l} \right) \\ + \varphi \cdot NonNaepAcc_{i} + \sum_{s} \eta_{s} \cdot State_{i}^{s} \end{pmatrix}$$

where

 $Included_i = 1$  if student *i* was included on the NAEP assessment; 0 otherwise;

 $\Lambda(z) = \frac{e^{z}}{1 + e^{z}}$  is the logistic cumulative distribution function;

 $DisabilityType_i^j = 1$  if student *i* has disability type *j*; 0 otherwise;

SeverityType<sub>i</sub><sup>k</sup> = 1 if student *i* has disability severity level k; 0 otherwise;

 $GradeLevel_i^l = 1$  if student *i* is receiving instruction at grade level *l*; 0 otherwise;

 $NonNaepAcc_i = 1$  if student *i* receives an accommodation on state assessments not allowed on NAEP; 0 otherwise;

 $lpha,eta_{{\it i.l.k}}, arphi$  ,  $\eta_{{\it s}}$  are coefficients to be estimated;

 $State_i^s = 1$  if student *i* lives in state *s*; 0 otherwise; and

i indexes students, j indexes types of disability, k indexes severity levels, l indexes grade level of instruction, and s indexes states.

This regression is similar to the nation-based regression but differs because it explicitly estimates differences between states by including state fixed effects or, in other words, indicator variables for each state. If this were a linear model, the state fixed effects could, themselves, be used as the starting point measure because they would be on the same scale as the dependent variable. Because this is a nonlinear model, additional calculations are necessary to translate the fixed effects to the same probability scale as predictions of the dependent variable. Using this second regression, we generate 51 predicted probabilities for each student as if the student were in each state or jurisdiction. The ultimate predicted probability for each student is the average of these 51 predicted probabilities (i.e., the average probability of inclusion across every state). These ultimate predicted probabilities will be the same for each student in the sample, from any state, with the same set of characteristics. This is the common yardstick used to compare states. The state-level predicted inclusion rate is the average of the student-level predicted probabilities in that state. This state-level predicted inclusion rate is interpreted as the average inclusion rate of all states if all states had the same proportions of students with different types and severities of disabilities as the state in question. Again, this is performed using initial year data to compare inclusion rates across states in the initial period.

Given the results of the regression equation above, the state-level predicted inclusion rate is as follows:

,

$$StateLevelPredicted_{\hat{s}} = \frac{\left(\sum_{s=1}^{NumStates} \sum_{i \in \hat{s}} Prob(inclusion \mid x_i, state = s) \cdot Weight_i}{N_{\hat{s}}}\right)}{NumStates}$$

where

 $\hat{s}$  is the reference state;

 $N_{\hat{s}}$  is the sum of weights of all students with disabilities in the reference state  $\hat{s}$  ;

*NumStates* is the number of states;

 $Prob(inclusion | x_i, state = s)$  is the probability of inclusion for a student with a vector of control variables,  $x_i$ , living in state s;

 $Weight_i$  = sampling weight for student *i*; and

i indexes students and s indexes states.

The measure for comparison across states is the difference between a state's actual initialperiod inclusion rate and this predicted inclusion rate.

$$StateLevelActual_{\hat{s}} = \frac{1}{N_{\hat{s}}} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{\hat{s}}} Included_{i} \cdot Weight_{i}$$

 $DistAbovePredicted_{\hat{s}} = StateLevelActual_{\hat{s}} - StateLevelPredicted_{\hat{s}}$ 

#### SUMMARY AND COMPARISON OF APPROACHES

The two approaches discussed above were developed out of conversations between NCES and AIR staff with the members of the NAEP Validity Studies panel and the Education Information Management Advisory Consortium (EIMAC). We present them with no preference for one over the other. The nation-based approach for measuring change has the advantage of relying on a single regression estimated using all states in the initial period. The large number of observations used in this regression allows us to estimate the relationship between inclusion and controls with a greater level of detail. Because it uses data from all states, we are able to create interaction terms between type of disability, severity level, and grade level of instruction variables for more detail in distinguishing student characteristics. There are not enough observations in a single state to accurately estimate all those interaction terms jointly and so only type of disability and severity level are crossed in the state-specific model.

Additionally, under the nation-based approach, a subset of the results used to determine the measure of change can be used to create the starting point measure. In contrast, the state-specific approach to measuring change requires 51 separate state-level regressions for the change measure plus an additional model for the measure of differences between states. Because the 51 regressions for the change measure are at the state level, we are able to cross type of student disability only with severity level, leaving grade level of instruction to be included as its own set of indicators. The advantage of the state-specific approach for measuring change, however, is that it eliminates any potential bias resulting from the subjective interpretation of the SD Questionnaire that is correlated to the state in which a student is tested.<sup>12</sup> Under the state-specific approach, a different relationship between inclusion on NAEP and student characteristics is estimated for each state, which allows change in each state to be measured by its own implicit standards as set in the initial period. Tables 3 and 4 summarize the nation-based and state-specific approaches to measuring change and methods for measuring the starting point.

	Nation-based approach	State-specific approach			
Methodology	Partitioning technique derived from Oaxac	a-Blinder decomposition technique			
Result	Nation-based measure of change	State-specific measure of change			
Population for fixing relationship between inclusion and controls	National NAEP SD sample (except ELLs) for initial period (2005)	For each state/jurisdiction: that state/jurisdiction's SD sample (except ELLs) for the initial period (2005)			
Controls	5 disability-type indicators X 4 severity- level indicators X 4 grade level of instruction indicators, indicator of received an accommodation on state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP	5 disability-type indicators X 4 severity- level indicators, 4 grade level of instruction indicators			
Benefit of approach	More interactions between the control variables	Separate relationship estimated for each state, thus circumventing potential bias due to differential interpretation of SD questionnaire across states			

#### Table 3. Summary and comparison of nation-based and state-specific measures of change

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

<sup>12</sup> A further discussion of this point is provided in the section on caveats and cautions in interpretation.

	Nation-based approach	State-specific approach
Result	Nation-based measure of starting point	State-specific measure of starting point
Population for fixing relationship between inclusion and controls	National NAEP SD sample (except ELLs) for initial period (2005)	National NAEP SD sample (except ELLs) for initial period (2005)
Include state fixed effects	No	Yes
Benefit of approach	Uses same regression and results as in the nation-based approach's measure of change	Including state fixed effects explicitly estimates differences between states

#### Table 4. Summary and comparison of nation-based and state-specific measures of starting point

#### THE ROLE OF ACCOMMODATIONS AND STATE POLICIES

In developing these measures, we paid particular attention to the role that accommodations and state policies on inclusion on state assessments play in the inclusion of SDs in the NAEP assessment. Whether or not an SD can participate in the NAEP assessment is determined by the child's school and supported by information in the SD Background Questionnaire. Changes in NAEP inclusion rates are, therefore, likely related to the testing policies of assessment programs in a student's state because this local decision making regarding a student's participation in NAEP is likely to be heavily influenced by the rules for the participation of SDs on state assessments. Theoretically, states can include a given student without accommodation, accommodate the student (i.e., include the student with an accommodation), or not include the student.

The concern over the role of accommodations and state policies in our measures of change over time and differences among states has several facets. First, if state policies on inclusion are likely to influence how the SD Questionnaire respondent recommends a student be treated on NAEP, should those state policies be controlled for in our measure of change and/or our starting point measure? Potential information that could be used includes whether the student was excluded or included with or without accommodation and what type of accommodation he or she received on the state assessment. For our analysis, we include information on accommodations not allowed on NAEP that are provided for the student on state assessments in models that make comparisons among states. This includes the single regression model used in the nation-based approach and the regression model used for the measure of starting point, but not the measure of change over time, in the state-specific approach.

Including an indicator for *receiving an accommodation on the state assessment not allowed on NAEP* in the regression means that students who receive such an accommodation will have an adjusted probability of inclusion. In other words, with other characteristics held constant, students receiving such an accommodation are compared in inclusion treatment with other students receiving such an accommodation and not with others. This is similar to the way that students with a *specific learning disability* are compared with other students with a *specific learning disability* are treatment.

It was decided that it is unfair to states that are more accommodating than NAEP to be compared similarly with other less accommodating states for determining the predicted inclusion rate for each state. Including in the regression model an indicator for *receiving an accommodation on the state assessment not allowed on NAEP* addresses this. Further, it was also decided not to include an indicator for whether the student was excluded from a state assessment, a factor that we had considered using in the models. Such a measure would likewise set students excluded on state exams separate from other students. The purpose of

this study is to gauge improvement in inclusion. Using an indicator for students given an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP, in essence, would reward a state for extra efforts at accommodation by setting a separate standard of inclusion. Using an indicator for students excluded on state assessments would set a separate standard for states that are less accommodating and is hence omitted.

A control variable for students receiving an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP is appropriate for any model that is estimated using more than one state's data. This control variable is included in the one regression model estimated for the nation-based approach as well as in the second regression model estimated in the statespecific approach that is used for calculating the starting point measure. The measure of change over time in the state-specific approach compares states with themselves over time, so no information about the treatment of students on state assessments is included among the control variables.

The decision to omit the control for accommodation on the state assessment not allowed on NAEP from the state-specific model means the following: changes in accommodations policy on state assessments that lead to changes in inclusion on NAEP are counted as part of that change measure. Because they are not controlled for, any effect they have is captured in the change measure. Therefore, if a state begins to allow an accommodation on its state assessments that is not allowed on NAEP and this leads to lower inclusion rates on NAEP for some students, this will show up as reduced measured change in NAEP inclusion.

#### ILLUSTRATIONS OF THE APPROACHES

#### Nation-Based Approach

To better understand how the approaches for measuring change work and how they are different, we present two graphical displays and hypothetical examples. As illustrated in figure 2, the nation-based approach uses initial-year data to estimate the relationship between student characteristics and the probability of inclusion. This estimated model provides the reference coefficients used for all states which, in turn, provide a predicted probability of inclusion for each student. These predicted probabilities of inclusion are then aggregated to provide a predicted inclusion rate for a given state in a given year. Change, as illustrated in the figure, is measured as change in the distance between the state's actual and predicted inclusion rates from the first period to the second.



Figure 2. Illustration of nation-based approach for measuring change

Consider a hypothetical situation in which there are only two types of students with disabilities in the grade 4 mathematics NAEP assessment:

Type 1:

- The student's disability is classified as *having a specific learning disability*.
- The disability is classified as moderate.
- The student is receiving a level of instruction in mathematics that is the *same* as the grade the student is in (grade 4).
- The student is not receiving an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP.

Type 2:

- The student's disability is classified as *having emotional disturbance*.
- The disability is classified as severe.
- The student is receiving a level of instruction in mathematics that is *two grades below* the grade the student is in (grade 4).
- The student is receiving an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP.

In this hypothetical situation, there are only two states, State A and State B. The distribution of SDs between the two types described above are given in the first two rows of table 5. The distribution of SDs is different across states and across time periods. State A has a higher proportion of students of type 2 in both years, but the proportion of type 2 students declines for each state in the second period.

			-	-			
		Initial period		Second period			
	-	State A	State B	State A	State B	Change	
Distribution of SDs (percentage in type)	Type 1	65.00	90.00	75.00	97.00		
	Type 2	35.00	10.00	25.00	3.00		
Student-type predicted probabilities	Type 1	.95	.95	.95	.95		
(set by one regression using all states' initial year data)	Type 2	.60	.60	.60	.60		
State-level predicted inclusion rate		82.75	91.50	86.25	93.95		
State-level actual inclusion rate		89.00	91.00	92.00	95.00		
Distance above predicted	State A	6.25		5.75		-0.50	
-	State B		-0.50		1.05	1.55	

#### Table 5. Example of nation-based approach for measuring change
In the nation-based approach, a logistic regression using all observations from all states estimates the relationship between SD characteristics and the probability of inclusion. Hypothetical estimated coefficients for this example are as follows:

- $\hat{\alpha}$  = 2.00 Intercept coefficient
- $\hat{\beta}_{1,2,1}$  = 0.94 Coefficient for students with specific learning disability, moderate, same grade level of instruction
- $\hat{\beta}_{4,3,3}$  = -0.40 Coefficient for students with emotional disturbance, severe, two grades behind in instruction

 $\hat{\beta}_{\scriptscriptstyle nna}$  = -1.20 Coefficient for students receiving an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP

The resulting predicted probability for each combination of student characteristics is the student-level predicted probability: the probability that a student with that given set of characteristics is included on NAEP. They are calculated by first obtaining the linear combination of the coefficients:

Linear combination of coefficients for students type 1:

$$\hat{\alpha} + \hat{\beta}_{1.2.1} = 2.00 + 0.94 = 2.94$$

Linear combination of coefficients for students type 2:

$$\hat{\alpha} + \hat{\beta}_{4,3,3} + \hat{\beta}_{nna} = 2.00 - 0.40 - 1.20 = 0.40$$

Second, we transform that linear combination of coefficients to the probability scale by means of the logistic function,  $\Lambda(z) = \frac{e^z}{1+e^z}$ :

Predicted probability for students type 1:  $\frac{e^{2.94}}{1+e^{2.94}} = 0.95$ 

Predicted probability for students type 2:  $\frac{e^{0.40}}{1+e^{0.40}} = 0.60$ 

The student-level predicted probabilities for the two types in this hypothetical example are provided in rows 3 and 4 in table 5. These predicted probabilities are the same across states and across time for all students with the same characteristics.

The state-level predicted inclusion rates are an aggregation of student-level predicted probabilities according to the distribution of the types of SDs in the state. Because of the different distributions of students, the state-level predicted inclusion rates vary across states and across time. The calculation of state-level predicted inclusion rates is straightforward in this simplified example: for State A in the initial period, 65 percent of the students are type 1 and are expected to be included at a rate of 95 percent, whereas the remaining 35 percent of students are type 2 and are expected to be included at a rate of 60 percent. The state-level predicted inclusion rate can thus be seen as a weighted average of those student-type predicted probabilities where the weights are the proportions of students in each type. For State A in the initial period,  $(65\% \times .95) + (35\% \times .60) = 82.75$  percent. Across states in the initial period, because State B has a greater proportion of students who are easier to include, type 1, than State A, State B's state-level predicted inclusion rate is higher than that

of State A. Because in State A the proportion of students of type 1 is higher in the second period than in the initial period, State A's state-level predicted inclusion rate is higher in the second period than in the first period.

Change is measured by comparing the *distance above the predicted inclusion rate* in each period. Actual (i.e., unadjusted) inclusion rates for our example are provided in table 5. The last two rows of table 5 contain the distance above the predicted inclusion rate measures for State A and State B. State A was 6.25 percentage points above its predicted inclusion rate in the initial period and 5.75 percentage points above its predicted inclusion rate in the second period, for a change of -0.50, as reported in the last column. This means that State A was relatively *less* inclusive in the second period by our measure of 0.5 percentage point. State B, however, increased its inclusion relative to its predicted inclusion rate by 1.55 percentage points.

Once we have the change measures, it is important to put them in context. That context is a comparison of the relative inclusiveness of states in the initial period. In the nation-based approach, this is comparing both states' *distance above the benchmark* in the initial period. In the initial period, State A, at 6.25 percentage points above its benchmark, is relatively more inclusive than State B, which was 0.50 percentage point *below* its benchmark. Given this context, it is not surprising to see State B improve and State A not improve.

#### State-Specific Approach

Building on the example for the nation-based approach, we look at an example for the statespecific approach in which the regression model used to fix the relationship between student characteristics and the probability of inclusion is estimated separately for each state using the initial period's data, as illustrated in figure 3. Estimation of the statistical model is done separately for each state resulting in a separate set of reference coefficients for each state. Those coefficients are then used with their respective state's second period data to provide a predicted probability of inclusion for each student. The predicted probabilities are aggregated within the state to obtain a predicted inclusion rate for that state for the second period. Change for a state, under the state-specific approach, is the difference between the states actual inclusion rate and that predicted by the model.

Hypothetical results from these regressions are as follows:

State A<br/> $\hat{\alpha}^A = 4.70$ Intercept coefficient $\hat{\beta}_{1,2}^A = -0.10$ Coefficient for students with specific learning disability, moderate $\hat{\beta}_{4,3}^A = -1.30$ Coefficient for students with emotional disturbance, severe $\hat{\gamma}_3^A = -2.78$ Coefficient for students two grades behind in instructionState B<br/> $\hat{\alpha}^B = 2.75$ Intercept coefficient $\hat{\beta}_{1,2}^B = -0.31$ Coefficient for students with specific learning disability, moderate $\hat{\beta}_{4,3}^B = -0.75$ Coefficient for students with emotional disturbance, severe

 $\hat{\gamma}_{2}^{B}$  = -2.28 Coefficient for students two grades behind in instruction

For a given set of student characteristics, therefore, each state will have its own student-level predicted probability set by the initial period, as given for students of type 1 and type 2 in the first two rows of table 6. These are also calculated by first obtaining the linear combination of the coefficients and then transforming them to the probability scale using the logistic function:

#### State A

Linear combination of coefficients for students type 1<sup>13</sup>:

$$\hat{lpha}^{A}$$
 +  $\hat{eta}_{1.2}^{A}$  = 4.70 – 0.10 = 4.60

Linear combination of coefficients for students type 2:

$$\hat{\alpha}^{A} + \hat{\beta}^{A}_{4,3} + \hat{\gamma}^{A}_{3} = 4.70 - 1.30 - 2.78 = 0.62$$

#### State B

. .

Linear combination of coefficients for students type 1:

$$\hat{\alpha}^{B} + \hat{\beta}_{12}^{B} = 2.75 - 0.31 = 2.44$$

Linear combination of coefficients for students type 2:

$$\hat{\alpha}^{B} + \hat{\beta}^{B}_{4,3} + \hat{\gamma}^{B}_{3} = 2.75 - 0.75 - 2.28 = -0.28$$

State A

Predicted probability for students type 1:	$\frac{e^{4.60}}{1+e^{4.60}} = 0.99$
Predicted probability for students type 2:	$\frac{e^{0.62}}{1+e^{0.62}} = 0.65$
State B	
Predicted probability for students type 1:	$\frac{e^{2.44}}{1+e^{2.44}} = 0.92$
Predicted probability for students type 2:	$\frac{e^{-0.28}}{1+e^{-0.28}} = 0.43$

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

<sup>13</sup> There is no coefficient for the grade-level of instruction for students of type A because the category for those receiving a grade-level of instruction at or above the grade level is the omitted, or reference, category.



Figure 3. Illustration of state-specific approach for measuring change

		State A	State B
Student-type predicted probabilities (set by separate	Type 1	.99	.92
regressions for each state using initial year data)	Type 2	.65	.43
Distribution of SDs (percentage in type)	Type 1	75.00	97.00
Second-year data	Type 2	25.00	3.00
State-level predicted inclusion rate for second year		90.50	90.53
State-level actual inclusion rates for second year		90.00	95.00
Change		-0.50	4.47

#### Table 6. Example of state-specific approach for measuring change

The third and fourth rows of table 6 have the distribution of students for State A and State B in the second period. The state-level predicted inclusion rates are a weighted average of the student-type benchmarks using the proportion of students in each type as a weight. In our example, State A's state-level benchmark is  $(99\% \times .75) + (65\% \times .25) = 90.5$  percent. This state-level predicted inclusion rate is the inclusion rate we would expect that state to have because of the rates by which it included different types of students in the first period and on the proportions of students in each type in the second period.

Comparing the actual (unadjusted) second-period inclusion rates with the state-level predicted inclusion rate gives the measure of change. State A is predicted to have a 90.5 percent inclusion rate on the basis of its student-level predicted probabilities set in the initial period. State A's actual inclusion rate in the second period is 90 percent, meaning that it was less inclusive in the second period than in the initial period. For State B, the actual inclusion rate in the second periot higher than its predicted inclusion rate, indicating that it is more inclusive in the second period.

Again, the change measures need to be put into context. In the state-based approach, this requires a separate regression. The regression is distinct from the regression used in the nation-based approach but is similar enough that in this simple exercise they produce the same results. Hence, we simply refer back to table 5 where State A had a higher inclusion rate adjusted for differences in SD population in the initial period. As in the nation-based approach, we again conclude that although State B increased its relative inclusion of students, it also started out relatively less inclusive; so, it is not surprising that it had a larger increase in the change measure.

## **STARTING POINT VS. CHANGE**

Under both approaches, we can compare states with one another in the initial period using the *starting point* measure. The starting point measure provides a context for the measure of change over time, which is the focus of this study. Because it is not easy to evaluate these two measures at the same time, we simplified and combined them by categorizing the two-dimensional display space: starting point *versus* change. For the starting point, the measure is given a quartile rank: all the states' starting point measures (distance above the benchmark measures for the initial period) are ordered and partitioned into quartiles. Each state is subsequently assigned a number from 1 to 4, according to which quartile it is in, with 4 being the highest quartile (the top 25 percent of starting point measures) and 1 the lowest (the bottom 25 percent of starting point measures).

Change is of most interest for this study; we summarize the change measure by whether the change is statistically different from zero and give its direction if it is statistically significant.<sup>14</sup> For change, we assign the state a score of 1 if the change measure is both positive and statistically significant (the state is more inclusive of SDs in 2007 than in 2005), 0 if the change measure is not statistically different from zero, and -1 if the change measure is both negative and statistically significant (the state is less inclusive of SDs in 2007 than in 2005). We then assign each state a *composite index score*, which uses these two scores as coordinates. This divides the *starting point vs. change* space into 12 bins, shown in figure 4. For each subject and grade assessment in NAEP, every state falls into one of these bins.

	–1 negative and significant	0 no significant change	1 positive and significant	Change
1 less inclusive	(1, -1)	(1, 0)	(1, 1)	
2	(2, -1)	(2, 0)	(2, 1)	
3	(3, -1)	(3, 0)	(3, 1)	
4 more inclusive	(4, -1)	(4, 0)	(4, 1)	
Starting point quartile				_

Figure 4. Composite index score by quartile of starting point score and statistical significance of change score

This partitioning of the space simplifies the understanding of results by focusing on statistically significant change in inclusion rates while providing a context for understanding that change. A priori, we expect to find states making positive and significant change to be located lower on the scale of inclusiveness. A more nuanced evaluation can be performed by looking directly at the values of the measures, but this captures the relative essence of those results to facilitate their understanding. In the results tables, we provide the values of the measures as well as this simplified composite index score.

<sup>14</sup> All tests were conducted at the 95 percent confidence level using simple *t*-tests. Estimation of standard errors is described in appendix A.

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

# DATA

For our analysis, we use 2003, 2005, and 2007 NAEP data for the mathematics and reading assessments. The NAEP items that we use are derived from the SD Background Questionnaire.<sup>15</sup> This questionnaire is filled out by the special education teacher or staff member who is most familiar with the student for each student who is both selected for NAEP participation and designated either as a student with disabilities or as an English language learner. For all SDs sampled for participation on NAEP, the questionnaire gathers information about the type of disability, the extent of the student's disability, and the type of instruction the student receives. Whether or not an SD can participate in the NAEP assessment is determined by the child's school, and the decision is supported by information in the SD Background Questionnaire.

The sample analyzed in this report is limited to SDs who are not also English language learners.<sup>16</sup> In addition to whether a student is included on the NAEP assessment, we use information on the type of disability the student has, the severity level of his or her disability, and indicators for the grade level of instruction compared with that of other students without a disability. For a portion of our analysis, we also use information on the type of accommodations, if any, the student received on state assessments.

Student disability type is included in our analysis as an explanatory variable for inclusion because some disabilities are easier to accommodate on NAEP assessments and some disabilities hinder learning more than others. NAEP allows disabilities to be classified according to 12 categories. In the 2003 NAEP, the teacher or staff member who filled out the SD Background Questionnaire was asked to pick one category that *best describes the student's primary disability*. In 2005 and 2007, respondents were asked to indicate which of the 12 *describes the student's identified disability(ies)* and to check all that applied. Because the focus of analysis is the application to change from 2005 to 2007, the types of student disabilities are treated as not mutually exclusive in all years.

Although disabilities in NAEP are classified into 12 categories, many categories have very few students. In our model, we attempt to estimate separate effects for each type of disability, severity level, and grade level of instruction combination. For statistical power, we need an adequate amount of observations (students in our analysis) in each category. However, many of the 12 disability categories contained small numbers, so we explored options for collapsing them. We first consulted with an expert to help us combine categories thematically, grouping like disabilities together. This, however, still left us with some small categories and, since even 'like' categories were still heterogeneous, we felt this approach was problematic. Finally, our solution was to retain the largest 4 of the 12 categories and collapse the others, along with observations with missing disability type information, into a fifth category. In this approach, the largest categories are left homogeneous and only one heterogeneous category captures the remaining ones. Here, the effects for the largest categories will not be influenced by small categories having been folded into them. However, since so many heterogeneous categories are combined into the "other" category, its estimated effect will be an average of those combined categories and, therefore, one cannot draw conclusions about students in disability

<sup>15</sup> The 2005 and 2007 versions of these questionnaires are included in appendix D. Additional information about the Background Questionnaires is available at <u>http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/bgguest.asp</u>.

<sup>16</sup> As mentioned earlier, in the 2005 and 2007 mathematics and reading NAEP assessments, students with disabilities who were also English language learners made up 14 to 15 percent of all grade 4 students with disabilities and 16 to 19 percent of all grade 8 students with disabilities. The matter of how the exclusion of SDs who are also ELLs from the sample could affect the analyses in this report is, therefore, of importance. We expect SDs who are also ELLs to be included on NAEP under a very different process; as such, we expect that the model and, possibly, results will change by including them. This is the subject of the next set of reports which will be addressing the inclusion of English language learners and the joint SD and ELL populations.

categories that are folded into this broad category.<sup>17</sup> The categories used for analysis are listed in table 7.

Stu	ident disability types (not mutually exclusive)
1	Specific learning
2	Speech impairment
3	Mental retardation
4	Emotional disturbance
5	Other disability; Not reported <sup>1</sup>
Dis	ability severity level
1	Severe
2	Moderate
3	Mild
4	Not reported
Gra	ade level of instruction
1	Instruction at or above grade level
2	One year below grade level
3	Two or more years below grade level
4	Not reported; Not receiving instruction in this subject
Ree	ceived accommodation on state assessment not allowed on NAEP
0	Did not receive such an accommodation
1	Did receive such an accommodation
	isabilities included in this category are: bearing impairment/deafness, visual impairment/blindness

Tabla 7	Catagorias	of variables	in rogradion	aquation
Table 7.	Calegones	UI VAIIADIES	in regression	equation

<sup>1</sup> Disabilities included in this category are: hearing impairment/deafness, visual impairment/blindness, orthopedic impairment, traumatic brain injury, autism, developmental delay (age 9 or younger), other health impairment, and any other nonspecified disabilities.

In our analysis, we also include a measure of the severity of a student's disabilities. The measure of severity, as asked in the SD Background Questionnaire, is an overall assessment of the degree of a student's disabilities and is not subject specific. When we hold a student's type of disability constant, the more severe the disability, the more likely it is that the student will not be included. The categories of the severity level are given in table 7. The major criticism of the severity measure is that it is not subject specific; the impact of the disability might be more severe for one subject than another. A second criticism of the severity measure is that it may be subjective to the SD Background Questionnaire respondent.

A subject-specific measure of severity, which also provides a more objective assessment of how the school treats a student, is the indicator for the grade level of instruction the student receives in the subject tested: *Is the content the same as that given to students in the same grade? Is it one grade level of instruction below, or is it two or more grades below?* A small number of students were reported as *not receiving* instruction in the subject being tested, mathematics or reading. Students not receiving instruction or with this information missing were collapsed into a fourth category because there were too few cases to analyze them

<sup>17</sup> The treatment of missing or "not reported" data is a common problem in empirical research. The inclusion of a separate categorical variable for observations with "not reported"/missing as well as practicing listwise deletion of incomplete observations have both been shown to induce bias in estimated coefficients (Vach and Blettner 1991; Jones 1996). Imputation procedures that reduce bias exist. However, our focus in this report is not on the estimated coefficients or their interpretation but in using the coefficients as benchmarks for controlling for shifts in demographics of states' SD populations over time. We included a separate indicator variable for missing categorical data in order to use all observations in the calculation of state-level inclusion rates and avoid complications from employing imputation procedures for completing observations.

separately. The response levels to this question are given in table 7.<sup>18</sup> Although the use of this variable addresses criticism of the severity measure, it is not without its own criticism. The major criticism is that under the *Individuals with Disabilities Education Act* (IDEA) and the *No Child Left Behind Act*, students with disabilities are to be given instruction and goals based on grade-level standards.<sup>19</sup> An answer that the student is receiving instruction at any level other than *at or above grade level* could be interpreted as indicating that the school is breaking the law. This calls into question the validity of responses to this item on the SD Background Questionnaire. Nevertheless, we use this variable, understanding that it is possibly measured with error. The concern over this variable suggests that the items in the NAEP SD Questionnaire be brought more into alignment with the language of IDEA.

The SD Background Questionnaire collects details about accommodations the student received on the state assessments. For our analysis, we use this information to construct a variable that indicates whether the student received an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP.<sup>20</sup> For 2003 and 2005 data, we match the list of accommodations allowed on NAEP with the list of accommodations reported on the questionnaire for state assessments to identify which students received an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP. In 2007, an additional item was added to the Background Questionnaire that explicitly asked whether the student received any accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP.<sup>21</sup> For 2007 data, we use this item to construct our variable.

For mathematics, the accommodations not allowed on NAEP include using a tape recorder to submit answers, using a calculator, and testing over several days. For reading, the accommodations not allowed on NAEP include those for mathematics plus having reading passages and test questions read aloud and having test questions asked in sign language. A further discussion of the role of this information in our analysis was provided above.

Standard errors for all results are calculated using a modification of NAEP's recommended procedure for calculating standard errors with the provided jackknife weights. NAEP's recommended procedure needed to be modified because that procedure is meant to provide standard errors for statistics estimated using data from a single NAEP administration. In both approaches described above, regression coefficients estimated using one NAEP administration are applied to a second NAEP administration. Hence, there are two potential sources of error: one from the coefficients and one from the data to which the coefficients are applied. The recommended NAEP procedure for calculating standard errors was modified to take both of these sources of error into account. The procedure we use is described further in appendix A.

#### SUMMARY STATISTICS

To demonstrate the variation in factors used in analysis, tables 8a, 8b, and 8c provide, for each state, the (weighted) percentage of sampled SDs in each type of disability, the percentage included on the NAEP assessment, the percentages in each severity level, the percentages in each grade level of instruction, and the percentage receiving an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP. Additionally, the number of SDs sampled in each state is provided in the first column of 8a. Using Alabama in table 8a as an example, we see that for the 2007 NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessment, approximately 390 of the students sampled from that state were classified as an SD who is not

#### Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

<sup>18</sup> In previous versions of our analysis, we used curriculum level, whether the student received the same curriculum as nondisabled students, because it asked explicitly whether the student was given special treatment because of a disability. However, in 2007, this item was discontinued, but the item about grade level of instruction continued.

<sup>19</sup> Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Legislation, retrieved 6/24/2008 from

http://www.ed.gov/policy/speced/leg/edpicks.jhtml?src=ln.

<sup>20</sup> For summary information on the accommodations practices in each state see the profiles of state assessment standards at <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/researchcenter/statemapping.asp">http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/researchcenter/statemapping.asp</a>

<sup>21</sup> See questionnaires in appendix D.

an ELL. For the non-ELL SD population represented by those 390 students, 88.3 percent participated on NAEP, 52.8 percent had *a specific learning disability*, 23.9 percent had *a speech impairment*, and so on. From table 8b, 12.2 percent had their disabilities classified as *severe* and 45.3 percent had their disabilities classified as *mild*. Finally, table 8c reports in the second column that 45.3 percent of the non-ELL SDs in Alabama received instruction in mathematics at or above grade level. The last column reports that 6.1 percent of the same group received an accommodation on the state assessment that was not allowed on NAEP.

	Sample	Included	Learning	Speech	Mental	Emotional	Other
State	size <sup>1</sup>	students	disability	impairment	retardation	disturbance	disabilities
Alabama	390	88.3	52.8	23.9	7.9	1.2	19.3
Alaska	420	91.3	49.4	26.8	5.0	3.5	27.2
Arizona	340	83.4	51.1	34.2	4.4	4.0	27.1
Arkansas	360	79.8	38.8	29.1	11.7	1.4	31.6
California	620	83.9	42.5	33.0	3.6	3.4	29.2
Colorado	360	88.2	51.0	26.0	5.5	9.8	30.5
Connecticut	370	89.7	36.9	20.9	4.1	2.8	42.7
Delaware	550	73.1	60.0	14.9	2.9	3.1	29.6
District of Columbia	260	66.3	63.3	15.0	6.0	6.0	19.5
Florida	790	88.3	56.4	23.8	5.0	5.3	30.2
Georgia	540	83.5	31.6	29.2	6.6	13.3	33.0
Hawaii	340	90.5	59.4	7.2	6.3	4.1	27.3
Idaho	350	86.3	43.9	27.3	7.2	5.9	30.8
Illinois	630	77.6	46.2	29.9	5.3	5.9	29.6
Indiana	520	85.7	39.6	41.0	12.3	5.3	18.8
lowa	390	90.0	62.1	13.8	2.9	6.9	34.4
Kansas	350	78.9	49.3	27.7	8.2	6.0	28.3
Kentucky	500	84.2	14.7	37.2	11.7	3.2	42.1
Louisiana	530	87.8	40.6	23.7	5.9	2.6	34.5
Maine	530	83.7	39.5	21.5	4.1	4.6	39.5
Maryland	430	72 7	42.6	30.3	34	47	30.9
Massachusetts	750	74.3	50.3	23.0	1.6	5.6	40.1
Michigan	450	76.1	45.3	33.9	8.7	7.2	20.2
Minnesota	470	85.9	33.7	35.5	8.4	9.9	33.3
Mississippi	350	92.3	43.8	32.9	3.7	2.4	30.2
Missouri	480	76.6	33.6	41 7	93	36	26.4
Montana	370	81.7	54.6	32.8	5.9	5.4	28.0
Nebraska	470	85.7	42.2	48.0	97	21	24.5
Nevada	420	84.5	37.3	24.1	2.9	3.8	35.3
New Hampshire	620	88.7	49.6	23.0	27	5.3	40.6
New Jersev	460	88.0	49.8	12.3	20	4.0	40.0
New Mexico	320	83.2	53.2	31.3	5.4	6.6	27.1
New York	580	00.2 01.2	42.1	24.4	22	27	38.3
North Carolina	760	89.7	39.5	18.9	6.9	3.3	37.0
North Dakota	420	76.3	45.3	36.0	7.8	6.4	24.5
Ohio	640	70.0		23.5	7.0 Q 3	4.4	29.0
Oklahoma	470	67.8	50.8	23.3	8.2	4.4 5.5	25.0
Oregon	500	85.8	48 1	33.3	4.5	3.5	29.1
Penneylyania	560	86.1	40.1 54.1	30.4	4.0	3.7 4 7	20.4
Rhode Jeland	570	01.0	/8 Q	20.4	7.2	4.7	24.0
South Carolina	470	91.0	40.9 52.4	29.0	0.0	J.Z 1 E	16.1
South Dakata	470	00.1	33.4 42.0	37.7	9.0	0.1 0	10.4
Journ Dakola	460	92.2	43.9	34.0	0.2	3.0	20.0
Termessee	400	59.4	40.5	20.4	0.0	2.3	33.0 20 1
l exas	900	02.0	49.2	29.0	2.0	7.0	30.1
Verment	390	04.4	50.0	29.9	3.1	3.2 10.5	23.2
Virginio	440	80.4	40.7	10.3	4.4	12.5	39.8
Virgillia Washington	530	/4.1 05 7	39.9	3U. I	5.2	4.3	33.0
Washington	510	85.7	46.0	25.8	5.9	4.5	30.4
west virginia	540	91.0	31.9	40.3	13.2	1.3	23.9
vvisconsin	450	85.5	43.9	36.1	5.4	11.6	23.1
vvyoming	390	89.6	48.0	36.2	3.6	5.2	29.7

# Table 8a.Sample size of public school students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4<br/>mathematics assessment, percentage included on the assessment, and<br/>percentage with each disability type: By state, 2007

<sup>1</sup> Rounded to the nearest 10 for confidentiality.

• •	Severe	Moderate	Mild	Severity
State	disability	disability	disability	not reported
Alabama	12.2	35.4	45.3	7.2
Alaska	9.7	35.0	42.5	12.7
Arizona	4.4	24.8	48.2	22.6
Arkansas	10.5	38.3	43.8	7.5
California	9.3	28.3	49.3	13.1
Colorado	10.5	42.8	36.7	10.1
Connecticut	8.2	38.0	34.7	19.2
Delaware	7.7	37.4	48.7	6.2
District of Columbia	9.1	49.9	31.5	9.5
Florida	6.9	39.1	45.5	8.5
Georgia	3.6	22.4	59.2	14.8
Hawaii	7.1	34.5	51.1	7.3
Idaho	7.8	40.2	44.2	7.8
Illinois	3.7	32.2	50.0	14.1
Indiana	3.3	14.6	72.5	9.7
lowa	4.1	25.9	63.5	6.5
Kansas	12.7	39.2	42.0	6.0
Kentucky	7.0	30.5	54.4	82
Louisiana	25	12.3	64.7	20.5
Maine	7.6	41.2	41.4	20.0 9.7
Manuland	7.0	20.0	41.4	19.6
Magaaabuaatta	7.0	30.0 57 G	40.0	13.0
Michigan	5.9	57.0	20.0	0.4
Minnesete	10.9	30.1	40.3	4.7
	12.2	31.9	51.2	4.7
	3.3	23.9	53.3	19.4
Missouri	9.1	39.0	49.4	2.5
Montana	13.2	41.6	37.2	8.0
Nebraska	2.5	18.4	74.5	4.6
Nevada	7.0	24.2	42.6	26.2
New Hampshire	11.1	51.5	28.8	8.5
New Jersey	2.9	45.9	42.2	8.9
New Mexico	14.7	41.0	33.9	10.4
New York	8.0	41.7	37.7	12.7
North Carolina	6.5	36.9	49.2	7.5
North Dakota	9.1	39.1	45.8	6.0
Ohio	9.4	34.7	46.5	9.4
Oklahoma	5.7	28.3	61.1	5.0
Oregon	7.2	43.0	43.8	6.0
Pennsylvania	5.1	34.7	52.2	8.0
Rhode Island	2.3	36.5	49.9	11.3
South Carolina	5.5	27.4	59.6	7.5
South Dakota	4.1	19.7	65.6	10.6
Tennessee	10.5	34.8	45.4	9.3
Texas	10.0	41.6	40.4	7.9
Utah	93	35.5	47.6	7.6
Vermont	15.0	48.5	25.9	10.6
Virginia	9.2	.0.0	48.7	6.6
Washington	5.4	36.0		0.0 Q 7
West Virginia	5.4 2.6	12 0	+0.9 70 0	9.7 Q Q
Wieconsin	2.0	10.0	10.2 17 1	9.2
Wyoming	C.1 A 11	40.0	47.1	4.0
vvyonning	11.4	41.0	40.3	0.0

# Table 8b. Percentages of public school students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessment with each severity level of disabilities: By state, 2007

	Same or	One year	Two years or	Not	Non-NAEP
State	above grade	below	more below	reported	accommodation
Alabama	45.3	21.2	25.8	7.7	6.1
Alaska	36.1	22.6	25.5	15.8	10.0
Arizona	38.6	16.1	25.5	19.8	11.2
Arkansas	41.2	13.3	35.0	10.6	16.4
California	51.4	13.2	21.0	14.4	10.8
Colorado	37.3	24.8	28.1	9.7	7.6
Connecticut	43.1	18.0	20.8	18.1	2.0
Delaware	48.0	25.6	19.5	6.9	47.5
District of Columbia	18.4	22.7	44.3	14.6	28.2
Florida	52.5	22.0	16.0	9.5	5.2
Georgia	51.5	20.9	17.9	9.6	19.3
Hawaii	34.1	23.1	34.9	7.8	8.0
Idaho	45.9	18.4	25.8	9.9	10.6
Illinois	46.2	19.4	19.4	15.0	13.6
Indiana	62.8	15.3	15.3	6.6	18.5
lowa	44 7	26.9	19.7	87	16.5
Kansas	44.5	26.2	20.6	87	12.0
Kentucky	57.8	15.4	16.1	10.8	15.6
Louisiana	55.9	14.8	20.5	88	30.5
Maine	43.6	22.4	21.0	13.0	16.1
Manuand	40.0 70.1	20.2	10 /	11.0	23.0
Marsachusette	49.1 52.7	10.0	15.4	11.5	20.0
Michigan	JZ.7	21.0	20.4	6.4	11.0
Minnosota	42.2	21.9	29.4	0.4	11.0
Minoiopippi	4J.Z	20.1	20.2	0.5	2.4
Mississippi	01.5 F0.5	10.0	7.0	20.7	0.5 00 F
Missouri	53.5	16.6	24.0	5.9	22.5
Nebreeke	37.0	20.0	28.0	13.7	19.4
Neurala	59.5	16.4	19.8	4.2	17.3
Nevada	35.9	17.5	20.4	26.2	8.7
New Hampshire	46.4	24.9	18.5	10.2	7.2
New Jersey	46.9	27.0	16.1	10.0	21.5
New Mexico	37.1	24.2	26.5	12.1	5.5
New York	48.9	21.3	17.8	12.1	9.5
North Carolina	54.0	17.8	19.3	8.9	4.2
North Dakota	55.2	15.0	18.9	10.8	17.7
Ohio	44.0	18.0	28.3	9.7	30.5
Oklahoma	40.4	22.5	28.5	8.7	20.6
Oregon	39.3	25.0	25.0	10.8	20.9
Pennsylvania	45.1	21.0	23.4	10.5	18.8
Rhode Island	48.4	22.3	18.5	10.8	8.5
South Carolina	59.9	12.2	18.7	9.2	8.4
South Dakota	54.2	18.4	15.2	12.3	11.0
Tennessee	36.1	20.6	30.1	13.2	42.3
Texas	52.7	18.2	20.9	8.1	7.3
Utah	39.6	18.6	27.4	14.5	13.1
Vermont	35.1	26.4	27.2	11.3	8.8
Virginia	62.1	15.8	13.2	8.9	29.1
Washington	37.5	21.1	30.7	10.7	9.9
West Virginia	63.9	10.0	16.4	9.7	6.0
Wisconsin	47.8	20.1	21.5	10.6	15.0
Wyoming	41.1	24.3	24.5	10.1	11.8

# Table 8c.Percentages of public school students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4mathematics assessment at each grade level of instruction, and percentagewho received a non-NAEP accommodation: By state, 2007

# CAVEATS AND CAUTIONS IN INTERPRETATION

### SUBJECTIVITY AND MEASUREMENT ERROR

Some degree of subjectivity exists in the variables providing information on a student's disability characteristics. For example, the SD Background Questionnaire respondents who classify the students may have different interpretations of the disability classifications or of how to code the severity level of a student's disability. Reschly (1996) analyzes the subjective nature of these widely used systems of classifying SDs. If the subjective interpretation of a control variable is random across all observations, it is akin to measurement error. The statistical consequence of measurement error in a control variable is that the coefficient estimated for that variable in a regression model will tend toward zero. In the extreme case, if all our control variables were pure error, we would not be able to detect any differences among states in terms of those variables. In this extreme case, the measure of change over time would simply be the actual observed change over time because none of that change would be attributed to changes in control variables. Similarly, the starting point measure, which measures differences between states in the initial period, would simply be the difference between a state's actual inclusion rate and the average overall inclusion rate because none of the variation would be explained by control variables.

In our analysis, we cannot know how much our variables are measured with error. To the extent that a control variable is measured with error, its ability to explain differences in inclusion rates is reduced. Because the measure of change captures the portion of change that is not explained by the control variables, as the ability of the control variables to explain differences in inclusion rates is reduced, the magnitude of the measure of change will rise. For example, suppose that State A has an inclusion rate of 85 percent in 2005 and an inclusion rate of 92 percent in 2007. The actual change in inclusion rate for State A is 7 percentage points. If our control variables were perfect, they might, say, explain 4 of those 7 percentage points and the change measure would be 3 percentage points. If however, the control variables measured with error might explain 2 of the 7 percentage points, resulting in a change measure of 5 percentage points. Similar logic can be applied to the starting point measure, which captures unexplained differences in inclusion rates among states.

If the subjective interpretation of a control variable is not completely random but, to some extent, differs systematically and is correlated with some observable or non-observable characteristic, bias will occur in the estimated coefficients. In our analysis, the potentially subjective variables, type of disability and severity level, are control variables and are not variables of interest. What is of interest are the state-level predictions we obtain from applying the model to data. The subjectivity, therefore, will be of concern if it is correlated somehow with states or a state-level characteristic. For example, we would be concerned if we saw systematic differences in the definition of autism across states. Such a systematic difference will cause bias in our estimates of change.

The bias is a concern in the regression models where the model is estimated using data from all states at the same time: the nation-based measure of change, the nation-based starting point measure, and the state-specific starting point measure. The bias from systematic subjectivity is not a concern in the state-specific approach for measuring change because here the regression model is estimated separately for each state. Subjectivity within the state will still cause measurement error, as discussed above, but the bias in calculating state-level statistics will be removed. For the state-specific approach's change measure, however, it will be a concern if the subjective interpretation of a variable is thought to change over time within a state. An additional source of error that affects models for measuring the starting point and the nation-based model for measuring change, but not the state-specific model for measuring change, is small differences between the 2005 and 2007 SD questionnaires. As discussed above, the 2007 SD questionnaire includes a question that asks directly whether the student receives an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP, which enables a more accurate gauge of who receives such an accommodation. The 2005 questionnaire, on the other hand, has a number of "other accommodation" items that create ambiguity. The effect is that the coefficient on "received an accommodation on the state assessment not allowed on NAEP" will have some error due to ambiguity as to whether all the appropriate students were included in estimating this effect. This will result in an added element of unreliability in the estimated measures that we cannot predict. As stated above, the state-specific measure of change is, however, not affected by this problem as the variable does not enter that model.

## CHANGES IN IDENTIFICATION RATES OF STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES

In this report, we do not control explicitly for changes in identification rates of students with disabilities but random changes will automatically be accounted for by our control variables. In our method, the inclusion rates of SDs in the initial period set expectations for the inclusion of SDs in the second period. The assumption is that the group of students with a given set of characteristics in the first period is not different from the group of students with the same characteristics in the second period. As long as this assumption holds, we can apply the expectations set by the initial period whether the proportion of students who are SDs in a state changes or not. If, however, changes in the proportion of students who are SD in a state are due to changes in identification policy, this can cause some inaccuracies in our method.

Say, for example, that a state decides that a particular group of students who in the initial period would have not been identified as SD, and hence are all included, are in the second period identified as students with disabilities, and that they all have the following characteristics: they have a specific learning disability; the disability is classified as mild; they are receiving *at or above* grade-level instruction in the subject being assessed; they did not receive an accommodation on the state assessment that was not allowed on NAEP. According to our method, these students are expected to be treated as other students with those characteristics. If they are instead more mildly disabled than other students with those characteristics and hence, for example, all included, our partitioning methods might conclude that this state was improving in its inclusion of SDs. This conclusion would be based on the fact that students of this type are included more often. The underlying reason, however, is not that the state is being more inclusive, but rather that they increased their identification rate.

Such a shift in policy might cause a jump in the change measure. But, it will also raise the expectation of inclusion for that state for measuring change over the following period. If the state were to reverse this policy in the third period, then the state would see a jump in the opposite direction from period 2 to period 3. This discussion applies equally to the nation-based and state-specific methods.

## CAUTION AGAINST NORMATIVE INTERPRETATIONS

The purpose of this report is to develop measures of changes in inclusion rates. As such, we develop expected or predicted inclusion rates. It is important to emphasize that predicted inclusion rates are not to be interpreted as normative. At the same time in this report, positive change in inclusion rates is interpreted as a desirable result, in alignment with the intent and language of the NAEP legislation (National Assessment of Educational Progress Authorization Act of 2002), which requires NAEP to report scores for SD and ELL populations, and the NCLB act.

NCLB regulations require states to conduct academic assessments for accountability purposes and aspire to the ideal of having all students participate. A Federal Register summary of the regulations (U.S. Department of Education 2002) describes it thus:

The final IDEA regulations that are included in these regulations provide that a State's (or in the case of district-wide assessments, an LEA's) guidelines require each child to be validly assessed and identify, for each assessment, any accommodations that would result in an invalid score. Consistent with Title I, a student with disabilities must receive a valid score in order to be counted as a participant under the IDEA.

These regulations apply to state assessments that are used for accountability purposes and do not apply directly to NAEP. Nevertheless, we provide this as justification that higher participation rates on NAEP can generally be thought of as a *good*. We do not claim, however, that the ideal participation rate is 100 percent. Given that NAEP's construct is fixed, certain accommodations would invalidate the NAEP score. Hence, if a student required such an accommodation to be assessed, he or she would need to be excluded from NAEP.

Although in this report we generally refer to higher inclusion rates on NAEP as better, we make no claim about which students should or should not be assessed on NAEP. For measuring change, a comparison point needs to be set. Although it is tempting to interpret such comparison points as norms for inclusion, they should not be interpreted as such. We can set such points and still not interpret them as normative.

As an example, consider a completely naïve approach to measuring change in inclusion rates. The approach would say that a state's inclusion rate in one period is what we expect it to be in the next period. This would be a legitimate, though naïve, way of measuring change, and it places no normative interpretation on the benchmark, the state's initial inclusion rate, that is set for measuring change. Similarly, in our approach that sets the benchmarks to hold differences in the distribution of SD characteristics constant, the benchmarks are set to measure change and should not be interpreted normatively as target, correct, or desirable inclusion rates.

Although our benchmarks for measuring change should not be normatively interpreted, the measure of change itself is in this report. Under NCLB regulations, all students, including SDs, should be assessed by states. This creates a norm that is here applied to NAEP. In the naïve example given above, our crude measure of change could call an increase in inclusion rates good. The more complex approach we take here is to factor out changes in the distribution of SD characteristics when deciding whether the change is really good or not. Hence, though the benchmarks do not themselves provide normative content, the change measures that they allow do.

# RESULTS

#### NATION-BASED RESULTS

Results for the nation-based approach are provided in tables 9 through 12 for grades 4 and 8, mathematics and reading, for changes between the 2005 school year and the 2007 school year.<sup>22,23</sup> Fit statistics indicate that the regressions fit the data adequately. Logit pseudo  $R^2$  statistics were .35 for mathematics grade 4, .30 for mathematics grade 8, .33 for reading grade 4, and .30 for reading grade 8.<sup>24</sup> Likelihood ratio tests were all statistically significant at the .01 level.

The first row in table 9 (first two columns) shows that Alabama had an 89.6 percent actual inclusion rate for 2005 and an 88.3 percent for 2007. According to the nation-based model results in columns 3 and 4, Alabama had state-level predicted inclusion rates of 79.7 percent in 2005 and 83.0 percent in 2007. This predicted inclusion rate is based on the proportions of students with different types and severities of disabilities and accommodations offered by the state for its own state assessment tests that are not allowed on NAEP. The resulting differences between actual and predicted inclusion rates are 9.9 and 5.4 in 2005 and 2007, respectively. The change between 2005 and 2007 was thus measured to be -4.6 percentage points, as shown in column 7. In other words, of students with the same disability profile, 4.6 percent fewer were included in Alabama in 2007 than in 2005. This change was not statistically significant. As shown in the last column, Alabama's 2005 starting point measure, the difference from predicted for 2005, placed it in the top quartile (i.e., the 4th quartile), with a change score of 0, for a composite index score of (4,0).

Tables 9 through 12 also show wide variation in state-level predicted inclusion rates (columns 3 and 4). These rates represent the inclusion rate we would expect the state to have because of the characteristics of the SDs in the state and the availability of an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP. These predicted inclusion rates illustrate that on the sole basis of different distribution of SD characteristics across states, we expect inclusion rates on the grade 4 NAEP mathematics assessment to range from 71.6 (District of Columbia) to 87.1 (Mississippi) in 2005 and from 73.3 (Tennessee) to 87.4 (Mississippi) in 2007.

As can be seen in tables 9 through 12, most states did not make statistically significant changes from 2005 in their rate of inclusion. In about one-third of the states, there were significant changes in inclusion rates for the mathematics assessments; in about half the states, there were significant changes for the reading assessments.<sup>25</sup> States that were less inclusive of SDs in 2007 than 2005 outnumbered states that were more inclusive:

- For grade 4 mathematics, 7 states were significantly more inclusive in 2007 than in 2005, and 8 states were significantly less inclusive.
- For grade 8 mathematics, 2 states were significantly more inclusive and 17 states were significantly less inclusive.
- For grade 4 reading, 8 states were significantly more inclusive, and 18 were significantly less inclusive.

<sup>22</sup> Results for changes from 2003 to 2005 using the nation-based method are in appendix tables B-1 through B-4.

<sup>23</sup> Tables 13 through 16 present results for the state-specific approach.

<sup>24</sup> Pseudo R<sup>2</sup> statistics reported for logistic regressions are approximations to OLS R<sup>2</sup> statistics but are not the same and a number of different approximations exist. Here we report Nagelkerke's (1991) recentered pseudo R<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>25</sup> Tables 19 through 22 show which states were in each starting point quartile and whether or not they had positive, negative, or no significant change from 2005 to 2007.

• For grade 8 reading, 4 states were significantly more inclusive, and 21 states were significantly less inclusive.

Tables 17 and 18 present the counts of states with positive change, negative change, and no significant change by the quartile of their initial inclusion rate. Across each grade and subject in the nation-based results, states that were more inclusive in 2007—in other words, that had significant positive change—were in the lowest two quartiles of the starting point measure, meaning that they had lower initial inclusion rates than half the states. For states that became significantly less inclusive in 2007, in mathematics there was no obvious association with initial inclusion rates. In reading, however, more states were prevalent in the upper quartiles of the starting point measure. Tables 19 through 22 show which states were in each quartile of initial inclusiveness and whether or not they had positive, negative, or no significant change from 2005 to 2007.

	Actual ra	Actual rates		Predicted rates		Diff. from predicted <sup>1</sup>			
					2005	2007	Change	<b>.</b>	<b>.</b>
State	2005	2007	2005	2007	(e)	(f)	2005-07	Standard	Composite
State	(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(a–c)	(b–d)	(f–e)	error	index
Alabama	89.6	88.3	79.7	83.0	9.9	5.4	-4.6	2.83	(4,0)
Alaska	93.7	91.3	84.1	81.5	9.7	9.8	0.2	1.83	(4,0)
Arizona	80.3	83.4	82.7	82.0	-2.4	1.4	3.8	3.28	(1,0)
Arkansas	86.3	79.8	78.1	77.8	8.2	2.0	-6.2 *	2.81	(4,-1)
California	81.0	83.9	83.6	83.1	-2.6	0.8	3.3	2.55	(1,0)
Colorado	83.7	88.2	79.2	79.9	4.5	8.3	3.8	2.77	(3,0)
Connecticut	87.9	89.7	86.0	82.5	1.9	7.2	5.2 *	2.24	(2,1)
Delaware	58.4	73.1	80.1	78.2	-21.8	-5.1	16.7 *	2.65	(1,1)
District of Columbia	67.7	66.3	71.6	75.1	-3.9	-8.8	-4.9	3.17	(1,0)
Florida	88.6	88.3	83.9	85.3	4.6	3.0	-1.6	2.66	(3,0)
Georgia	87.9	83.5	84.1	83.5	3.8	0.0	-3.8	2.53	(3,0)
Hawaii	85.2	90.5	79.5	81.0	5.7	9.5	3.9	2.58	(4,0)
Idaho	92.2	86.3	80.5	80.7	11.7	5.7	-6.0 *	2.29	(4,-1)
Illinois	86.5	77.6	81.9	83.1	4.6	-5.5	-10.2 *	2.77	(3,-1)
Indiana	91.7	85.7	86.1	85.1	5.6	0.6	-5.0	2.64	(4,0)
Iowa	88.3	90.0	85.0	82.9	3.3	7.1	3.8	2.60	(3,0)
Kansas	85.7	78.9	80.3	79.1	5.5	-0.2	-5.6	2.99	(4,0)
Kentucky	83.7	84.2	80.4	83.6	3.3	0.6	-2.7	2.90	(2,0)
Louisiana	83.8	87.8	84.7	84.1	-0.9	3.7	4.6	2.91	(2,0)
Maine	83.0	83.7	81.0	81.2	2.0	2.5	0.5	2.66	(2.0)
Marvland	79.4	72.7	81.7	81.3	-2.3	-8.6	-6.3 *	3.10	(11)
Massachusetts	83.9	74.3	83.9	80.7	0.0	-6.3	-6.3	3.45	(2.0)
Michigan	74.6	76.1	78.4	81.2	-3.8	-5.1	-1.3	3 31	(1,0)
Minnesota	86.3	85.9	82.4	80.9	4.0	5.0	10	2.93	(3,0)
Mississippi	80.4	92.3	87.1	87.4	-6.6	4.9	11.5 *	2.95	(1,1)
Missouri	87.2	76.6	82 7	81.4	4.5	-4.8	-9.2 *	3 17	(3-1)
Montana	83.4	81.7	80.6	77.3	27	4 4	17	3 17	(2,0)
Nebraska	88.7	85.7	85.1	85.2	3.6	0.5	-32	2 59	(3,0)
Nevada	80.7	84.5	83.3	82.3	-2.6	21	4 7	3 47	(1,0)
New Hampshire	90.3	88.7	82.0	82.3	83	6.4	_1.7	2 15	(1,0)
New Jersey	87.7	88 0	83.0	82.5	3.8	5.5	1.0	2.10	(3,0)
New Mexico	80.3	83.2	81.0	80.2	7.4	3.0	_1.7	3 55	(0,0)
New York	03.0	01.2	01.3	95.2	7.4	5.0 6.0	-4.4	2.55	(4,0)
North Carolina	87.5	91.Z 80.7	83.7	84.6	0.5	0.0 5 1	13	2.50	(2,1)
North Dakota	85.5	76.3	84.9	81 Q	0.6	_5.6	-6.2 *	2 3 2	(3,0)
Ohio	72.0	70.5	79.0	01.3	5.0		-0.2	2.52	(2,-1)
Oklahoma	73.0	67.9	70.9	77.3	-5.9	-0.0	0.1	4.43	(1,0)
Oragon	70.0	07.0	70.5	79.9	0.3	-12.1	-12.5	0.27	(2,-1)
Deposition	70.7	00.0	80.0 80.5	00.3	-1.3	5.5	0.0	2.91	(2,1)
Pennsylvania Dhada Jaland	85.3	00.1	80.5	01.0	4.8	4.0	-0.1	3.07	(3,0)
Rhode Island	87.9	91.0	84.6	84.0	3.3	7.0	3.7	2.45	(2,0)
South Carolina	73.8	88.1	83.4	85.7	-9.6	2.4	12.1 ^	2.56	(1,1)
South Dakota	91.0	92.2	86.1	85.2	4.9	7.0	2.1	1.51	(3,0)
Tennessee	76.1	59.4	73.3	73.3	2.8	-13.9	-16.7 ^	4.32	(2,-1)
lexas	65.2	62.8	82.5	82.8	-17.3	-19.9	-2.6	3.04	(1,0)
Utah	88.6	84.4	81.8	82.0	6.8	2.4	-4.4	2.56	(4,0)
Vermont	80.4	86.4	79.1	78.2	1.3	8.2	6.9 *	2.36	(2,1)
Virginia	71.6	74.1	82.4	82.8	-10.8	-8.7	2.1	3.33	(1,0)
Washington	85.4	85.7	78.1	80.5	7.3	5.3	-2.0	2.58	(4,0)
West Virginia	88.5	91.6	84.3	87.4	4.1	4.2	0.1	1.83	(3,0)
Wisconsin	88.3	85.5	81.3	82.7	7.0	2.8	-4.2	2.88	(4,0)
Wyoming	91.8	89.6	83.2	81.1	8.6	8.6	#	2.02	(4,0)

Table 9. Actual and predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4<br/>mathematics assessments, starting point and change measures, using nation-<br/>based approach: By state, 2005 and 2007

\* 2005–2007 change over time is significantly different from zero (p < .05).

# Estimate rounds to zero.

<sup>1</sup> The 2005 *difference from predicted* is also the *starting point* measure.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if the change is positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Actual ra	ites	Predicted	rates	Diff. from p	redicted <sup>1</sup>			
					2005	2007	Change	<b>.</b>	<b>.</b>
04+++	2005	2007	2005	2007	(e)	(f)	2005-07	Standard	Composite
State	(a)	(b)	(C)	(d)	(a–c)	(b–d)	(f–e)	error	Index
Alabama	92.3	76.8	78.9	76.7	13.4	0.1	-13.3 *	4.01	(4,-1)
Alaska	84.2	63.1	78.0	72.3	6.2	-9.2	-15.4 *	3.41	(3,–1)
Arizona	71.4	75.3	77.5	78.2	-6.1	-2.9	3.2	5.33	(1,0)
Arkansas	80.2	81.7	74.0	76.1	6.3	5.6	-0.7	3.39	(3,0)
California	84.4	83.0	78.6	81.4	5.9	1.6	-4.3	2.54	(3,0)
Colorado	83.9	87.2	77.6	77.6	6.3	9.6	3.3	2.75	(3,0)
Connecticut	83.7	90.7	80.9	81.3	2.9	9.4	6.6 *	2.09	(2,1)
Delaware	34.1	57.1	71.2	72.2	-37.1	-15.1	22.0 *	3.25	(1,1)
District of Columbia	71.2	45.7	70.5	69.9	0.7	-24.2	-24.9 *	3.48	(2,-1)
Florida	85.6	83.5	78.6	80.8	7.0	2.7	-4.3	2.80	(4,0)
Georgia	82.0	50.2	79.5	79.6	2.5	-29.4	-31.9 *	3.78	(2,-1)
Hawaii	86.1	90.8	79.2	79.5	6.9	11.3	4.5	2.29	(3,0)
Idaho	86.3	86.6	76.2	76.8	10.1	9.7	-0.3	2.59	(4,0)
Illinois	83.7	65.6	76.7	74.3	6.9	-8.7	-15.7 *	4.10	(3,–1)
Indiana	76.5	63.8	77.3	77.5	-0.8	-13.7	-12.9 *	4.46	(2,-1)
lowa	83.8	84.2	76.7	80.6	7.1	3.6	-3.5	3.33	(4,0)
Kansas	76.6	69.5	73.4	72.1	3.3	-2.6	-5.9	4.04	(2,0)
Kentucky	72.7	51.5	76.0	72.7	-3.3	-21.1	-17.9 *	4.41	(1,-1)
Louisiana	70.7	74.1	75.1	74.9	-4.4	-0.8	3.6	5.43	(1,0)
Maine	75.2	71.9	73.7	77.0	1.4	-5.1	-6.5	3.43	(2,0)
Maryland	67.2	38.3	74.1	73.2	-6.9	-34.9	-27.9 *	5.04	(1,-1)
Massachusetts	68.6	49.4	76.3	73.2	-7.7	-23.8	-16.0 *	4.40	(1,-1)
Michigan	69.4	69.1	75.3	74.1	-5.9	-4.9	1.0	4.25	(1,0)
Minnesota	85.5	83.4	76.4	76.3	9.1	7.1	-1.9	2.78	(4,0)
Mississippi	68.6	78.5	80.8	83.0	-12.3	-4.5	7.8	5.09	(1.0)
Missouri	72.5	65.4	73.0	73.2	-0.5	-7.8	-7.3	3.99	(2.0)
Montana	84.2	77.3	77.8	74.8	6.5	2.5	-4.0	3.19	(3.0)
Nebraska	91.1	83.0	81.3	81.9	9.8	1.0	-8.8 *	2.68	(41)
Nevada	82.4	73.8	80.6	76.9	1.7	-3.1	-4.9	3.51	(2.0)
New Hampshire	87.9	83.3	78.4	80.0	9.6	3.3	-6.2 *	2.43	(41)
New Jersev	83.1	82.7	79.5	78.5	3.6	4.2	0.6	4.01	(3.0)
New Mexico	87 1	83.5	78.2	76.3	8.9	72	-17	2 63	(4,0)
New York	81.2	79.3	79.9	80.9	1.3	-17	-3.0	3.28	(2,0)
North Carolina	85.8	86.7	79.5	82.8	6.3	3.9	-2.4	2.39	(3.0)
North Dakota	74.0	58.1	75.2	75.3	-1.2	-17.1	-16.0 *	3 12	(2-1)
Ohio	59.9	53.6	70.8	67.6	_10.9	-14.0	-3.0	5 14	(1.0)
Oklahoma	76.5	44.9	73.4	73.7	3.1	-28.8	-31.9 *	4 46	(2-1)
Oregon	82.1	78.0	73.6	76.4	85	1.6	-6.9 *	3.08	( <u>4</u> –1)
Pennsylvania	80.8	77.9	75.9	78.0	4 9	-0.1	-5.0	4 15	(3, 0)
Rhode Island	85.1	88.0	81.0	82.4	4 1	5.6	1.5	2.21	(3,0)
South Carolina	50.1	60.2	78.8	79.6	_19.5	_10 /	0.1	4 73	(0,0)
South Dakota	82.9	78.3	76.0	75.0	-19.5	29	_4 3	247	(1,0)
Tennessee	68.7	47.0	71.3	71.0	-2.6	_24.0	-21.4 *	4 70	(2-1)
Texas	61.0	58.5	78.3	78.6	_17.3	_20.1	_2.8	3.48	(2, 1)
Litah	82.4	77 1	74.9	74.6	17.0 8.2	20.1	_57	3.06	(1,0)
Vermont	70.0	70 0	75.0	74.0	0.2	2.J 2.7	-5.7	0.00	(0, <del>ד</del> ) (0, ני)
Virginia	79.2	70.U 58.0	70.6	74.3	3.3 _8 A	ر. _10 ه	U.4 _11 0 *	2.41 / 1/	(3,0)
Washington	10.9	72 1	78.5	70.0	-0.0	0.0	-11.0	2 20	(1,-1) (A +)
West Virginia	00.0	20.1 20.0	24.3 80.0	22 A	0.7	-0.9	-9.0	0.00 0.00	(+,-1) (2 0)
Wisconsin	03.U 79 7	72.6	00.0 70.1	74.0	3.0	0.9	2.9	2.20	(2,0)
Wyoming	/0./	13.0	72.1	74.2	0.0	-0.5	-7.1	3.00	(3,0)
vvyoning	89.4	04.7	78.8	79.4	10.6	5.3	-5.2	2.17	(4,0)

Table 10. Actual and predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8mathematics assessments, starting point and change measures, using nation-based approach: By state, 2005 and 2007

\* 2005–2007 change over time significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The 2005 difference from predicted is also the starting point measure.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

State         2005         2007         (c)		Actual ra	ites	Predicted	rates	Diff. from p	redicted <sup>1</sup>			
2005         2007         2005         2007         (e)         (f)         200-row         Inder Composing           Alabama         85.3         71.1         65.3         71.6         20.0         6.6         -13.4         3.01         (4,-1)           Alaska         84.5         80.9         66.3         80.2         18.2         11.7         -6.5         3.05         (4,0)           Arazona         66.7         74.9         66.2         70.7         0.5         4.1         3.6         0.5         3.02         (2,0)           California         74.9         71.3         71.8         73.7         3.1         3.6         0.5         3.02         (2,0)           Colorado         78.6         79.9         64.0         69.3         44.7         10.6         -4.0         3.34         (4,0)           Colorado         78.6         75.1         75.7         4.8         1.7         -3.2         3.30         (3.0)           Delaware         28.6         40.0         59.3         -0.2         3.6         -4.12         (2.0)         (1.1)           Calorado         72.7         64.1         70.9         1.0         -3.3         -4.2						2005	2007	Change	0	0
Construction         (a)         (b)         (c)         (a)         (b-a)	State	2005	2007	2005	2007	<u>(e)</u>	(f)	2005-07	Standard	
Alabaina         65.3         71.6         20.0         6.6         -1.3         3.01         (4,-1)           Arakana         66.7         74.9         66.2         70.7         0.5         4.1         3.6         4.40         (2.0)           Arakanas         53.3         55.0         60.0         67.2         -6.7         -12.2         -5.5         4.50         (1.0)           California         74.9         77.3         71.8         73.7         3.1         3.6         0.5         3.02         (2.0)           Colorado         78.6         78.9         64.0         69.3         58.5         -50.7         -12.2         3.2         3.30         (3.0)           Delavare         28.6         46.0         59.3         58.5         -30.7         -12.4         18.3<*         2.00         (1.1)           Delavare         28.6         45.0         58.5         -50.7         -61.6         -42.5         -16.3         4.12         (2.1)           Delavare         52.7         7.1         65.6         68.8         14.0         8.4         -5.3         4.6         (2.1)         (3.0)           Garogia         52.7         7.6	State	(a)	(D)	(C)	(a)	(a–c)	(b–d)	(f-e)	enu	
Alaska         64.3         60.9         60.3         69.2         18.2         11.7         -0.3         3.30         (4,0)           Arkansas         53.3         55.0         60.0         67.2         -67.         -12.2         -5.5         4.59         (1,0)           California         74.9         77.3         71.8         73.7         3.1         3.6         0.5         3.02         (2,0)           Colorado         78.6         65.1         69.4         72.8         9.0         12.2         3.2         3.20         (3,0)           Delaware         28.6         46.0         59.3         58.5         -30.7         -12.4         18.3<''	Alabama	85.3	/8.1	65.3	/1.6	20.0	6.6	-13.4 ^	3.01	(4,-1)
Arabna         bb. 2         70.7         0.5         4.1         3.6         4.40         (2.0)           California         74.9         77.3         71.8         73.7         3.1         3.6         0.5         3.02         (2.0)           Colorado         78.6         79.9         64.0         69.3         14.7         10.6         -4.0         3.34         (4.0)           Connectout         78.6         79.9         64.0         69.3         14.7         10.6         -4.0         3.34         (4.0)           Delaware         28.6         46.0         59.3         55.5         -50.7         -12.4         18.3         2.80         (3.0)           Delaware         0.8         64.1         57.2         3.6         -28.6         -3.3         -22.5         -19.3         4.12         (21)           Forda         76.0         77.6         76.6         7.6         7.6         -0.5         -0.2         4.31         (3.0)           Illoiba         65.3         67.5         64.4         70.9         1.0         -3.3         -23.2         4.22         (4.0)           Illoiba         65.2         77.6         67.6         7.6 <td>Alaska</td> <td>84.5</td> <td>80.9</td> <td>66.3</td> <td>69.2</td> <td>18.2</td> <td>11.7</td> <td>-6.5</td> <td>3.55</td> <td>(4,0)</td>	Alaska	84.5	80.9	66.3	69.2	18.2	11.7	-6.5	3.55	(4,0)
Arkainsas       53.3       55.0       60.0       67.2       -6.7       -12.2       -5.5       4.99       (1,0)         Colorado       78.6       67.9       64.0       66.3       14.7       10.6       -4.0       3.34       (4,0)         Colorado       78.6       65.1       69.4       72.8       9.0       12.2       3.2       3.20       (3,0)         Delaware       28.6       46.0       59.3       55.5       -30.7       -12.4       18.3       2.80       (1,1)         Dibrict of Columbia       77.7       28.6       64.1       57.2       3.6       -22.5       -19.3       4.12       (2,-1)         Georgia       59.7       43.4       62.9       65.9       -3.3       -22.5       4.33       (3,0)         Ilmois       65.3       67.5       64.4       70.9       10.0       -3.3       -4.3       4.26       (2,0)         Indian       72.2       77.2       60.1       67.6       7.6       7.6       0.0       -2.3       8.6       3.03       (1,0)         Karas       77.4       67.6       67.6       7.6       7.6       0.0       -3.3       -4.3       4.22 <t< td=""><td>Arizona</td><td>66.7</td><td>74.9</td><td>66.2</td><td>/0./</td><td>0.5</td><td>4.1</td><td>3.6</td><td>4.40</td><td>(2,0)</td></t<>	Arizona	66.7	74.9	66.2	/0./	0.5	4.1	3.6	4.40	(2,0)
Cattornia         /4.9         /7.3         /18         7/3         18         7/3         3.1         3.6         0.5         3.12         (2)           Colorado         78.6         79.9         64.0         69.3         14.7         10.6         -4.0         3.34         (4.0)           Conrecticut         78.5         85.1         69.4         72.8         9.0         12.2         3.2         3.30         (3.0)           District of Columbia         77.7         28.6         64.0         59.3         -82.5         -19.3         4.12         (2)         1.3         (3.0)           Georgia         59.7         43.4         62.9         65.9         -3.3         -22.5         -19.3         4.12         (2)         1.3         (3.0)           Georgia         59.7         43.4         62.9         65.8         1.0         8.4         7.0         3.6         (4.0)         1.0         -3.3         -4.2         4.2         (2)         1.31         (3.0)         1.33         1.34         (3.0)         1.33         4.5         (4.0)         1.34         1.33         3.03         5.12         (3.0)         1.33         3.03         5.1         (2.0) <td>Arkansas</td> <td>53.3</td> <td>55.0</td> <td>60.0</td> <td>67.2</td> <td>-6.7</td> <td>-12.2</td> <td>-5.5</td> <td>4.59</td> <td>(1,0)</td>	Arkansas	53.3	55.0	60.0	67.2	-6.7	-12.2	-5.5	4.59	(1,0)
Calorado         78.5         85.1         69.4         72.8         90.0         12.2         3.2         3.34         (4.0)           Delaware         28.6         46.0         59.3         58.5         -30.7         -12.4         18.3<*	California	/4.9	//.3	/1.8	/3./	3.1	3.6	0.5	3.02	(2,0)
Connecticut 78.5 85.1 69.4 72.8 9.0 12.2 3.2 3.30 (30) Delaware 28.6 46.0 59.3 55.5 -30.7 -12.4 18.3* 2.80 (311) District of Columbia 77.7 28.6 54.1 57.2 3.6 -28.6 -32.2* 3.66 (31) Fiorida 76.0 77.3 71.2 75.7 4.8 1.7 -3.2 3.51 (3.0) Georgia 59.7 43.4 62.9 65.9 -3.3 -22.5 -19.3* 4.12 (21) Hawai 62.5 77.1 68.5 68.8 14.0 8.4 -5.7 3.66 (4.0) Ulinois 65.3 67.5 64.4 70.9 1.0 -3.3 -4.3 4.26 (2.0) Ulinois 65.3 67.5 64.4 70.9 1.0 -3.3 -4.3 4.26 (2.0) Indiana 77.2 7.6 67.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 5.0 -2.6 3.89 (3.0) Iowa 65.2 71.2 60.2 65.9 5.0 5.3 0.3 5.12 (3.0) Kansas 77.4 62.4 62.2 70.4 15.3 -8.0 -23.2* 4.32 (41) Louisiana 41.2 79.3 64.9 70.7 -23.7 8.6 23.3* 4.32 (41) Louisiana 41.2 79.3 64.9 70.7 -23.7 8.6 23.3* 4.32 (41) Masachusetts 67.2 72.1 67.1 67.5 0.2 4.5 4.3 3.27 (2.0) Maryland 63.3 51.4 67.3 66.4 -3.9 -15.0 -11.1* 3.55 (21) Massachusetts 67.2 72.1 67.1 67.5 0.2 4.5 4.3 3.27 (2.0) Michigan 52.3 68.2 61.9 67.6 -9.7 0.6 10.3* 4.51 (1.1) Minesota 64.5 77.1 70.6 72.9 13.9 4.1 -0.7* 3.02 (41) Mississippi 66.9 77.6 74.5 76.6 -7.6 1.0 8.6* 3.83 (1.1) Mississippi 66.9 77.6 74.5 76.6 -7.4 5.0 10.3* 4.51 (1.1) Minesota 64.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -7.8 1.0 4.7* 3.63 (3.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -7.8 1.0 4.7* 3.63 (3.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -7.8 1.0 4.7* 3.63 (3.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7* 4.62 (2.0) Nebraska 75.2 72.1 70.5 72.1 4.7* 0.0 -4.7* 3.63 (3.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7* 4.62 (2.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7* 4.62 (2.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7* 4.62 (2.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7* 4.62 (2.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7* 4.62 (2.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7* 4.62 (2.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.5 0.2 -15.2 -15.4* 5.05 (21) New Maxico 64.4 53.7 6.9.8 7.1* 5.7* 1.4* 4.3* 4.03 (3.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 60.5 0.2 -15.2 -15.4* 5.05 (21) New Maxico 64.4 7.4* 62.67.1 65.7* -2.4* -19.5* -17.1* 2.92 (21) Origon 69.4 74.3 67.0 69.2 2.3 5.1 2.7* 3.86 (1.0) Nevada 60.9 7.7* 7.7* 7.7* 7.1* 6.5* 5.20 (21) New Maxi	Colorado	78.6	79.9	64.0	69.3	14.7	10.6	-4.0	3.34	(4,0)
Delaware         28.6         46.0         59.3         58.5         -30.7         -12.4         18.3         2.80         (1,1)           Florida         76.0         77.3         71.2         75.7         4.8         1.7         -32.6         53.51         (3,0)           Georgia         59.7         43.4         62.9         65.9         -33         -22.5         -19.3         *         4.12         (2,-1)           Hawaii         62.5         77.1         68.5         68.8         14.0         8.4         -5.7         3.6         4.31         (30)           Idinois         65.3         67.5         64.4         70.9         1.0         -3.3         -4.3         4.26         (2,0)           Iowa         65.2         71.6         67.6         72.6         7.8         5.0         -2.6         3.89         (30)           Iowa         65.2         71.6         67.6         72.6         7.8         -9.2         4.32         (4,-1)           Kansas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -8.0         2.2.5         4.33         2.6         (1,1)           Louisian         41.2	Connecticut	78.5	85.1	69.4	72.8	9.0	12.2	3.2	3.30	(3,0)
District of Columbia         57.7         28.6         54.1         57.2         3.6         -28.6         -32.2         3.66         (3.0)           Georgia         59.7         43.4         62.9         65.9         -3.3         -22.5         -19.3         *         4.12         (2)           Hawaii         82.5         77.1         68.5         68.8         14.0         8.4         -6.7         3.66         (4.0)           Ilinois         65.3         67.5         64.4         70.9         1.0         -3.3         -4.3         4.26         (2.0)           Iowa         65.2         77.2         67.6         7.6 <td>Delaware</td> <td>28.6</td> <td>46.0</td> <td>59.3</td> <td>58.5</td> <td>-30.7</td> <td>-12.4</td> <td>18.3 *</td> <td>2.80</td> <td>(1,1)</td>	Delaware	28.6	46.0	59.3	58.5	-30.7	-12.4	18.3 *	2.80	(1,1)
Florida         76.0         77.3         71.2         75.7         4.8         1.7         -3.2         3.51         (30)           Georgia         59.7         43.4         62.9         65.9         -3.3         -22.5         -19.3         4.12         (21)           Hawaii         82.5         77.1         68.5         68.8         14.0         8.4         -5.7         3.66         (4.0)           Idaho         72.2         77.6         67.6         7.6         5.0         -2.6         3.89         (3.0)           Indiana         75.2         77.6         67.6         7.6         5.0         -2.6         3.89         (3.0)           Kansas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -8.0         -2.2.2         4.32         (4,-1)           Kentucky         45.4         53.1         58.8         66.3         -13.4         -13.1         0.3         3.26         (1.0)           Louisiana         41.2         79.3         64.9         70.7         -2.8         1.8         3.27         (2.0)           Maryland         63.3         51.4         67.7         66         -9.7         0.6	District of Columbia	57.7	28.6	54.1	57.2	3.6	-28.6	-32.2 *	3.66	(3,–1)
Georgia         59.7         43.4         62.9         -5.3         -2.5         -19.3         4.12         (2,-1)           Hawaii         82.5         77.1         68.5         68.8         14.0         8.4         -7.5         3.66         (4,0)           Ideho         72.2         77.6         67.6         72.6         7.6         5.0         -2.6         3.89         (30)           Iowa         65.2         71.2         60.2         65.9         5.0         5.3         0.3         5.12         (30)           Kaneas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -8.0         -23.2         4.3.2         (4,-1)           Kaneas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -8.0         -23.2         4.3.2         (4,-1)           Maine         65.8         65.6         67.8         -0.2         1.7         1.9         3.51         (2,0)           Maryland         63.3         51.4         67.3         67.6         -7.6         1.0         8.6         3.39         (1,1)           Minesouri         55.8         77.1         76.6         7.6         7.4         1	Florida	76.0	77.3	71.2	75.7	4.8	1.7	-3.2	3.51	(3,0)
Hawaii         82.5         77.1         68.5         68.6         14.0         8.4         -5.7         3.66         (4.0)           Idiaho         72.2         77.2         64.1         69.5         8.2         7.6         -5.0         -5.3         1.0         -3.3         -4.3         4.26         (2.0)           Indiana         75.2         77.6         67.6         7.6         5.0         -2.6         3.89         (3.0)           Kansas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -8.0         -2.2.2         4.32         (4,-1)           Louisiana         41.2         79.3         64.9         70.7         -23.7         8.6         32.3         4.79         (1.1)           Maryland         63.3         61.4         67.8         66.4         -3.9         -15.0         -11.1         3.55         (2.0)           Maryland         63.3         61.4         67.7         67.6         -9.7         0.6         10.3         4.51         (1.1)           Maryland         63.3         77.1         70.6         72.9         13.9         4.1         -9.7         3.02         (41)           Missisigipi </td <td>Georgia</td> <td>59.7</td> <td>43.4</td> <td>62.9</td> <td>65.9</td> <td>-3.3</td> <td>-22.5</td> <td>–19.3 *</td> <td>4.12</td> <td>(2,–1)</td>	Georgia	59.7	43.4	62.9	65.9	-3.3	-22.5	–19.3 *	4.12	(2,–1)
Idaho         72.2         77.2         64.1         60.5         8.2         7.6         -0.5         4.31         (3.0)           Indiana         75.2         77.6         67.6         72.6         7.6         5.0         -2.6         3.89         (3.0)           Iowa         65.2         71.2         60.2         65.9         5.0         5.3         0.3         5.12         (3.0)           Kansas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -8.0         -2.3.2         *4.32         (41)           Louisiana         41.2         79.3         64.9         70.7         -23.7         8.6         32.3         4.79         (1.1)           Maryland         65.8         69.5         66.0         67.8         -0.2         1.7         1.9         3.51<(2.0)	Hawaii	82.5	77.1	68.5	68.8	14.0	8.4	-5.7	3.66	(4,0)
Illinois         65.3         67.5         64.4         70.9         1.0         -3.3         -4.3         4.26         (2.0)           Indiana         75.2         77.6         67.6         72.6         7.6         5.0         -2.6         3.89         (3.0)           Kansas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -8.0         -22.2*         4.32         (4.1)           Louisiana         41.2         79.3         64.9         70.7         -23.7         8.6         32.3*         4.79         (1.1)           Maire         65.8         69.5         66.0         67.8         -0.2         1.7         1.9         3.51         (2.0)           Maryland         63.3         61.4         67.3         66.4         -3.9         -15.0         -11.1*         3.55         (2.1)         Mississipi         66.9         7.7.1         70.6         72.9         13.9         4.1         -9.7*         3.02         (4.1)         1.1         Mississipi         66.9         77.1         70.6         72.9         13.9         4.1         -9.7*         3.61         (3.0)         Not         Not         Not         Not         Not         N	Idaho	72.2	77.2	64.1	69.5	8.2	7.6	-0.5	4.31	(3,0)
Indiana 75.2 77.6 67.6 72.6 7.6 5.0 -2.6 3.89 (3.0) Iowa 65.2 71.2 60.2 65.9 5.0 5.3 0.3 5.12 (3.0) Kansas 77.4 62.4 62.2 70.4 15.3 -8.0 -23.2 * 4.32 (41) Kentucky 45.4 53.1 58.8 66.3 -13.4 -13.1 0.3 3.26 (1,0) Louisiana 41.2 79.3 64.9 70.7 -23.7 8.6 32.3 * 4.79 (1,1) Maine 65.8 69.5 66.0 67.8 -0.2 1.7 1.9 3.51 (2,0) Maryland 63.3 51.4 67.3 66.4 -3.9 -15.0 -11.1 * 3.55 (2,-1) Massachusetts 67.2 72.1 67.1 67.5 0.2 4.5 4.3 3.27 (2,0) Michigan 52.3 68.2 61.9 67.6 -9.7 0.6 10.3 * 4.51 (1,1) Minnesota 84.5 77.1 70.6 72.9 13.9 4.1 -9.7 * 3.02 (4,-1) Mississippi 66.9 77.6 74.5 76.6 -7.6 1.0 8.6 * 3.93 (1,1) Missouri 55.8 78.9 63.2 73.2 -7.4 5.6 13.1 * 3.37 (1,1) Mostaad 60.4 70.1 64.2 69.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7 3.63 (3.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 69.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7 3.63 (3.0) Nevada 60.4 70.1 64.2 69.2 -3.8 1.0 4.7 3.63 (3.0) New Hampshire 83.0 79.8 66.4 71.1 5.7 1.4 -4.3 4.03 (3.0) North Carolina 83.2 87.6 69.1 74.0 14.2 13.6 -0.6 2.44 (4.0) North Carolina 83.2 87.6 69.1 74.0 14.2 13.6 -0.6 2.44 (4.0) North Carolina 83.2 87.6 69.1 74.0 14.2 13.6 -0.6 2.44 (4.0) North Carolina 83.2 87.6 69.1 74.0 14.2 13.6 -0.6 2.44 (4.0) North Carolina 83.2 87.6 69.1 74.0 14.2 13.6 -0.6 2.44 (4.0) North Carolina 83.2 87.6 69.1 74.0 14.2 13.6 -0.6 2.44 (4.0) North Carolina 83.2 87.6 69.1 74.0 14.2 13.6 -0.6 2.44 (4.0) North Carolina 83.0 87.9 70.0 72.5 -8.9 1.2 -15.4 * 5.05 (2,-1) New Margshire 73.3 72.0 63.5 68.9 9.7 3.1 -6.6 4.09 (4.0) North Carolina 83.0 87.9 70.0 72.5 -8.9 1.2 10.2 * 3.54 (1,1) South Carolina 83.0 82.9 70.1 72.8 17.9 10.1 -7.8 * 2.61 (4,-1) South Carolina 83.0 82.9 70.1 72.8 17.9 10.1 -7.8 * 2.61 (4,-1) Yermont 68.4 67.0 59.7 64.3 68.5 -0.0 -5.7 -11.1 * 4.22 (3,-1) Vignina 36.8 55.5 59.7 70.0 -22.9 -14.5 8.4 * 3.85 (1,1) Washington 76.8 72.5 68.8 71.1 5.7 14.2 * 10.2 * 3.54 (1,1) South Carolina 77.7 72.4 61.5 70.1 0.2 * 3.54 (1,1) Mashington 76.8 72.5 68.3 68.5 13.5 4.0 -9.5 * 4.16 (4,-1) We formin (9.4 74.2 65.1 71.1 63.3 64.2 7.7 6.5 5.30 (1.0) Hande 14.8 50.6 59.7 70.0 -22.9 -14.5 8.4 * 3	Illinois	65.3	67.5	64.4	70.9	1.0	-3.3	-4.3	4.26	(2,0)
lowa         65.2         71.2         60.2         65.9         5.0         5.3         0.3         5.12         (3,0)           Kansas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -6.0         -23.2         4.32         (4,-1)           Louisiana         41.2         79.3         64.9         70.7         -23.7         8.6         32.3         4.79         (1,1)           Maine         65.8         69.5         66.0         67.8         -0.2         1.7         1.9         3.51         (2,0)           Maryland         63.3         51.4         67.3         66.4         -3.9         -15.0         -11.1         3.55         (2,-1)           Massachusetts         67.2         72.1         67.6         7.6         7.6         7.6         7.6         7.6         7.6         7.6         7.6         7.6         7.7         1.0         8.6         3.33         (1,1)           Missouri         55.8         7.8         7.8         7.2         7.2         4.7         7.6         7.4         5.6         13.1         3.33         (1,1)           Missouri         55.8         7.8         7.8         7.2 <td>Indiana</td> <td>75.2</td> <td>77.6</td> <td>67.6</td> <td>72.6</td> <td>7.6</td> <td>5.0</td> <td>-2.6</td> <td>3.89</td> <td>(3,0)</td>	Indiana	75.2	77.6	67.6	72.6	7.6	5.0	-2.6	3.89	(3,0)
Kansas         77.4         62.4         62.2         70.4         15.3         -8.0         -28.2         4.32         (4,-1)           Kentucky         45.4         53.1         58.8         66.3         -13.4         -13.1         0.3         3.26         (1,0)           Louisiana         41.2         79.3         66.4         -0.2         1.7         1.9         3.51         (2,0)           Maryland         63.3         51.4         67.3         66.4         -0.2         4.5         4.3         3.27         (2,0)           Michigan         52.3         68.2         61.9         67.6         -9.7         0.6         10.3         4.51         (1,1)           Minesota         84.5         77.1         70.6         72.9         13.9         4.1         -9.7         3.02         (4,-1)           Mississippi         66.9         77.6         74.5         76.6         -7.6         1.0         8.6         3.33         (1,1)           Montana         61.1         64.8         59.0         63.6         2.1         1.1         -1.0         4.42         (2,0)           Nebraska         75.2         72.1         70.5         72.1 </td <td>Iowa</td> <td>65.2</td> <td>71.2</td> <td>60.2</td> <td>65.9</td> <td>5.0</td> <td>5.3</td> <td>0.3</td> <td>5.12</td> <td>(3,0)</td>	Iowa	65.2	71.2	60.2	65.9	5.0	5.3	0.3	5.12	(3,0)
Kentucky         45.4         53.1         56.8         66.3         -13.4         -13.1         0.3         3.26         (1,0)           Louisiana         41.2         79.3         64.9         70.7         -23.7         8.6         32.3         4.79         (1,1)           Mane         65.8         69.5         66.0         67.8         -0.2         1.7         1.9         3.51         (2,0)           Maryland         63.3         51.4         67.3         66.4         -3.9         -15.0         -11.1         3.55         (2,0)           Michigan         52.3         68.2         61.9         67.6         -9.7         0.6         10.3<*	Kansas	77.4	62.4	62.2	70.4	15.3	-8.0	-23.2 *	4.32	(4,-1)
Louisiana         41.2         79.3         64.9         70.7         -23.7         8.6         32.3*         4.79         (1,1)           Maine         65.8         69.5         66.0         67.8         -0.2         1.7         1.9         3.51         (2,0)           Maryland         63.3         51.4         67.3         66.4         -3.9         -15.0         -11.1*         3.55         (2,0)           Michigan         52.3         68.2         61.9         67.6         -9.7         0.6         10.3*         4.51         (1,1)           Missouri         55.8         77.6         74.5         76.6         -7.6         1.0         8.6*         3.93         (1,1)           Missouri         55.8         70.9         63.2         73.2         -7.4         5.6         13.1*         3.37         (1,1)           Montana         61.1         64.8         59.0         63.6         2.1         1.1         1.1         4.42         (2,0)           New Hampshire         83.0         79.8         68.4         72.7         1.4.6         7.0         -7.5*         3.60         (4,-1)           New Jersey         73.8         61.7         <	Kentucky	45.4	53.1	58.8	66.3	-13.4	-13.1	0.3	3.26	(1,0)
Maine65.869.566.067.8 $-0.2$ 1.71.93.51(2.0)Maryland63.351.467.366.4 $-3.9$ $-15.0$ $-11.1^{\circ}$ 3.55(21)Massachusetts67.272.167.167.50.24.54.33.27(2.0)Michigan52.368.261.967.6 $-9.7$ 0.610.3 *4.51(1.1)Minnesota84.577.170.672.913.94.1 $-9.7^{\circ}$ 3.02(41)Mississippi66.97.67.4.576.6 $-7.6$ 1.08.6 *3.93(1.1)Mississippi66.97.67.4.576.6 $-7.6$ 1.08.6 *3.93(1.1)Motana61.164.859.063.62.11.1 $-1.0$ 4.42(2.0)Nevada60.470.164.269.2 $-3.8$ 1.04.74.62(2.0)New Hampshire83.079.868.472.714.67.0 $-7.5^{\circ}$ 3.60(41)New Jersey73.861.764.766.89.0 $-5.1$ $-14.2^{\circ}$ 5.22(31)New Maxico64.454.264.269.50.2 $-15.2$ $-15.4^{\circ}$ 5.05(21)New Maxico64.454.264.269.50.2 $-15.2$ $-15.4^{\circ}$ 5.05(21)New Maxico64.746.267.165.7 $-24.4$	Louisiana	41.2	79.3	64.9	70.7	-23.7	8.6	32.3 *	4.79	(1,1)
Maryland63.351.467.366.4 $-3.9$ $-15.0$ $-11.1^{+}$ $3.55$ $(2,-1)$ Massachusetts67.272.167.167.50.24.54.3 $3.27$ $(2,0)$ Michigan52.368.261.967.6 $-9.7$ 0.6 $10.3^{+}$ 4.51 $(1,1)$ Minnesota84.577.170.672.9 $13.9$ 4.1 $-9.7^{+}$ $3.02$ $(4,-1)$ Missispipi66.977.674.576.6 $-7.6$ $1.0$ $8.6^{+}$ $3.93$ $(1,1)$ Missouri55.878.963.273.2 $-7.4$ 5.6 $13.1^{+}$ $3.37$ $(1,1)$ Montana61.164.859.063.62.1 $1.1$ $-1.0$ $4.42$ $(2,0)$ New Hampshire83.079.868.472.7 $14.6$ $7.0$ $-7.5^{+}$ $3.60$ $(4,-1)$ New Jersey73.861.764.766.8 $9.0$ $-5.1$ $-14.2^{+}$ $5.22$ $(3,-1)$ New Mexico64.454.264.269.5 $0.2$ $-15.2$ $-15.4^{+}$ $5.05$ $(2,-1)$ New York74.572.568.871.1 $5.7$ $1.4$ $-4.3$ $4.03$ $(3.0)$ North Dakota64.746.267.1 $65.7$ $-2.4$ $-19.5$ $-17.1^{+}$ $2.92$ $(2,-1)$ Ohio40.850.654.461.1 $-13.5$ $-10.4$ $3.1$ $4.86$ $(1,0)$ <td>Maine</td> <td>65.8</td> <td>69.5</td> <td>66.0</td> <td>67.8</td> <td>-0.2</td> <td>1.7</td> <td>1.9</td> <td>3.51</td> <td>(2,0)</td>	Maine	65.8	69.5	66.0	67.8	-0.2	1.7	1.9	3.51	(2,0)
Massachusetts         67.2         72.1         67.1         67.5         0.2         4.5         4.3         3.27         (2,0)           Michigan         52.3         68.2         61.9         67.6         -9.7         0.6         10.3*         4.51         (1,1)           Mississippi         66.9         77.6         74.5         76.6         -7.6         1.0         8.6*         3.93         (1,1)           Mississippi         66.9         77.6         74.5         76.6         -7.4         5.6         13.1*         3.37         (1,1)           Montana         61.1         64.8         59.0         63.6         2.1         1.1         -1.0         4.42         (2,0)           Nebraska         75.2         72.1         70.5         72.1         4.7         0.0         -4.7         3.63         (3,0)           New Hampshire         83.0         79.8         68.4         72.7         14.6         7.0         -7.5 *         3.60         (4,-1)           New Jersey         73.8         61.7         64.7         68.8         9.0         -5.1         -14.2 *         5.05         (2,-1)           New York         74.5         72.5	Maryland	63.3	51.4	67.3	66.4	-3.9	-15.0	-11.1 *	3.55	(2,-1)
Michigan52.368.261.967.6 $-9.7$ 0.6 $10.3^{*}$ 4.51 $(1,1)$ Minesota84.577.170.672.913.94.1 $-9.7^{*}$ 3.02 $(4,-1)$ Mississippi66.977.674.576.6 $-7.6$ 1.08.6 *3.93 $(1,1)$ Missouri55.878.963.273.2 $-7.4$ 1.08.6 *3.93 $(1,1)$ Montana61.164.859.063.62.11.1 $-1.0$ 4.42 $(2,0)$ Nevada60.470.164.269.2 $-3.8$ 1.04.74.62 $(2,0)$ New Hampshire83.079.868.472.714.67.0 $-7.5^{*}$ 3.60 $(4,-1)$ New Jersey73.861.764.766.89.0 $-5.1$ $-14.2^{*}$ $5.22$ $(3,-1)$ New York74.572.568.871.15.7 $1.4$ $-4.3$ 4.03 $(3,0)$ North Carolina83.287.669.174.014.213.6 $-0.6$ 2.44 $(4,0)$ North Dakota64.746.267.165.7 $-2.4$ $-19.5$ $-17.1^{*}$ 2.92 $(2,-1)$ Oregon69.474.367.069.22.35.12.73.29 $(2,0)$ Pennsylvania73.372.063.568.99.73.1 $-6.6$ 4.09 $(4,0)$ South Carolina61.173.770.072	Massachusetts	67.2	72.1	67.1	67.5	0.2	4.5	4.3	3.27	(2,0)
Minnesota84.577.170.672.913.94.1 $-9.7^*$ 3.02(4,-1)Missispipi66.977.674.576.6 $-7.6$ 1.08.6*3.93(1,1)Missouri55.878.963.273.2 $-7.4$ 5.613.1*3.37(1,1)Montana61.164.859.063.62.11.1 $-1.0$ 4.42(2,0)Nebraska75.272.170.572.14.70.0 $-4.7$ 3.63(3,0)New dam60.470.164.269.2 $-3.8$ 1.04.74.62(2,0)New Hampshire83.079.868.472.714.67.0 $-7.5^*$ 3.60(4,-1)New Jersey73.861.764.766.89.0 $-5.1$ $-14.2^*$ 5.22(3,-1)New Vork74.572.568.871.15.71.4 $-4.3$ 4.03(3,0)North Carolina83.287.669.174.014.213.6 $-0.6$ 2.44(4,0)North Carolina83.287.669.174.014.213.6 $-0.6$ 2.44(4,0)Ohio40.850.654.461.1 $-13.5$ $-10.4$ 3.14.86(1,0)Okatoma72.558.863.967.68.6 $-8.9$ $-17.5^*$ 4.22(3,-1)Oregon69.474.367.069.22.35.12.73.29<	Michigan	52.3	68.2	61.9	67.6	-9.7	0.6	10.3 *	4.51	(1,1)
Mississippi         66.9         77.6         74.5         76.6         -7.6         1.0         8.6*         3.93         (1,1)           Missouri         55.8         78.9         63.2         73.2         -7.4         5.6         13.1*         3.37         (1,1)           Montana         61.1         64.8         59.0         63.6         2.1         1.1         -1.0         4.42         (2,0)           Nebraska         75.2         72.1         70.5         72.1         4.7         0.0         -4.7         3.63         (3,0)           New Alarska         60.4         70.1         64.2         69.2         -3.8         1.0         4.7         4.62         (2,0)           New Hampshire         83.0         79.8         68.4         72.7         14.6         7.0         -7.5*         3.60         (4,-1)           New Mexico         64.4         54.2         64.2         69.5         0.2         -15.2         -15.4*         5.05         (2,-1)           North Carolina         83.2         87.6         69.1         74.0         14.2         13.6         -0.6         2.44         (4,0)           North Carolina         64.7         46	Minnesota	84.5	77.1	70.6	72.9	13.9	4.1	-9.7 *	3.02	(4,-1)
Missouri $55.8$ $78.9$ $63.2$ $73.2$ $-7.4$ $5.6$ $13.1^{+}$ $3.37$ $(1,1)$ Montana $61.1$ $64.8$ $59.0$ $63.6$ $2.1$ $1.1$ $-1.0$ $4.42$ $(2,0)$ Nebraska $75.2$ $72.1$ $70.5$ $72.1$ $4.7$ $0.0$ $-4.7$ $3.63$ $(3,0)$ Nevada $60.4$ $70.1$ $64.2$ $69.2$ $-3.8$ $1.0$ $4.7$ $4.62$ $(2,0)$ New Hampshire $83.0$ $79.8$ $68.4$ $72.7$ $14.6$ $7.0$ $-7.5^{+}$ $3.60$ $(4,-1)$ New Jersey $73.8$ $61.7$ $64.7$ $66.8$ $9.0$ $-5.1$ $-14.2^{+}$ $5.22$ $(3,-1)$ New York $74.5$ $72.5$ $68.8$ $71.1$ $5.7$ $1.4$ $-4.3$ $4.03$ $(3.0)$ North Carolina $83.2$ $87.6$ $69.1$ $74.0$ $14.2$ $13.6$ $-0.6$ $2.44$ $(4.0)$ North Dakota $64.7$ $46.2$ $67.1$ $65.7$ $-2.4$ $-19.5$ $-17.1^{+}$ $2.92$ $(2,-1)$ Ohio $40.8$ $50.6$ $54.4$ $61.1$ $-13.5$ $-10.4$ $3.1$ $4.86$ $(1.0)$ Oklahoma $72.5$ $58.8$ $63.9$ $67.6$ $8.6$ $-8.9$ $-17.5^{+}$ $4.22$ $(3,-1)$ Oregon $69.4$ $74.3$ $67.6$ $8.6$ $-8.9$ $-17.5^{+}$ $4.22$ $(3,-1)$ South Carolina $61.1$ $73.7$ $70.0$ $7$	Mississippi	66.9	77.6	74.5	76.6	-7.6	1.0	8.6 *	3.93	(1,1)
Montana         61.1         64.8         59.0         63.6         2.1         1.1         -1.0         4.42         (2,0)           Nevraska         75.2         72.1         70.5         72.1         4.7         0.0         -4.7         3.63         (3,0)           New Hampshire         83.0         79.8         68.4         72.7         14.6         7.0         -7.5         3.60         (4,-1)           New Jersey         73.8         61.7         64.2         69.5         0.2         -15.1         -14.2         5.22         (3,-1)           New Mexico         64.4         54.2         64.2         69.5         0.2         -15.2         -15.4         5.05         (2,-1)           New York         74.5         72.5         68.8         71.1         5.7         1.4         -4.3         4.03         (3,0)           North Carolina         83.2         87.6         69.1         74.0         14.2         13.6         -0.6         2.44         (4,0)           North Carolina         64.7         46.2         67.1         65.7         -2.4         -19.5         -17.1<*	Missouri	55.8	78.9	63.2	73.2	-7.4	5.6	13.1 *	3.37	(1,1)
Nebraska         75.2         72.1         70.5         72.1         4.7         0.0         -4.7         3.63         (3,0)           Nevada         60.4         70.1         64.2         69.2         -3.8         1.0         4.7         4.62         (2,0)           New Hampshire         83.0         79.8         68.4         72.7         14.6         7.0         -7.5*         3.60         (4,-1)           New Jersey         73.8         61.7         64.7         66.8         9.0         -5.1         -14.2*         5.22         (3,-1)           New Mexico         64.4         54.2         64.2         69.5         0.2         -15.2         -15.4         5.05         (2,-1)           New York         74.5         72.5         68.8         71.1         5.7         1.4         -4.3         4.03         (3,0)           North Carolina         63.2         87.6         69.1         74.0         14.2         13.6         -0.6         2.44         (4,0)           North Dakota         64.7         46.2         67.6         68.6         -8.9         -17.5         4.22         (3,-1)           Origon         69.4         74.3         67.0 <td>Montana</td> <td>61.1</td> <td>64.8</td> <td>59.0</td> <td>63.6</td> <td>2.1</td> <td>1.1</td> <td>-1.0</td> <td>4.42</td> <td>(2,0)</td>	Montana	61.1	64.8	59.0	63.6	2.1	1.1	-1.0	4.42	(2,0)
Nevada $60.4$ $70.1$ $64.2$ $69.2$ $-3.8$ $1.0$ $4.7$ $4.62$ $(2,0)$ New Hampshire $83.0$ $79.8$ $68.4$ $72.7$ $14.6$ $7.0$ $-7.5$ * $3.60$ $(4-1)$ New Jersey $73.8$ $61.7$ $64.7$ $66.8$ $9.0$ $-5.1$ $-14.2$ * $5.22$ $(3,-1)$ New Mexico $64.4$ $54.2$ $64.2$ $69.5$ $0.2$ $-15.2$ $-15.4$ * $5.05$ $(2,-1)$ New York $74.5$ $72.5$ $68.8$ $71.1$ $5.7$ $1.4$ $-4.3$ $4.03$ $(3.0)$ North Carolina $83.2$ $87.6$ $69.1$ $74.0$ $14.2$ $13.6$ $-0.6$ $2.44$ $(4.0)$ North Dakota $64.7$ $46.2$ $67.1$ $65.7$ $-2.4$ $-19.5$ $-17.1$ * $2.92$ $(2,-1)$ Ohio $40.8$ $50.6$ $54.4$ $61.1$ $-13.5$ $-10.4$ $3.1$ $4.86$ $(1,0)$ Okahoma $72.5$ $58.8$ $63.9$ $67.6$ $8.6$ $-8.9$ $-17.5$ * $4.22$ $(3,-1)$ Oregon $69.4$ $74.3$ $67.0$ $69.2$ $2.3$ $5.1$ $2.7$ $32.9$ $(2,0)$ Pennsylvania $73.3$ $72.0$ $63.5$ $68.9$ $9.7$ $3.1$ $-6.6$ $4.09$ $(4,0)$ Rhode Island $88.0$ $82.9$ $70.1$ $72.5$ $-8.9$ $1.2$ $10.2$ * $3.54$ $(1,1)$ South Carolina $61.1$ $73.7$ $70.0$	Nebraska	75.2	72.1	70.5	72.1	4.7	0.0	-4.7	3.63	(3,0)
New Hampshire83.079.868.472.714.67.0 $-7.5^{*}$ 3.60(4,-1)New Jersey73.861.764.766.89.0 $-5.1$ $-14.2^{*}$ $5.22$ (3,-1)New Mexico64.454.264.269.50.2 $-15.2$ $-15.4^{*}$ $5.05$ (2,-1)New York74.572.568.871.1 $5.7$ $1.4$ $-4.3$ 4.03(30)North Carolina83.287.669.174.014.213.6 $-0.6$ 2.44(4,0)North Dakota64.746.267.165.7 $-2.4$ $-19.5$ $-17.1^{*}$ 2.92(2,-1)Ohio40.850.654.461.1 $-13.5$ $-10.4$ 3.14.86(1,0)Oklahoma72.558.863.967.68.6 $-8.9$ $-17.5^{*}$ 4.22(3,-1)Oregon69.474.367.069.22.35.12.73.29(2,0)Pennsylvania73.372.063.568.99.73.1 $-6.6$ 4.09(4,0)South Carolina61.173.770.072.5 $-8.9$ 1.210.2 *3.54(1,1)South Carolina61.173.770.072.5 $-8.9$ 1.210.2 *3.54(1,1)South Carolina61.173.770.072.5 $-8.9$ 1.210.2 *3.54(1,1)Loca88.085.551.772.	Nevada	60.4	70.1	64.2	69.2	-3.8	1.0	4.7	4.62	(2,0)
New Jersey         73.8         61.7         64.7         66.8         9.0         -5.1         -14.2*         5.22         (3,-1)           New Mexico         64.4         54.2         64.2         69.5         0.2         -15.2         -15.4*         5.05         (2,-1)           New York         74.5         72.5         68.8         71.1         5.7         1.4         -4.3         4.03         (3,0)           North Carolina         83.2         87.6         69.1         74.0         14.2         13.6         -0.6         2.44         (4,0)           North Dakota         64.7         46.2         67.1         65.7         -2.4         -19.5         -17.1*         2.92         (2,-1)           Ohio         40.8         50.6         54.4         61.1         -13.5         -10.4         3.1         4.86         (1,0)           Oklahoma         72.5         58.8         63.9         67.6         8.6         -8.9         -17.5*         4.22         (3,-1)           Oregon         69.4         74.3         67.0         69.2         2.3         5.1         2.7         3.29         (2,0)           Pennsylvania         73.3         72.0	New Hampshire	83.0	79.8	68.4	72.7	14.6	7.0	-7.5 *	3.60	(4,-1)
New Mexico         64.4         54.2         64.2         69.5         0.2         -15.2         -15.4         5.05         (2,-1)           New York         74.5         72.5         68.8         71.1         5.7         1.4         -4.3         4.03         (3,0)           North Carolina         83.2         87.6         69.1         74.0         14.2         13.6         -0.6         2.44         (4,0)           North Dakota         64.7         46.2         67.1         65.7         -2.4         -19.5         -17.1*         2.92         (2,-1)           Ohio         40.8         50.6         54.4         61.1         -13.5         -10.4         3.1         4.86         (1,0)           Oklahoma         72.5         58.8         63.9         67.6         8.6         -8.9         -17.5*         4.22         (3,-1)           Oregon         69.4         74.3         67.0         69.2         2.3         5.1         2.7         3.29         (20)           Pennsylvania         73.3         72.0         63.5         68.9         9.7         3.1         -6.6         4.09         (4,0)           Rhode Island         88.0         82.9 <td>New Jersey</td> <td>73.8</td> <td>61.7</td> <td>64.7</td> <td>66.8</td> <td>9.0</td> <td>-5.1</td> <td>-14.2 *</td> <td>5.22</td> <td>(3,-1)</td>	New Jersey	73.8	61.7	64.7	66.8	9.0	-5.1	-14.2 *	5.22	(3,-1)
New York         74.5         72.5         68.8         71.1         5.7         1.4         -4.3         4.03         (3,0)           North Carolina         83.2         87.6         69.1         74.0         14.2         13.6         -0.6         2.44         (4,0)           North Dakota         64.7         46.2         67.1         65.7         -2.4         -19.5         -17.1 *         2.92         (2,-1)           Ohio         40.8         50.6         54.4         61.1         -13.5         -10.4         3.1         4.86         (1,0)           Oklahoma         72.5         58.8         63.9         67.6         8.6         -8.9         -17.5 *         4.22         (3,-1)           Oregon         69.4         74.3         67.0         69.2         2.3         5.1         2.7         3.29         (2,0)           Pennsylvania         73.3         72.0         63.5         68.9         9.7         3.1         -6.6         4.09         (4,0)           Rhode Island         88.0         82.9         70.1         72.8         17.9         10.1         -7.8 *         2.61         (4,-1)           South Carolina         61.1	New Mexico	64.4	54.2	64.2	69.5	0.2	-15.2	-15.4 *	5.05	(2,-1)
North Carolina         83.2         87.6         69.1         74.0         14.2         13.6         -0.6         2.44         (4,0)           North Dakota         64.7         46.2         67.1         65.7         -2.4         -19.5         -17.1*         2.92         (2,-1)           Ohio         40.8         50.6         54.4         61.1         -13.5         -10.4         3.1         4.86         (1,0)           Oklahoma         72.5         58.8         63.9         67.6         8.6         -8.9         -17.5*         4.22         (3,-1)           Oregon         69.4         74.3         67.0         69.2         2.3         5.1         2.7         3.29         (2,0)           Pennsylvania         73.3         72.0         63.5         68.9         9.7         3.1         -6.6         4.09         (4,0)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.8         17.9         10.1         -7.8*         2.61         (4,-1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2*         3.54         (1,1)           South Carolina         61.1	New York	74.5	72.5	68.8	71.1	5.7	1.4	-4.3	4.03	(3,0)
North Dakota         64.7         46.2         67.1         65.7         -2.4         -19.5         -17.1 *         2.92         (2,-1)           Ohio         40.8         50.6         54.4         61.1         -13.5         -10.4         3.1         4.86         (1,0)           Oklahoma         72.5         58.8         63.9         67.6         8.6         -8.9         -17.5 *         4.22         (3,-1)           Oregon         69.4         74.3         67.0         69.2         2.3         5.1         2.7         3.29         (2,0)           Pennsylvania         73.3         72.0         63.5         68.9         9.7         3.1         -6.6         4.09         (4,0)           Rhode Island         88.0         82.9         70.1         72.8         17.9         10.1         -7.8 *         2.61         (4,-1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2 *         3.54         (1,1)           South Dakota         71.4         66.2         65.1         71.1         6.3         -4.9         -11.2 *         2.72         (3,-1)           Tennessee         38.4	North Carolina	83.2	87.6	69.1	74.0	14.2	13.6	-0.6	2.44	(4,0)
Ohio         40.8         50.6         54.4         61.1         -13.5         -10.4         3.1         4.86         (1,0)           Oklahoma         72.5         58.8         63.9         67.6         8.6         -8.9         -17.5*         4.22         (3,-1)           Oregon         69.4         74.3         67.0         69.2         2.3         5.1         2.7         3.29         (2,0)           Pennsylvania         73.3         72.0         63.5         68.9         9.7         3.1         -6.6         4.09         (4,0)           Rhode Island         88.0         82.9         70.1         72.8         17.9         10.1         -7.8*         2.61         (4,-1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2*         3.54         (1,1)           South Dakota         71.4         66.2         65.1         71.1         6.3         -4.9         -11.2*         2.72         (3,-1)           Tennessee         38.4         37.0         53.6         58.7         -15.2         -21.7         -6.5         5.30         (1,0)           Texas         58.5         51.7	North Dakota	64.7	46.2	67.1	65.7	-2.4	-19.5	-17.1 *	2.92	(2,-1)
Oklahoma         72.5         58.8         63.9         67.6         8.6         -8.9         -17.5         4.22         (3,-1)           Oregon         69.4         74.3         67.0         69.2         2.3         5.1         2.7         3.29         (2,0)           Pennsylvania         73.3         72.0         63.5         68.9         9.7         3.1         -6.6         4.09         (4,0)           Rhode Island         88.0         82.9         70.1         72.8         17.9         10.1         -7.8         2.61         (4,-1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2         *         3.54         (1,1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2         *         3.54         (1,1)           South Dakota         71.4         66.2         65.1         71.1         6.3         -4.9         -11.2         *         2.72         (3,-1)           Tennessee         38.4         37.0         53.6         58.7         -15.2         -21.7         -6.5         5.30         (1,0)	Ohio	40.8	50.6	54.4	61.1	-13.5	-10.4	3.1	4.86	(1.0)
Oregon         69.4         74.3         67.0         69.2         2.3         5.1         2.7         3.29         (2,0)           Pennsylvania         73.3         72.0         63.5         68.9         9.7         3.1         -6.6         4.09         (4,0)           Rhode Island         88.0         82.9         70.1         72.8         17.9         10.1         -7.8 *         2.61         (4,-1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2 *         3.54         (1,1)           South Dakota         71.4         66.2         65.1         71.1         6.3         -4.9         -11.2 *         2.72         (3,-1)           Tennessee         38.4         37.0         53.6         58.7         -15.2         -21.7         -6.5         5.30         (1,0)           Texas         58.5         51.7         72.7         71.3         -14.2         -19.6         -5.4         3.25         (1,0)           Utah         72.0         62.8         66.0         68.5         6.0         -5.7         -11.7 *         4.01         (3,-1)           Virginia         36.8         55.5	Oklahoma	72.5	58.8	63.9	67.6	8.6	-8.9	-17.5 *	4.22	(3,-1)
Pensylvania         73.3         72.0         63.5         68.9         9.7         3.1         -6.6         4.09         (4,0)           Rhode Island         88.0         82.9         70.1         72.8         17.9         10.1         -7.8 *         2.61         (4,-1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2 *         3.54         (1,1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2 *         3.54         (1,1)           South Dakota         71.4         66.2         65.1         71.1         6.3         -4.9         -11.2 *         2.72         (3,-1)           Tennessee         38.4         37.0         53.6         58.7         -15.2         -21.7         -6.5         5.30         (1,0)           Texas         58.5         51.7         72.7         71.3         -14.2         -19.6         -5.4         3.25         (1,0)           Utah         72.0         62.8         66.0         68.5         6.0         -5.7         -11.7 *         4.01         (3,-1)           Vermont         68.4	Oregon	69.4	74.3	67.0	69.2	2.3	5.1	2.7	3.29	(2.0)
Rhode Island         88.0         82.9         70.1         72.8         17.9         10.1         -7.8 *         2.61         (4,-1)           South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2 *         3.54         (1,1)           South Carolina         71.4         66.2         65.1         71.1         6.3         -4.9         -11.2 *         2.72         (3,-1)           Tennessee         38.4         37.0         53.6         58.7         -15.2         -21.7         -6.5         5.30         (1,0)           Texas         58.5         51.7         72.7         71.3         -14.2         -19.6         -5.4         3.25         (1,0)           Utah         72.0         62.8         66.0         68.5         6.0         -5.7         -11.7 *         4.01         (3,-1)           Vermont         68.4         67.0         59.7         64.3         8.6         2.7         -6.0 *         2.96         (3,-1)           Virginia         36.8         55.5         59.7         70.0         -22.9         -14.5         8.4 *         3.85         (1,1)           Washington         76.8	Pennsvlvania	73.3	72.0	63.5	68.9	9.7	3.1	-6.6	4.09	(4.0)
South Carolina         61.1         73.7         70.0         72.5         -8.9         1.2         10.2 *         3.54         (1,1)           South Dakota         71.4         66.2         65.1         71.1         6.3         -4.9         -11.2 *         2.72         (3,-1)           Tennessee         38.4         37.0         53.6         58.7         -15.2         -21.7         -6.5         5.30         (1,0)           Texas         58.5         51.7         72.7         71.3         -14.2         -19.6         -5.4         3.25         (1,0)           Utah         72.0         62.8         66.0         68.5         6.0         -5.7         -11.7 *         4.01         (3,-1)           Vermont         68.4         67.0         59.7         64.3         8.6         2.7         -6.0 *         2.96         (3,-1)           Virginia         36.8         55.5         59.7         70.0         -22.9         -14.5         8.4 *         3.85         (1,1)           Washington         76.8         72.5         63.3         68.5         13.5         4.0         -9.5 *         4.16         (4,-1)           West Virginia         69.1	Rhode Island	88.0	82.9	70.1	72.8	17.9	10.1	-7.8 *	2.61	(41)
South Dakota         71.4         66.2         65.1         71.1         6.3         -4.9         -11.2 *         2.72         (3, -1)           Tennessee         38.4         37.0         53.6         58.7         -15.2         -21.7         -6.5         5.30         (1,0)           Texas         58.5         51.7         72.7         71.3         -14.2         -19.6         -5.4         3.25         (1,0)           Utah         72.0         62.8         66.0         68.5         6.0         -5.7         -11.7 *         4.01         (3,-1)           Vermont         68.4         67.0         59.7         64.3         8.6         2.7         -6.0 *         2.96         (3,-1)           Virginia         36.8         55.5         59.7         70.0         -22.9         -14.5         8.4 *         3.85         (1,1)           Washington         76.8         72.5         63.3         68.5         13.5         4.0         -9.5 *         4.16         (4,-1)           Wisconsin         71.7         72.4         61.5         70.1         10.2         2.3         -7.9 *         3.95         (4,-1)           Wsconsin         71.7         72.4	South Carolina	61 1	73 7	70.0	72 5	-8.9	12	10.2 *	3 54	(1 1)
Tennessee         38.4         37.0         53.6         58.7         -15.2         -21.7         -6.5         5.30         (1,0)           Texas         58.5         51.7         72.7         71.3         -14.2         -19.6         -5.4         3.25         (1,0)           Utah         72.0         62.8         66.0         68.5         6.0         -5.7         -11.7         4.01         (3,-1)           Vermont         68.4         67.0         59.7         64.3         8.6         2.7         -6.0         2.96         (3,-1)           Virginia         36.8         55.5         59.7         70.0         -22.9         -14.5         8.4         3.85         (1,1)           Washington         76.8         72.5         63.3         68.5         13.5         4.0         -9.5         4.16         (4,-1)           West Virginia         69.1         91.0         69.4         74.7         -0.3         16.4         16.7         2.77         (2,1)           Wisconsin         71.7         72.4         61.5         70.1         10.2         2.3         -7.9         3.95         (4,-1)           Wyoming         90.4         78.6	South Dakota	71.4	66.2	65.1	71.1	6.3	-4.9	-11.2 *	2 72	(3-1)
Texas58.551.772.771.3 $-14.2$ $-19.6$ $-5.4$ $3.25$ $(1,0)$ Utah72.062.866.068.56.0 $-5.7$ $-11.7$ * $4.01$ $(3,-1)$ Vermont68.467.059.764.38.62.7 $-6.0$ *2.96 $(3,-1)$ Virginia36.855.559.770.0 $-22.9$ $-14.5$ 8.4*3.85 $(1,1)$ Washington76.872.563.368.513.54.0 $-9.5$ *4.16 $(4,-1)$ West Virginia69.191.069.474.7 $-0.3$ 16.416.7*2.77 $(2,1)$ Wisconsin71.772.461.570.110.22.3 $-7.9$ *3.95 $(4,-1)$ Wyoming90.478.667.868.422.710.3 $-12.4$ *2.22 $(4-1)$	Tennessee	38.4	37.0	53.6	58.7	-15.2	-21.7	-6.5	5.30	(1.0)
Utah         72.0         62.8         66.0         68.5         6.0         -5.7         -11.7 *         4.01         (3,-1)           Vermont         68.4         67.0         59.7         64.3         8.6         2.7         -6.0 *         2.96         (3,-1)           Virginia         36.8         55.5         59.7         70.0         -22.9         -14.5         8.4 *         3.85         (1,1)           Washington         76.8         72.5         63.3         68.5         13.5         4.0         -9.5 *         4.16         (4,-1)           West Virginia         69.1         91.0         69.4         74.7         -0.3         16.4         16.7 *         2.77         (2,1)           Wisconsin         71.7         72.4         61.5         70.1         10.2         2.3         -7.9 *         3.95         (4,-1)           Wyoming         90.4         78.6         67.8         68.4         22.7         10.3         -12.4 *         2.22         (4-1)	Texas	58.5	51.7	72.7	71.3	-14.2	-19.6	-5.4	3.25	(1.0)
Vermont         68.4         67.0         59.7         64.3         8.6         2.7         -6.0*         2.96         (3, -1)           Virginia         36.8         55.5         59.7         70.0         -22.9         -14.5         8.4*         3.85         (1,1)           Washington         76.8         72.5         63.3         68.5         13.5         4.0         -9.5*         4.16         (4, -1)           West Virginia         69.1         91.0         69.4         74.7         -0.3         16.4         16.7*         2.77         (2,1)           Wisconsin         71.7         72.4         61.5         70.1         10.2         2.3         -7.9*         3.95         (4, -1)           Wyoming         90.4         78.6         67.8         68.4         22.7         10.3         -12.4*         2.22         (4-1)	Utah	72 0	62.8	66.0	68.5	6.0	-5.7	_11 7 *	4 01	(3 –1)
Virginia36.855.559.770.0 $-22.9$ $-14.5$ 8.4 *3.85 $(1,1)$ Washington76.872.563.368.513.54.0 $-9.5$ *4.16 $(4,-1)$ West Virginia69.191.069.474.7 $-0.3$ 16.416.7 *2.77 $(2,1)$ Wisconsin71.772.461.570.110.22.3 $-7.9$ *3.95 $(4,-1)$ Wyoming90.478.667.868.422.710.3 $-12.4$ *2.22 $(4,-1)$	Vermont	68.4	67.0	59.7	64.3	8.6	27	-60*	2.96	(3 –1)
Washington         76.8         72.5         63.3         68.5         13.5         4.0         -9.5*         4.16         (4,-1)           West Virginia         69.1         91.0         69.4         74.7         -0.3         16.4         16.7*         2.77         (2,1)           Wisconsin         71.7         72.4         61.5         70.1         10.2         2.3         -7.9*         3.95         (4,-1)           Wyoming         90.4         78.6         67.8         68.4         22.7         10.3         -12.4*         2.22         (4-1)	Virginia	36.8	55.5	59.7	70.0	-22.9	-14.5	84*	3.85	(0, 1)
West Virginia $69.1$ $91.0$ $69.4$ $74.7$ $-0.3$ $16.4$ $16.7$ $2.77$ $(2,1)$ Wisconsin $71.7$ $72.4$ $61.5$ $70.1$ $10.2$ $2.3$ $-7.9$ $3.95$ $(4,-1)$ Wyoming $90.4$ $78.6$ $67.8$ $68.4$ $22.7$ $10.3$ $-12.4$ $222$ $(4,-1)$	Washington	76.8	72.5	63.3	68.5	13.5	4.0	_9.5 *	4 16	(1,1)
Wisconsin         71.7         72.4         61.5         70.1         10.2         2.3         -7.9*         3.95         (4,-1)           Wyoming         90.4         78.6         67.8         68.4         22.7         10.3         -12.4*         2.22         (4,-1)	West Virginia	69.1	91.0	69.4	74 7	-0.3	16.4	167*	2 77	(21)
Wyoming 90.4 78.6 67.8 68.4 22.7 10.3 -12.4 * 2.22 (4-1)	Wisconsin	71 7	79.4	61 5	70.1	10.2	23	_7 9 *	3 05	( <u>4</u> _1)
	Wyoming	90.4	78.6	67.8	68.4	22 7	10.3	-124 *	2 22	(4 –1)

Table 11. Actual and predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4reading assessments, starting point and change measures, using nation-basedapproach: By state, 2005 and 2007

\* 2005–2007 change over time significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The 2005 *difference from predicted* is also the *starting point* measure.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Actual ra	ites	Predicted	rates	Diff. from p	redicted <sup>1</sup>			
					2005	2007	Change	<b>.</b>	•
04+++	2005	2007	2005	2007	(e)	(f)	2005-07	Standard	Composite
State	(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(a–c)	(b–d)	(f–e)	error	Index
Alabama	88.0	74.2	72.7	74.0	15.3	0.2	-15.1 *	4.55	(4,–1)
Alaska	88.0	84.1	72.8	72.5	15.2	11.6	-3.6	2.57	(4,0)
Arizona	73.3	67.3	67.9	73.3	5.5	-6.0	–11.5 *	4.17	(3,–1)
Arkansas	62.0	62.1	60.8	71.8	1.2	-9.7	-11.0 *	5.22	(2,–1)
California	80.1	80.3	71.5	77.1	8.7	3.2	-5.4	2.92	(3,0)
Colorado	76.7	78.1	68.3	74.9	8.4	3.2	-5.3	3.93	(3,0)
Connecticut	84.4	87.0	75.4	75.7	9.1	11.3	2.3	2.42	(3,0)
Delaware	33.3	62.6	62.0	64.4	-28.7	-1.8	26.9 *	3.22	(1,1)
District of Columbia	62.1	33.6	62.6	59.6	-0.5	-26.1	-25.5 *	3.11	(2,-1)
Florida	80.2	83.5	72.3	77.9	7.9	5.5	-2.3	2.52	(3,0)
Georgia	62.4	45.0	69.2	69.7	-6.8	-24.8	-18.0 *	4.46	(2,-1)
Hawaii	82.4	87.6	72.8	74.2	9.6	13.4	3.8	2.40	(4,0)
Idaho	81.5	74.9	70.4	74.9	11.1	0.0	-11.1 *	3.41	(4,-1)
Illinois	72.4	72.4	66.9	70.3	5.6	2.1	-3.5	4.49	(3,0)
Indiana	73.5	70.9	70.4	72.4	3.1	-1.5	-4.5	3.93	(2,0)
lowa	75.9	71.7	69.6	73.0	6.4	-1.3	-7.7 *	3.73	(3,-1)
Kansas	72.6	65.9	64.3	71.6	8.4	-5.8	-14.1 *	4.07	(3,-1)
Kentucky	44.8	42.4	60.7	63.5	-15.9	-21.1	-5.2	4.17	(1.0)
Louisiana	49.8	80.1	67.0	74.5	-17.2	5.6	22.8 *	5.56	(1.1)
Maine	65.9	67.9	67.3	72.0	-1.4	-4.1	-2.7	3.18	(2.0)
Maryland	69 1	47 8	66.2	67.2	28	-19.4	-22.2 *	4 60	(2-1)
Massachusetts	69.0	68.7	70.3	71.9	-1.3	-3.2	-1.8	4.05	(2.0)
Michigan	56.1	63.4	65.7	71.3	-9.7	-7.8	1.9	4 33	(1,0)
Minnesota	82.8	73.2	71.0	73.4	11.8	-0.2	-12.0 *	3 34	(4-1)
Mississippi	58.0	63.2	74 1	75.9	-16.1	-12.7	3.5	5 59	(1, 1)
Missouri	49.5	76.1	62 7	73.8	-13.2	24	15.5 *	4 22	(1,1)
Montana	66.6	69.2	66.4	71.5	0.2	-2.3	-2.5	3.78	(2,0)
Nebraska	77.2	73.8	67.5	74 7	9.7	_0.9	-10.6 *	3.07	( <u>4</u> -1)
Nevada	74.7	69.5	71.6	70.6	3.1	-1 1	-4.2	3.78	(20)
New Hampshire	87.7	80.7	73.8	76.8	13.9	3.9	_10.0 *	2 29	( <u>4</u> _1)
New Jersey	78.5	64.7	70.0	70.0	5.0	_7.0	_12.0 *	4 55	(3-1)
New Mexico	68.7	60.5	70.5	73.0	_1.8	-12.5	-10.6 *	3 75	(0, 1)
New York	65.2	66.8	69.4	74.8	_1.0	-8.0	-3.8	4 31	(2, 1)
North Carolina	80.9	83.2	71 1	76.9	9.8	6.3	-3.5	3.24	(2,0)
North Dakota	55.9	38.7	65.5	68.2	-9.6	_29.4	_19.9 *	3.24	(1,0)
Ohio	50.8	50.0	63.0	63.1	13.1	_10.7	10.0	0.24 4 50	(1, 1)
Oklaboma	74.2	50.3	65.9	71.2	-13.1	_12.2	-20.2 *	3.84	(1,0)
Oregon	74.2	81 5	68.0	70.7	0.4	10.8	-20.2	2.04	(3,-1)
Pennsylvania	70.3	73.8	69.0	73.8	10.3	0.1	-10 3 *	/ 18	(4,0) (4 _1)
Phodo Island	79.5	75.0 95.2	74.0	73.0	10.5	7.0	-10.3	4.10	(4,-1)
Courth Coroling	50.0	57.0	74.0	70.2	10.0	15.0	-5.0	1.51	(4,0)
South Dekete	52.2 72.0	57.2	60.7	72.2	-10.5	-15.0	1.5	4.51	(1,0)
	13.0	40.7	60.1	70.3	10.3	-19.0	-29.9	3.93	(4,-1)
Termessee	43.4	40.7	00.1 72.7	02.0 70.0	-10.7	-22.1	-5.4	4.00	(1,0)
I EXdS	70.1	50.0 61.0	73.7	12.0	-10.6	-10.1	-5.0	3.20	(1,0)
Varmant	12.1 77 F	01.2	0.10	07.0	4.5	-0.4	-10.9 *	4.17	(2,-1)
Vermont	//.5	/3./	69.3	73.9	8.2	-0.2	-8.4 *	2.37	(3,-1)
Virginia	54.9	55.9	69.6	73.3	-14.7	-17.4	-2.7	3.62	(1,0)
wasnington	/2.5	07.5	05.0	/1.8	7.0	-4.3	-11.3 *	4.1/	(3,-1)
west virginia	62.7	86.6	67.1	/4.9	-4.4	11./	16.1 *	3.43	(2,1)
vvisconsin	68.3	62.9	63.6	66.4	4.7	-3.5	-8.2	4.48	(3,0)
Wyoming	81.6	76.7	71.3	68.9	10.3	7.8	-2.5	2.83	(4,0)

Table 12. Actual and predicted percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8reading assessments, starting point and change measures, using nation-basedapproach: By state, 2005 and 2007

\* 2005–2007 change over time significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The 2005 *difference from predicted* is also the *starting point* measure.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

				Starting point		2005-07		
_	Actual ra	ites	measure	- 2005	Predicted	meas	ure <sup>1</sup>	Composite
State	2005	2007	Estimated	Std error	2007	Change	Std error	Index <sup>2</sup>
Alabama	89.6	88.3	7.5 *	1.98	89.5	-1.2	2.62	(4,0)
Alaska	93.7	91.3	8.0 *	1.32	92.6	-1.3	1.96	(4,0)
Arizona	80.3	83.4	-4.2	2.52	79.6	3.8	3.96	(1,0)
Arkansas	86.3	79.8	5.7 *	1.63	85.3	-5.5	3.28	(4,0)
California	81.0	83.9	-4.4 *	1.86	78.5	5.4 *	2.52	(1,1)
Colorado	83.7	88.2	2.8	2.03	81.8	6.4	3.64	(3,0)
Connecticut	87.9	89.7	0.2	1.58	85.6	4.1	2.68	(2,0)
Delaware	58.4	73.1	-23.5 *	1.95	57.1	16.0 *	2.62	(1,1)
District of Columbia	67.7	66.3	-7.3 *	1.97	71.7	-5.4	3.03	(1,0)
Florida	88.6	88.3	3.1	1.84	88.6	-0.3	2.59	(3,0)
Georgia	87.9	83.5	2.3	1.54	89.2	-5.7 *	2.69	(3,-1)
Hawaii	85.2	90.5	3.1	1.90	86.1	4.4	3.55	(3,0)
Idaho	92.2	86.3	9.9 *	1.45	92.2	-5.9 *	2.41	(4,-1)
Illinois	86.5	77.6	3.4 *	1.34	85.9	-8.3 *	3.30	(3,-1)
Indiana	91.7	85.7	4.9 *	1.63	91.0	-5.3 *	2.70	(4,-1)
lowa	88.3	90.0	2.4	1.25	84.3	5.7 *	2.79	(3.1)
Kansas	85.7	78.9	4.1 *	1.42	83.9	-5.0	3.02	(4.0)
Kentucky	83.7	84.2	1.4	2.21	84.3	-0.1	2.93	(2.0)
Louisiana	83.8	87.8	-1.8	2.06	84.0	3.8	3.16	(2.0)
Maine	83.0	83.7	-0.2	1.95	84.3	-0.6	2.57	(2.0)
Maryland	79.4	72 7	-4 4 *	2 19	79.0	-6.3	3.32	(1.0)
Massachusetts	83.9	74.3	-17	1.97	80.6	-6.3	3 75	(2,0)
Michigan	74.6	76.1	-5.9*	2 17	72.9	3.2	3 12	(1,0)
Minnesota	86.3	85.9	2.6	2 41	83.9	20	2 48	(3,0)
Mississippi	80.4	92.3	-8.1 *	2.37	85.3	7.0*	2.99	(1,1)
Missouri	87.2	76.6	26	2.32	85.7	_9.1 *	3.38	(3-1)
Montana	83.4	81.7	11	2.02	82.9	-1.2	3 49	(2,0)
Nebraska	88.7	85.7	28	1.53	88.0	-2.3	2.58	(3,0)
Nevada	80.7	84.5	-4.8	2 64	82.1	2.0	3 25	(1,0)
New Hampshire	90.3	88.7	64*	1.26	89.2	-0.5	2.02	(4,0)
New Jersey	87.7	88.0	1 9	2 37	87.0	1.0	3 30	(3,0)
New Mexico	89.3	83.2	5.3*	2.07	86.5	-3.3	3.62	(0,0)
New York	83.7	01.2	_1.0	1 08	86.1	-0.0	2.36	(4,0)
North Carolina	87.5	80.7	-1.5	1.90	87.0	1.8	1 90	(2,1)
North Dakota	85.5	76.3	_0.9	1.25	80.6	-4.3	3.02	(3,0)
Obio	73.0	70.0	7.0*	+0.1 2 20	75.4	2.0	4 4 4	(2,0)
Oklahoma	78.8	67.8	-1.5	1 73	80.1	_0.9 _12.3 *	3.85	(1,0)
Orogon	70.0	95.9	-1.0	2.41	76.7	-12.5	3.00	(2,-1)
Poppsylvania	95.2	96.1	-3.1	2.41	70.7	9.1	3.27	(2,1)
Phodo Island	87.0	01.0	1.0	2.01	85.5 86.5	0.0	2.54	(3,0)
Courth Coroling	70.0	91.0	1.9	2.05	76.0	4.5	2.01	(2,0)
South Dakota	73.0	00.1	-10.9	2.14	70.0	11.3	2.02	(1,1)
Toppoooo	91.0	92.2	3.9	1.00	09.4 75.0	2.0	1.09	(4,0)
Termessee	70.1	09.4	10.7	2.93	75.0	-10.4	4.79	(2,-1)
Texas	00.2	02.8	-19.3	1.79	00.7	-2.9	2.85	(1,0)
Verment	0.00	04.4	5.2	1.00	00.0	-4.2	3.00	(4,0)
Vermont	80.4	86.4	-1.0	1.80	77.3	9.1 *	2.90	(2,1)
virgifila	/1.6	/4.1	-12.4 *	2.59	/2.9	1.2	3.46	(1,0)
washington	85.4	85.7	5.1 ^	1./2	87.0	-1.3	2.50	(4,0)
west virginia	88.5	91.6	3.0*	1.42	90.6	1.0	1.64	(3,0)
vvisconsin	88.3	85.5	5.2*	1.94	88.2	-2.7	2.92	(4,0)
vvyoming	91.8	89.6	7.2*	1.37	89.4	0.2	2.14	(4,0)

Table 13. Actual and second-period predicted percentages of students with disabilities in<br/>NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments, starting point and change measures,<br/>using state-specific approach: By state, 2005 and 2007

<sup>1</sup> In the state-specific approach, the *change measure* is, by construction, the difference between the 2007 actual and 2007 predicted rates.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

Actual ra			Starting	point	Dradiated	2005-07	2005–07 Change measure <sup>1</sup>		
	Actual ra	ites	measure	-2005	Predicted	meas	ure	Composite	
State	2005	2007	Estimated	Std error	2007	Change	Std error	Index	
Alabama	92.3	76.8	11.9*	1.89	91.5	-14.7 *	4.41	(4,-1)	
Alaska	84.2	63.1	4.3 *	1.89	81.2	-18.1 *	3.91	(3,-1)	
Arizona	71.4	75.3	-7.7 *	3.89	71.1	4.2	5.68	(1,0)	
Arkansas	80.2	81.7	4.4 *	2.20	78.8	2.9	3.45	(3,0)	
California	84.4	83.0	4.6 *	1.55	85.9	-2.9	2.64	(3,0)	
Colorado	83.9	87.2	5.0 *	1.96	82.4	4.8	2.97	(3,0)	
Connecticut	83.7	90.7	1.6	1.37	83.2	7.5 *	2.64	(2,1)	
Delaware	34.1	57.1	-39.8 *	2.07	35.3	21.8 *	3.28	(1,1)	
District of Columbia	71.2	45.7	-1.4	2.32	72.0	-26.3 *	3.47	(2,-1)	
Florida	85.6	83.5	5.9 *	2.23	86.3	-2.8	2.81	(4,0)	
Georgia	82.0	50.2	1.2	2.42	86.0	-35.8 *	3.85	(2,-1)	
Hawaii	86.1	90.8	5.6 *	1.73	88.0	2.8	2.23	(3,0)	
Idaho	86.3	86.6	9.0 *	1.69	87.4	-0.8	2.28	(4,0)	
Illinois	83.7	65.6	5.8 *	2.32	83.3	-17.7 *	4.59	(4,-1)	
Indiana	76.5	63.8	-1.9	2.47	78.2	-14.4 *	4.46	(2,-1)	
lowa	83.8	84.2	6.0 *	2.01	84.2	0.0	3.44	(4,0)	
Kansas	76.6	69.5	1.7	2.61	72.4	-2.9	4.13	(2,0)	
Kentucky	72.7	51.5	-5.4 *	2.49	70.6	–19.1 *	4.79	(1,–1)	
Louisiana	70.7	74.1	-6.0	4.35	66.3	7.8	5.69	(1,0)	
Maine	75.2	71.9	-0.5	2.29	77.1	-5.2	3.66	(2,0)	
Maryland	67.2	38.3	-9.1 *	3.71	63.6	-25.3 *	5.23	(1,-1)	
Massachusetts	68.6	49.4	-9.3 *	2.65	64.1	-14.7 *	4.32	(1,-1)	
Michigan	69.4	69.1	-8.2 *	2.94	65.5	3.6	4.47	(1,0)	
Minnesota	85.5	83.4	7.8 *	1.82	84.7	-1.3	2.76	(4,0)	
Mississippi	68.6	78.5	–13.5 *	3.91	76.1	2.4	4.09	(1,0)	
Missouri	72.5	65.4	-2.6	2.73	72.2	-6.8	4.20	(2,0)	
Montana	84.2	77.3	4.9 *	1.64	84.9	-7.6 *	3.07	(3,-1)	
Nebraska	91.1	83.0	8.9 *	1.43	91.0	-8.0 *	2.47	(4,-1)	
Nevada	82.4	73.8	0.5	2.55	82.6	-8.8	4.78	(2,0)	
New Hampshire	87.9	83.3	8.1 *	1.59	87.3	-4.0	2.58	(4,0)	
New Jersey	83.1	82.7	1.9	2.70	84.5	-1.8	3.75	(3,0)	
New Mexico	87.1	83.5	7.5 *	1.65	80.7	2.8	3.59	(4,0)	
New York	81.2	79.3	0.0	2.23	82.9	-3.6	3.47	(2,0)	
North Carolina	85.8	86.7	4.7 *	1.90	86.7	0.0	1.99	(3,0)	
North Dakota	74.0	58.1	-2.9	1.98	73.2	-15.1 *	3.10	(2,-1)	
Ohio	59.9	53.6	–13.2 *	3.82	59.0	-5.4	5.00	(1,0)	
Oklahoma	76.5	44.9	1.0	2.38	76.2	-31.3 *	4.21	(2,-1)	
Oregon	82.1	78.0	7.4 *	1.66	85.0	-7.0 *	3.37	(4,-1)	
Pennsylvania	80.8	77.9	3.2	2.73	81.0	-3.1	4.43	(3,0)	
Rhode Island	85.1	88.0	3.1 *	1.55	85.8	2.2	2.37	(3,0)	
South Carolina	59.2	60.2	-20.8 *	3.43	66.0	-5.8	5.19	(1,0)	
South Dakota	82.9	78.3	5.8 *	1.45	82.4	-4.1	2.83	(3,0)	
Tennessee	68.7	47.0	-4.6	2.86	69.1	-22.1 *	5.17	(2,-1)	
Texas	61.0	58.5	-18.6 *	2.48	59.9	-1.4	3.52	(1,0)	
Utah	82.4	77.1	6.2*	1.68	81.8	-4.7	3.35	(4,0)	
Vermont	79.2	78.0	1.8	1.61	75.8	2.2	2.49	(2,0)	
Virginia	70.9	58.9	-10.2 *	2.81	69.1	-10.2 *	4.10	(1,-1)	
Washington	83.0	73.1	6.9 *	2.24	80.8	-7.7 *	3.76	(41)	
West Virginia	83.0	88.9	2.0	1.74	85.4	3.5	2.18	(3.0)	
Wisconsin	78.7	73.6	5.0 *	2.06	76.5	-2.9	4.21	(3.0)	
Wyoming	89.4	84.7	9.3 *	1.84	87.0	-2.3	2.79	(4,0)	

Table 14.Actual and second-period predicted percentages of students with disabilities in<br/>NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments, starting point and change measures,<br/>using state-specific approach: By state, 2005 and 2007

<sup>1</sup> In the state-specific approach, the *change measure* is, by construction, the difference between the 2007 actual and 2007 predicted rates.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

Actual rate		ites	Starting measure	point — 2005	Predicted	2005–07 meas	Change ure <sup>1</sup>	Composite
State	2005	2007	Estimated	Std error	2007	Change	Std error	Index <sup>2</sup>
Alabama	85.3	78.1	18.8 *	2.04	87.5	-9.4 *	2.94	(4,-1)
Alaska	84.5	80.9	16.4 *	2.63	84.8	-3.9	3.64	(4,0)
Arizona	66.7	74.9	-1.5	2.59	70.8	4.1	4.62	(2,0)
Arkansas	53.3	55.0	-9.5 *	3.24	55.5	-0.5	4.80	(1,0)
California	74.9	77.3	1.4	2.00	75.6	1.7	2.77	(3,0)
Colorado	78.6	79.9	12.9 *	2.25	76.7	3.2	2.82	(4,0)
Connecticut	78.5	85.1	7.7 *	2.52	79.3	5.8	3.30	(4,0)
Delaware	28.6	46.0	-34.0 *	2.16	27.5	18.5 *	2.72	(1,1)
District of Columbia	57.7	28.6	0.7	2.59	58.6	-30.0 *	3.39	(2,-1)
Florida	76.0	77.3	3.2	2.58	76.0	1.3	3.43	(3,0)
Georgia	59.7	43.4	-6.1 *	3.00	60.9	–17.5 *	4.22	(2,-1)
Hawaii	82.5	77.1	12.9 *	2.35	82.4	-5.3	3.79	(4.0)
Idaho	72.2	77.2	6.1 *	2.60	70.6	6.6	4.49	(3.0)
Illinois	65.3	67.5	-1.0	2.72	65.1	2.4	4.56	(2.0)
Indiana	75.2	77.6	5.4 *	2.74	77.0	0.6	4.37	(3.0)
lowa	65.2	71.2	2.5	3.44	66.7	4.5	4.98	(3.0)
Kansas	77.4	62.4	13.0*	2 48	76.5	-14.1 *	4 24	(4-1)
Kentucky	45.4	53.1	-17.0*	2 29	54.0	-0.9	3 48	(1, 1)
Louisiana	41.2	79.3	-27.1 *	3 77	47.7	31.6*	7.57	(1,0)
Maine	65.8	69.5	-2.9	2.57	62.0	7.5*	3 47	(2,1)
Maryland	63.3	51.4	_6.0*	2.07	62.6	_11.2*	3 52	(2 – 1)
Massachusetts	67.2	72.1	-2.1	2.40	64.5	76*	3.37	(2, 1)
Michigan	52.3	68.2	_12.5*	3 39	50.5	17.0	4 58	(2,1)
Minnesota	84.5	77.1	12.5	1 78	84.2	_7.1 *	2 75	(1,1)
Mississioni	66.9	77.6	-9.0 *	2 97	69.4	8.2*	4 16	(1, 1)
Missouri	55.8	78.0	_10.6*	2.07	57.0	21.0 *	3.62	(1,1)
Montana	61.1	64.8	-0.1	2.00	59.3	5.5	4 65	(2,0)
Nehraska	75.2	72.1	-0.1	2.50	75.0	_2 9	3 74	(2,0)
Nevada	60.4	70.1	-6.0	3 20	65.2	4 9	4 58	(2,0)
New Hampshire	83.0	79.8	12.6*	2.26	82.6	-2.8	3.56	(2,0)
New Jersey	73.8	61.7	65	3.46	74.6	_12.0*	5.62	(1,0)
New Jersey	64.4	54.2	0.5	3.40	64.1	-12.9	5.02	(3,-1)
New Vork	74.5	72.5	-2.0	2.44	76.2	-3.5	4.05	(2,0)
North Carolina	92.2	97.6	12.0*	1 77	92.7	-0.7	4.05	(3,0)
North Dakota	64.7	46.2	_4.8 *	1.77	61.0	_14.8*	3.08	(4,0)
Ohio	40.9	40.2 E0.6	-4.0	0.79	45.0	-14.0	4.67	(2,-1)
Oklahoma	40.0	50.0	-10.0	2.70	40.0	12.4*	4.07	(1,0)
Oragon	72.5	74.0	0.2	2.30	72.2	-13.4	4.44	(3,-1)
Poppsylvania	72.2	74.3	0.4	2.04	70.0	4.3	3.49	(2,0)
Phodo Jolond	73.3	02.0	16.0*	2.00	75.5	-1.3	0.90	(3,0)
	61.1	02.9 70.7	10.2	1.03	60.7	-3.0	2.02	(4,0)
South Dekete	71.4	13.1	-10.5	2.42	02.7	11.0	0.92	(1,1)
Souli Dakola	71.4	00.2	3.8	1.77	12.0	-0.4	2.71	(3,-1)
Tennessee	38.4	37.0	-18.8	4.50	42.2	-5.2	5.1Z	(1,0)
l exas	38.5	51.7	-15.3	2.08	59.3	-7.0	3.20	(1,-1)
Verment	72.0	02.8	4.1	2.28	/ 1.1	-8.3	4.57	(3,0)
Vermont	68.4	67.0	6.1 *	2.11	68.4	-1.4	2.93	(3,0)
virginia	36.8	55.5	-26.3*	2.60	39.2	16.3*	4.24	(1,1)
wasnington	/6.8	/2.5	11.4 *	2.98	78.0	-5.5	3.84	(4,0)
west virginia	69.1	91.0	-2.4	2.32	70.2	20.8*	2.82	(2,1)
Wisconsin	/1./	72.4	1.1*	3.04	/3.6	-1.2	4.00	(4,0)
vvyoming	90.4	78.6	21.1*	1.45	89.5	-10.9 *	2.38	(4,-1)

Table 15.Actual and second-period predicted percentages of students with disabilities in<br/>NAEP grade 4 reading assessments, starting point and change measures, using<br/>state-specific approach: By state, 2005 and 2007

<sup>1</sup> In the state-specific approach, the *change measure* is, by construction, the difference between the 2007 actual and 2007 predicted rates.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

Actual rates		ites	Starting measure	point — 2005	Predicted	2005–07 meas	Change ure <sup>1</sup>	Composite
State	2005	2007	Estimated	Std error	2007	Change	Std error	Index <sup>2</sup>
Alabama	88.0	74.2	14.4 *	2.30	87.4	-13.2 *	4.70	(4,-1)
Alaska	88.0	84.1	14.4 *	1.46	87.4	-3.3	2.41	(4,0)
Arizona	73.3	67.3	4.4	2.54	71.3	-4.0	5.81	(3,0)
Arkansas	62.0	62.1	-1.1	3.43	63.9	-1.8	5.41	(2,0)
California	80.1	80.3	7.6*	1.75	82.9	-2.6	2.73	(3,0)
Colorado	76.7	78.1	7.0*	2.78	78.8	-0.7	3.43	(3,0)
Connecticut	84.4	87.0	8.1 *	1.79	85.2	1.8	2.82	(3,0)
Delaware	33.3	62.6	-31.4 *	2.63	37.4	25.2*	3.32	(1,1)
District of Columbia	62.1	33.6	-2.3	2.06	59.7	-26.1 *	3.09	(21)
Florida	80.2	83.5	7.0 *	1.84	81.2	2.3	2.32	(3.0)
Georgia	62.4	45.0	-8.6*	3.47	66.0	-21.0*	4.66	(2.–1)
Hawaii	82.4	87.6	8.9*	1.81	83.1	4.5	2.36	(4.0)
Idaho	81.5	74.9	9.7*	2.18	77.2	-2.3	4.04	(4,0)
Illinois	72.4	72.4	4.5	3 25	70.3	21	4 52	(3,0)
Indiana	73.5	70.9	1.8	2.66	73.9	-3.0	4 25	(2,0)
lowa	75.9	71.7	54*	2 24	74.4	-27	3.88	(3,0)
Kansas	72.6	65.9	6.1	3.00	74.9	_9.0 *	4 02	(3,-1)
Kentucky	44.8	42.4	_18.9 *	2 90	48.5	-6.1	4.60	(0, 1)
Louisiana	49.8	80.1	-19.6*	3.86	52.9	0.1 27.2 *	4.00	(1,0)
Maine	45.0 65.9	67.9	-19.0	2 30	65.8	21.2	4.50	(1,1)
Manyland	60.1	47.9	-0.4	2.00	60.2	2.1	4 92	(2,0) (2,1)
Massachusotts	69.1	47.0 69.7	0.0	3.00	70.4	-21.4	4.02	(2,-1)
Michigan	09.0 56 1	62.4	-2.0	2.01	58.0	-1.7	4.34	(2,0)
Minnosota	20.1	72.0	-11.0	1 02	84.1	10.4	4.70	(1,0)
Mississioni	58.0	63.2	-16.9*	1.92	64.0	-10.9	5.00	(4,-1)
Mississippi	40.5	76 1	-10.5	2.00	10.8	-0.0 06.2 *	4.10	(1,0)
Mastana	49.5	70.1	-15.4	3.39	49.0	20.3	4.12	(1,1)
Nobraska	77.2	72.0	-1.2	2.40	80.0	1.7	3.90	(2,0)
Neveda	74.7	73.0 60 E	0.7	1.04	70.0 70.7	-0.2	3.17	(4,0)
Nevaua New Hempehire	74.7	09.5	1.0	2.30	12.1	-3.2	4.04	(2,0)
	07.7	00.7	12.9	1.29	70.2	-7.5	2.32	(4,-1)
New Jersey	78.5	64.7	4.6	2.92	70.7	-14.0 *	5.03	(3,-1)
	68.7	60.5	-2.8	2.58	09.5	-9.0 *	3.74	(2,-1)
New York	65.2	66.8	-5.3	2.77	71.0	-4.8	4.69	(2,0)
North Carolina	80.9	83.2	8.4 *	2.27	01.0 52.7	1.4	2.93	(4,0)
	55.9	38.7	-11.6	2.07	53.7	-15.0 "	3.27	(1,-1)
Ohio	50.8	50.9	-15.2*	3.43	50.3	0.6	4.50	(1,0)
Oklanoma	74.2	59.3	7.0 ^	2.64	70.3	-17.0 ^	3.84	(3,-1)
Oregon	77.4	81.5	8.4 *	1.63	//./	3.8	4.06	(4,0)
Pennsylvania	79.3	/3.8	9.2*	2.62	80.7	-6.9	3.90	(4,0)
Rhode Island	84.6	85.3	9.9*	1.15	85.6	-0.3	1.82	(4,0)
South Carolina	52.2	57.2	-17.8 *	3.33	60.4	-3.2	5.45	(1,0)
South Dakota	73.0	50.6	8.6*	2.15	/4.4	-23.8 *	3.80	(4,-1)
Tennessee	43.4	40.7	–19.0 *	3.45	46.4	-5.7	5.49	(1,0)
Texas	63.1	56.6	–10.9 *	1.80	62.3	-5.7 *	2.72	(1,-1)
Utah	72.1	61.2	3.1	2.70	67.2	-6.0	4.46	(2,0)
Vermont	77.5	73.7	6.9 *	1.62	79.1	-5.4 *	2.33	(3,-1)
Virginia	54.9	55.9	–16.3 *	2.32	58.9	-3.0	4.04	(1,0)
Washington	72.5	67.5	5.7 *	2.75	73.6	-6.1	4.09	(3,0)
West Virginia	62.7	86.6	-6.1 *	2.91	67.4	19.2*	3.68	(2,1)
Wisconsin	68.3	62.9	3.3	3.06	63.3	-0.4	4.82	(3,0)
Wyoming	81.6	76.7	9.4 *	2.08	80.0	-3.3	3.23	(4,0)

Table 16.Actual and second-period predicted percentages of students with disabilities in<br/>NAEP grade 8 reading assessments, starting point and change measures, using<br/>state-specific approach: By state, 2005 and 2007

<sup>1</sup> In the state-specific approach, the *change measure* is, by construction, the difference between the 2007 actual and 2007 predicted rates.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

_	Grade 4						Grade 8						
Starting	Nation-based			Sta	State-specific			Nation-based			State-specific		
Quartile	•	=		•	=		•	=		•	=		
4 more inclusive	2	11	0	2	11	0	5	8	0	5	8	0	
3	2	11	0	3	9	1	2	11	0	2	11	0	
2	3	6	4	2	8	3	6	6	1	6	6	1	
1 less inclusive	1	8	3	0	8	4	4	7	1	4	7	1	
Overall	8	36	7	7	36	8	17	32	2	17	32	2	

# Table 17. Number of states in each composite index score category by estimationapproach based on NAEP grades 4 and 8 mathematics assessments: 2005 and2007

A Measure of change is positive and statistically significant indicating higher inclusion rates (p < .05).

= Measure of change is not statistically significant (p < .05).

• Measure of change is negative and statistically significant indicating lower inclusion rates (p < .05).

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) 2005 and 2007 Mathematics Assessments.

		Grade 4						Grade 8					
Starting	Nation-based			Sta	State-specific			Nation-based			State-specific		
Quartile	•	=		•	=		•	=		•	=		
4 more inclusive	8	5	0	4	9	0	7	6	0	4	9	0	
3	6	7	0	3	10	0	7	6	0	4	9	0	
2	4	8	1	4	6	3	6	6	1	4	8	1	
1 less inclusive	0	5	7	1	4	7	1	8	3	2	7	3	
Overall	18	25	8	12	29	10	21	26	4	14	33	4	

# Table 18. Number of states in each composite index score category by estimationapproach based on NAEP grades 4 and 8 reading assessments: 2005 and 2007

• Measure of change is positive and statistically significant indicating higher inclusion rates (p < .05).

= Measure of change is not statistically significant (p < .05).

• Measure of change is negative and statistically significant indicating lower inclusion rates (p < .05).

	Grade 4											
Starting		Nation-based			State-specific							
Quartile	•	=			•	=						
4 more inclusive	AR, ID	AL, AK, HI, IN, KS, NH, NM, UT, WA, WI, WY			ID, IN	AL, AK, AR, KS, NH, NM, SD, UT, WA, WI, WY						
3	IL, MO	CO, FL, GA, IA, MN, NE, NJ, NC, PA, SD, WV			ga, IL, Mo	CO, FL, HI, MN, NE, NJ, NC, PA, WV	IA					
2	ND, OK, TN	KY, LA, MA, ME, MT, RI	CT, NY, OR, VT		OK, TN	CT, KY, LA, ME, MA, MT, ND, RI	NY, OR, VT					
1 less inclusive	MD	AZ, CA, DC, MI, NV, OH, TX, VA	DE, MS, SC			AZ, DC, MD, MI, NV, OH, TX, VA	CA, DE, MS, SC					
Total	8	36	7		7	36	8					

#### Table 19. States in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments: 2005 and 2007

• Measure of change is positive and statistically significant indicating higher inclusion rates (p < .05).

= Measure of change is not statistically significant (p < .05).

• Measure of change is negative and statistically significant indicating lower inclusion rates (p < .05).

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) 2005 and 2007 Mathematics Assessments.

	Grade 8										
Starting		Nation-based			State-specific						
Quartile	•	=		•	=						
4 more inclusive	AL, NE, NH, OR, WA	FL, ID, IA, MN, NM, SD, UT, WY		AL, IL, NE, OR, WA	FL, ID, IA, MN, NH, NM, UT, WY						
3	AK, IL	AR, CA, CO, HI, MT, NJ, NC, PA, RI, VT, WI		AK, MT	AR, CA, CO, HI, NJ, NC, PA, RI, SD, WV, WI						
2	DC, GA, IN, ND, OK, TN	KS, ME, MO, NV, NY, WV	СТ	DC, GA, IN, ND, OK, TN	KS, ME, MO, NV, NY, VT	СТ					
1 less inclusive	KY, MD, MA, VA	AZ, LA, MI, MS, OH, SC, TX	DE	KY, MD, MA, VA	AZ, LA, MI, MS, OH, SC, TX	DE					
Total	17	32	2	17	32	2					

#### Table 20. States in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments: 2005 and 2007

• Measure of change is positive and statistically significant indicating higher inclusion rates (p < .05).

= Measure of change is not statistically significant (p < .05).

• Measure of change is negative and statistically significant indicating lower inclusion rates (p < .05).

	Grade 4										
Starting		Nation-based			State-specific						
Quartile	•	=		•	=						
4 more inclusive	AL, KS, MN, NH, RI, WA, WI, WY	AK, CO, HI, NC, PA		AL, KS, MN, WY	AK, CO, CT, HI, NH, NC, RI, WA, WI						
3	DC, NJ, OK, SD, UT, VT	CT, FL, ID, IN, IA, NE, NY		NJ, OK, SD	CA, FL, ID, IN, IA, NE, NY, PA, UT, VT						
2	GA, MD, NM, ND	AZ, CA, IL, ME, MA, MT, NV, OR	WV	DC, GA, MD, ND	AZ, IL, MT, NV, NM, OR	ME, MA, WV					
1 less inclusive		AR, KY, OH, TN, TX	DE, LA, MI, MS, MO, SC, VA	тх	AR, KY, OH, TN	DE, LA, MI, MS, MO, SC, VA					
Total	18	25	8	12	29	10					

#### Table 21. States in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grade 4 reading assessments: 2005 and 2007

• Measure of change is positive and statistically significant indicating higher inclusion rates (p < .05).

= Measure of change is not statistically significant (p < .05).

• Measure of change is negative and statistically significant indicating lower inclusion rates (p < .05).

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) 2005 and 2007 Reading Assessments.

	Grade 8								
Starting		Nation-based			State-specific				
Quartile	•	=			•	=			
4 more inclusive	AL, ID, MN, NE, NH, PA, SD	AK, HI, NC, OR, RI, WY			AL, MN, NH, SD	AK, HI, ID, NE, NC, OR, PA, RI, WY			
3	AZ, IA, KS, NJ, OK, VT, WA	CA, CO, CT, FL, IL, WI		• •	KS, NJ, OK, VT	AZ, CA, CO, CT, FL, IL, IA, WA, WI			
2	AR, DC, GA, MD, NM, UT	IN, ME, MA, MT, NV, NY	WV		DC, GA, MD, NM	AR, IN, ME, MA, MT, NV, NY, UT	WV		
1 less inclusive	ND	KY, MI, MS, OH, SC, TN, TX, VA	DE, LA, MO		ND, TX	KY, MI, MS, OH, SC, TN, VA	DE, LA, MO		
Total	21	26	4		14	33	4		

#### Table 22. States in each composite index score category by estimation approach based on NAEP grade 8 reading assessments: 2005 and 2007

• Measure of change is positive and statistically significant indicating higher inclusion rates (p < .05).

= Measure of change is not statistically significant (p < .05).

• Measure of change is negative and statistically significant indicating lower inclusion rates (p < .05). SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) 2005 and 2007 Reading Assessments.

### STATE-SPECIFIC RESULTS

Results for the state-specific approach are presented in tables 13 through  $16.^{26}$  Likelihood ratio tests were all significant at the .01 level indicating all models fit well, but pseudo  $R^2$  statistics were low for a few states and high in others. Logit pseudo  $R^2$  statistics ranges were .18 to .70 for mathematics grade 4, .13 to .60 for grade 8, .16 to .67 for reading grade 4, and .14 to .34 for reading grade 8. These mixed results indicate that the model may not explain a large amount of the variation in inclusion. The consequence for our analysis of poor fit is that the portion of the difference in actual inclusion rates across time explained by the controls will be smaller and the portion of the difference captured by our change measure will be larger. This will lead to larger magnitudes, negative and positive, in the change measure.

As shown in the first row of table 13, in 2005, Alabama included 89.6 percent of the state's SD students in 2005 and 88.3 percent in 2007. Alabama, as reported in the third column, had an inclusion rate that was 7.5 percentage points above the average of all states if all states had had the same characteristics as Alabama. This starting point measure was statistically different from zero at the 5 percent level. The fifth and sixth columns show Alabama's measure of change, -1.2, and its standard error, 2.62. This change was not statistically significant. Alabama had a starting point measure that placed it in the top quartile and a change score of 0; therefore, it had a composite index score of (4,0) as indicated in the last column.

The results in tables 13 through 16 generally follow patterns similar to those in tables 9 through 12, although there were slightly fewer statistically significant changes between 2005 and 2007 here. The numbers of states that were more inclusive of SDs in 2007 than in 2005 were again generally outnumbered by the numbers of states that were less inclusive:

- For grade 4 mathematics, 8 states were significantly more inclusive in 2007 than in 2005, and 7 states were less inclusive.
- For grade 8 mathematics, 2 states were significantly more inclusive, and 17 states were significantly less inclusive.
- For grade 4 reading, 10 states were significantly more inclusive, and 12 states were significantly less inclusive.
- For grade 8 reading, 4 states were significantly more inclusive, and 14 states were significantly less inclusive.

As in the nation-based analysis, states that were more inclusive in 2007 had starting point measures that placed them in the lowest two quartiles, as shown in tables 17 and 18. Many of the states that had negative significant change were located in upper quartiles but again were spread out among other quartiles. Tables 19 through 22 display the results with each state's abbreviation in the appropriate bin. As in tables 17 and 18, the rows in tables 19 through 22 indicate different starting points, and the columns indicate different directions of change. Upper rows are states with higher starting point indicating that they are relatively more inclusive. The left column signifies negative significant change, the right column signifies positive significant change, and the center column shows states with no significant change.

#### COMPARISON OF NATION-BASED AND STATE-SPECIFIC RESULTS

Looking at the raw change and starting point measures, the two approaches produce very similar results. The correlation between the nation-based and state-specific state-level change measures is greater than .95 for each subject and grade. The correlation between nation-based

<sup>26</sup> Results for changes from 2003 to 2005 using the state-specific approach are in appendix tables B-5 through B-8.

and state-specific starting point measures is even higher at greater than .99 for each grade and subject.

Looking at the composite index scores, results for the two approaches are again generally the same but with some differences. When there are differences, they are most often due to differing statistical significance of the change measure. The nation-based approach finds more states becoming less inclusive, particularly in reading as shown in table 18, but they both find roughly the same number of states becoming more inclusive. Because the approaches for comparing the inclusion rates among states in the initial period are very similar, it is not surprising to find only a few discrepancies in the composite index score that are due to differences in the starting point quartile. As an example, comparing the results for mathematics grade 4 in table 9 for the nation-based approach and table 13 for the state-specific approach, 8 states differ in their composite index score because of differences in the significance of the change measure, but only 2 differ because of differences in the quartile of the index comparing states' inclusion rates.

# SUMMARY

In response to concerns that rates of inclusion of students with disabilities on NAEP differ among states, we have developed two approaches using Oaxaca-Blinder decomposition techniques for measuring change in inclusion rates over time. These approaches measure change over time, holding constant both the proportion of students with different types and severities of disabilities and whether the student received an accommodation on the state assessment that is not allowed on NAEP. The approaches differ in how the student-level predicted probabilities are set. Under the nation-based approach, student-level predicted probabilities are set by a regression model that is estimated using observations from all states in the initial period. Under the state-specific approach, student-level predicted probabilities are set for each state separately using regression estimates for individual states in the initial period. For both approaches, we compare state inclusion rates in the initial period against each other to provide a *context* for the measured change. We expect states starting with higher relative inclusion rates to have less change than states starting out with lower relative inclusion rates. To make these two measures, one of the starting point and the other of change over time, easier to understand, a partition of the starting point vs. change space was introduced. The composite score index brings the partitions of these two measures together.

The measures developed in this study are limited by the validity of the variables used for identifying different types of students. To the extent that variables describing student characteristics are measured with error, our ability to control for changes in the distribution of students among these types is limited. Were we to have perfect measures, it is possible that we would see more captured by our controls and less captured in the change measure.

Between 2005 and 2007, in about one-third of the states there were significant changes in inclusion rates for the mathematics assessments, and in about one-half of the states there were significant changes in inclusion rates in the reading assessments. Overall, more states had, after adjusting for differences in SD populations, lower inclusion rates than higher inclusion rates of students with disabilities on NAEP in 2007 than 2005 except in grade 4 mathematics, where the numbers were about the same from 2005 to 2007. The nation-based approach identified more states as having a significant reduction in their inclusion rates than the state-specific approach did. Differences generally lay in differing significance levels of the estimated change measure. Differences in starting point quartile were relatively rare: in mathematics grade 4, two states switched quartiles; in mathematics grade 8, four states switched; in reading grade 4, four states switched; and in reading grade 8, zero states switched. Most states did not have statistically significant changes in their rate of inclusion. Most of the significant changes were in the direction of decreasing inclusion in 2007 compared with 2005. Those states that had increased their inclusion rates from 2005 to 2007 had relatively low initial inclusion rates in 2005.
### REFERENCES

- Blinder, A. S. (1973). Wage Discrimination: Reduced Form and Structural Variables. *Journal of Human Resources*, 8: 436–455.
- Fairlie, R. W. (2003). An Extension of the Blinder-Oaxaca Decomposition Technique to Logit and Probit Models (Discussion Paper No. 873). New Haven, CT: Yale University Economic Growth Center.
- Forgione Jr., P. D. (1999). *Issues Surrounding the Release of the 1998 NAEP Reading Report Card.* Testimony to the Committee on Education and the Workforce, U.S. House of Representatives, on May 27, 1999. Retrieved March 16, 2006 from <u>http://www.house.gov/ed\_workforce/hearings/106th/oi/naep52799/forgione.htm</u>.
- Jones, M. P. (1996, March). Indicator and Stratification Methods for Missing Explanatory Variables in Multiple Linear Regression. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 91: 222–230.
- McLaughlin, D. H. (2000). *Protecting State NAEP Trends from Changes in SD/LEP Inclusion Rates* (Report to the National Institute of Statistical Sciences). Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research.
- McLaughlin, D. H. (2001). Exclusions and Accommodations Affect State NAEP Gain Statistics: Mathematics, 1996 to 2000 (appendix to chapter 4 in the NAEP Validity Studies Report on Research Priorities). Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research.
- McLaughlin, D. H. (2003). Full Population Estimates of Reading Gains Between 1998 and 2002 (Report to NCES supporting inclusion of full population estimates in the report of the 2002 NAEP reading assessment). Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research.
- Nagelkerke, N. J. D. (1991). A Note on a General Definition of the Coefficient of Determination. *Biometrika*, 78: 691-692.
- National Assessment of Educational Progress Authorization Act of 2002. Retrieved April 1, 2008, from <u>http://www.nagb.org/about/plaw.html</u>.
- Oaxaca, R. (1973). Male-female Wage Differentials in Urban Labor Markets. *International Economic Review*, 14: 693–709.
- Reschly, D. J. (1996). Identification and Assessment of Students with Disabilities. *The Future* of Children, 6: 40-53.
- United States Department of Education. (2002). *No Child Left Behind: A Desktop Reference.* Washington, DC: Office of Elementary and Secondary Education.
- United States Government Accountability Office. (2005). *No Child Left Behind Act: Most Students with Disabilities Participated in Statewide Assessments, but Inclusion Options Could Be Improved* (GAO-05-618). Washington, DC: Author.
- Vach, W., and Blettner, M. (1991). Biased Estimation of the Odds Ratio in Case-Control Studies Due to the Use of Ad Hoc Methods of Correcting for Missing Values for Confounding Variables. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 134: 895–907.

### APPENDIX A. CALCULATION OF STANDARD ERRORS

Because of NAEP's complex sampling design, conventional formulas for estimating sampling variability that assume simple random sampling are inappropriate. Instead, NAEP provides 62 jackknife weights for a replication procedure that is used to estimate standard errors. Replication methods involve using the weights to construct a number of subsamples, or replicates, from the full sample and computing the statistic of interest for each replicate. The mean square error of the replicate estimates around the full sample estimate provides an estimate of the variance of the statistic.

In this report, the statistic of interest—the change measure—is constructed by the application of regression results estimated using data from one NAEP administration to find predicted probabilities of inclusion for students with disabilities from a second NAEP administration. The standard errors we use in this report for statistical inference take into account error from two sources: (a) NAEP sampling error and (b) the regression estimates.

(a) Sampling error: Using one set of regression coefficients, we aggregate predicted probabilities for the 62 replicate samples.

First, we estimate the regression using initial-year data using NAEP sampling weights (ORIGWT). Using these regression results, we calculate predicted probabilities of inclusion for individual students with disabilities in the second-year data for the state-specific approach and for individual students with disabilities in the initial and second year for the nation-based approach. Then, we obtain the change measure by aggregating individual SD predicted probabilities to the state level using the sampling weights (ORIGWT). Finally, we estimate 62 replicate change measures by aggregating individual SD predicted probabilities to state level 62 times using their replicate weights (SRWT01 – SRWT62).

The error from sampling equals the square root of the sum of the 62 squared differences between the measures using each of the replicate weights and the measure using the sampling weight.

(b) Error from regression estimates: We obtain 62 sets of regression coefficients estimated using replicate sample and then aggregate the full sample for each of 62 sets of predicted probabilities.

First, we estimate the regression using initial-year data using NAEP sampling weights (ORIGWT). Then, we estimate the regression 62 times using initial-year data using the 62 NAEP replicate weights (SRWT01 – SRWT62). Using each of these regression results, we calculate predicted probabilities for individual SDs in second-year data for the state-specific approach, for individual SDs in the initial and second year in the nation-based approach. We obtain the change measure by aggregating individual SD sampling weight predicted probabilities to the state level using the sampling weights (ORIGWT). We obtain 62 replicate change measures by aggregating the 62 individual SD replicate-weight predicted probabilities to the state level using the sampling weights (ORIGWT).

The error from estimation equals the square root of the sum of the 62 squared differences between the measures using each of the replicate weights and the measure using the sampling weight.

The two sources of error, (a) and (b), are then combined to produce the standard error for our change measure: the square root of the sum of the squares of the two error sources. Significance of each statistic is tested using a simple t-test.

### APPENDIX B. CHANGES INCLUSION RATES FROM 2003 TO 2005

Prior to, and in anticipation of, the release of the 2007 NAEP results, the methodology presented in this report was developed using 2003 and 2005 NAEP data. These data were used to examine changes in state-level inclusion rates from 2003 to 2005 with 2003 as the initial period and 2005 as the second period. Results are presented in the following tables B-1 to B-10.

	Actual ra	ates	Predicted I	rates	Diff. from p	redicted <sup>1</sup>	Change	Standard	Composite
State	2003	2005	2003	2005	2003	2005	2003-05	error	index <sup>2</sup>
Alabama	85.8	89.6	75.9	74.0	9.9	15.6	5.7	3.13	(4,0)
Alaska	93.8	93.7	82.2	81.0	11.6	12.7	1.1	2.64	(4,0)
Arizona	72.6	80.3	79.6	80.4	-7.0	-0.1	7.0	4.02	(1,0)
Arkansas	90.7	86.3	75.5	73.6	15.2	12.6	-2.5	2.86	(4,0)
California	81.8	81.0	81.1	80.9	0.7	0.1	-0.6	3.35	(2,0)
Colorado	85.7	83.7	78.8	76.3	7.0	7.4	0.5	3.02	(3,0)
Connecticut	76.8	87.9	81.2	82.8	-4.4	5.1	9.5*	3.59	(1,1)
Delaware	61.4	58.4	78.9	80.3	-17.5	-21.9	-4.4	3.01	(1,0)
District of Columbia	73.8	67.7	70.6	67.9	3.2	-0.2	-3.4	3.22	(2,0)
Florida	90.3	88.6	79.8	81.3	10.5	7.2	-3.3	2.78	(4,0)
Georgia	86.8	87.9	80.4	80.9	6.4	7.0	0.6	2.69	(3,0)
Hawaii	86.5	85.2	80.0	75.6	6.5	9.6	3.1	3.36	(3,0)
Idaho	92.6	92.2	78.8	77.0	13.8	15.2	1.4	2.43	(4,0)
Illinois	85.1	86.5	81.8	79.4	3.3	7.1	3.8	3.19	(2,0)
Indiana	87.4	91.7	83.9	85.3	3.4	6.5	3.0	3.11	(2,0)
lowa	85.0	88.3	80.2	83.5	4.9	4.8	-0.1	2.88	(3,0)
Kansas	90.6	85.7	81.5	78.6	9.1	7.1	-2.0	2.66	(4,0)
Kentucky	79.0	83.7	74.5	77.6	4.5	6.0	1.6	3.87	(3,0)
Louisiana	86.0	83.8	81.1	85.0	4.9	-1.2	-6.1	4.86	(3,0)
Maine	83.1	83.0	79.1	78.4	4.0	4.6	0.5	3.10	(2,0)
Maryland	80.2	79.4	81.1	78.6	-1.0	0.8	1.7	3.87	(1,0)
Massachusetts	89.5	83.9	80.1	81.9	9.4	2.0	-7.5*	2.85	(4,-1)
Michigan	66.6	74.6	77.3	78.4	-10.7	-3.8	6.9	4.07	(1,0)
Minnesota	83.3	86.3	80.5	80.6	2.8	5.8	3.0	3.18	(2,0)
Mississippi	49.5	80.4	79.7	84.3	-30.2	-3.8	26.4*	4.06	(1,1)
Missouri	79.6	87.2	82.3	81.7	-2.6	5.5	8.1*	3.49	(1,1)
Montana	86.0	83.4	80.0	78.4	5.9	4.9	-1.0	3.59	(3,0)
Nebraska	87.5	88.7	83.8	84.0	3.7	4.8	1.1	2.66	(2,0)
Nevada	81.0	80.7	79.0	79.2	2.0	1.6	-0.4	4.32	(2,0)
New Hampshire	86.2	90.3	81.1	80.1	5.1	10.2	5.0	2.76	(3,0)
New Jersey	90.4	87.7	82.1	80.4	8.2	7.3	-1.0	4.14	(4,0)
New Mexico	90.1	89.3	77.5	78.5	12.5	10.8	-1.7	3.44	(4,0)
New York	82.1	83.7	82.2	78.5	0.0	5.2	5.2	4.34	(1,0)
North Carolina	79.1	87.5	77.7	80.9	1.4	6.6	5.2*	2.61	(2,1)
North Dakota	89.5	85.5	82.8	83.5	6.7	2.0	-4.7*	2.21	(3,–1)
Ohio	66.4	73.0	72.5	76.4	-6.1	-3.4	2.7	5.49	(1,0)
Oklahoma	82.5	78.8	78.8	75.8	3.7	3.0	-0.7	3.07	(2,0)
Oregon	81.7	78.7	80.2	78.3	1.6	0.4	-1.2	3.32	(2,0)
Pennsylvania	84.8	85.3	79.3	78.6	5.5	6.7	1.2	3.97	(3,0)
Rhode Island	93.1	87.9	82.3	83.2	10.8	4.7	-6.1*	2.70	(4,-1)
South Carolina	63.7	73.8	80.8	79.6	-17.1	-5.8	11.3*	3.39	(1,1)
South Dakota	91.0	91.0	83.5	85.4	7.5	5.6	-1.9	2.11	(4,0)
Tennessee	82.3	76.1	75.2	71.0	7.1	5.1	-2.0	4.26	(4,0)
Texas	52.6	65.2	76.0	77.6	-23.5	-12.5	11.0*	3.53	(1,1)
Utah	85.7	88.6	81.3	80.2	4.4	8.4	4.0	3.03	(3,0)
Vermont	78.2	80.4	75.8	75.3	2.4	5.1	2.7	2.79	(2,0)
Virginia	66.6	71.6	80.2	81.3	-13.6	-9.7	3.9	4.24	(1,0)
Washington	83.1	85.4	76.8	75.3	6.3	10.1	3.7	3.13	(3,0)
West Virginia	81.0	88.5	79.7	81.2	1.3	7.3	6.0	3.18	(2,0)
Wisconsin	80.3	88.3	76.1	78.7	4.2	9.6	5.4	3.21	(3,0)
Wyoming	92.7	91.8	83.1	80.1	9.6	11.7	2.1	2.35	(4,0)

 
 Table B-1. Percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach: By state, 2003 and 2005

\* Significantly different from zero (p < .05).

# Estimate rounds to zero.

<sup>1</sup> The 2003 *difference from predicted* is also the *starting point* measure.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Actual ra	ates	Predicted	rates	Diff. from p	redicted <sup>1</sup>	Change	Standard C	omposite
State	2003	2005	2003	2005	2003	2005	2003-05	error	index <sup>2</sup>
Alabama	85.6	92.3	75.2	78.4	10.3	13.9	3.5	3.16	(4,0)
Alaska	93.3	84.2	80.5	79.9	12.8	4.3	-8.5 *	2.34	(4,-1)
Arizona	80.3	71.4	80.5	80.9	-0.2	-9.5	-9.3	5.13	(2,0)
Arkansas	90.7	80.2	75.3	74.6	15.5	5.6	-9.8 *	2.91	(4,-1)
California	89.6	84.4	80.0	79.4	9.7	5.0	-4.6	2.54	(4,0)
Colorado	89.7	83.9	79.7	77.8	10.0	6.0	-4.0	3.00	(4,0)
Connecticut	77.6	83.7	81.0	81.5	-3.4	2.3	5.7 *	2.55	(2,1)
Delaware	48.3	34.1	73.7	77.7	-25.5	-43.5	–18.1 *	3.51	(1,-1)
District of Columbia	68.8	71.2	71.6	71.7	-2.8	-0.5	2.4	3.39	(2,0)
Florida	88.1	85.6	78.4	80.4	9.6	5.2	-4.4	2.73	(4,0)
Georgia	86.9	82.0	79.5	80.3	7.4	1.7	-5.7	3.59	(3.0)
Hawaii	84.2	86.1	79.6	79.7	4.6	6.4	1.8	2.71	(2,0)
Idaho	95.7	86.3	81.6	76.9	14.1	9.4	-4.7	2.59	(4.0)
Illinois	77.3	83.7	77.5	79.7	-0.2	3.9	4.2	3.50	(2.0)
Indiana	84.1	76.5	80.0	82.3	4.2	-5.9	-10.0 *	3.45	(21)
lowa	85.7	83.8	80.3	80.2	54	3.6	-1.8	3.03	(3.0)
Kansas	84.0	76.6	78.7	78.3	5.3	-1.7	-7.0 *	3.56	(3.–1)
Kentucky	68.5	72 7	74.9	78.8	-6.3	-6.1	0.3	4 91	(10)
Louisiana	73.0	70.7	77.7	81.9	-4 7	-11.2	-6.5	5 73	(1,0)
Maine	77 7	75.2	78.3	76.9	-0.6	-17	-1 1	3.53	(2,0)
Manyland	75.8	67.2	70.0	70.0		_12.1	_7.9	5.82	(1,0)
Massachusetts	88.1	68.6	80.6	81.6	76	-13.0	-20.6*	4 11	(3 – 1)
Michigan	67.6	69.4	76.5	78.0	_8.9	-8.6	0.4	4 65	(1,0)
Minnesota	86.0	85.5	80.8	78.1	5.2	74	22	2 99	(3,0)
Mississioni	46.7	68.6	79.3	81.8	-32.7	-13.2	19.5*	5 50	(0,0)
Missouri	77.0	72.5	81.0	78.1	_1 9	_5.6	_0.7	4 34	(1,1)
Montana	85.8	84.2	78.2	79.6	-4.5	-5.0	_2.9	2.88	(1,0)
Nobraska	81.0	91.1	83.4	83.0	-2.4	8.1	10.5 *	2.58	(2,1)
Novada	86.7	82.4	81.3	80.7	5.4	17	-3.7	3.20	(3,0)
New Hampshire	82.7	87.9	81.4	80.0	13	79	6.6*	2 92	(0,0)
New Jorsov	02.7	83.1	80.7	82.1	13.1	1.0	_12.1 *	3.20	(4 _1)
New Mexico	93.0 01 /	87.1	78.4	70.0	13.1	7.0	-12.1	2.68	(4,-1)
New York	75.9	81.2	80.7	81.6	_1.8	_0.4	-0.0 4 4	4.23	(4,-1)
North Carolina	81.0	85.8	78.3	70 /	-4.0	-0.4	3.9	3.40	(1,0)
North Dakota	90.0	74.0	78.6	70.3	11 /	_5 3	_16.6 *	2 92	(2,0) (4_1)
Ohio	61.3	50.0	70.0	73.5	0.9	-J.J	10.0	6.05	(4,-1)
Oklahoma	87.2	76.5	80.9	74.4	-9.0	_0.8	_ <del>4</del> .0 _7.1 *	3.26	(1,0)
Orogon	83.0	82.1	77.5	76.4	5.5	-0.0	0.2	3.14	(3,-1)
Bennovkrania	00.0 01 0	80.8	90.3	70.4	10.6	2.0	-8.7 *	3.14	(3,0)
Perili Sylvania Dhada Jaland	91.0	85.1	00.3	0.0	10.0	2.0	-0.7	0.00	(4,-1)
	52 D	50.1	76.4	02.9	00.0	2.2	-0.4	2.01	(3,0)
South Carolina	95.2 95.3	09.2 82.0	70.4	80.0 77 7	-23.3	-20.7	2.0	4.87	(1,0)
	00.0	02.9 69.7	78.2	71.7	1.2	5.1	-2.1	2.40	(3,0)
Tennessee	0Z.0 50.1	61.0	76.9	74.9	5.7 10.0	-0.1	-11.0	3.98	(3,-1)
Texas	39.1 70.5	01.0	77.3	80.0	-18.3	-19.0	-0.7	5.03	(1,0)
Utan	19.0	02.4	78.0	//.1	1.5	5.3	3.8	3.17	(2,0)
Vermont	04.1 62.6	79.Z	/9.1	//./	5.0	1.4	-3.6 E E	2.61	(2,0)
virginia	02.0	10.9	79.7	02.5 70.0	-17.1	-11.6	0.C	4.30	(1,0)
vvasnington	01.3	03.0	77.0	/6.8	10.3	6.2	-4.1	3.09	(4,0)
vvest Virginia	ŏZ./	83.U	79.2	81.0	3.5	2.1	-1.5	3.16	(2,0)
Wisconsin	84.0	/8./	/5./	/6.1	8.2	2.6	-5.6	3.32	(3,0)
vvyoming	94.4	89.4	79.4	81.1	15.0	8.2	-b.8 *	2.44	(4,–1)

#### Table B-2. Percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach: By state, 2003 and 2005

\* Significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The 2003 *difference from predicted* is also the *starting point* measure.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Actual ra	tes	Predicted	rates	Diff. from pr	redicted <sup>1</sup>	Change	Standard C	omposite
State	2003	2005	2003	2005	2003	2005	2003–05	error	index <sup>2</sup>
Alabama	84.3	85.3	63.3	61.1	21.0	24.2	3.2	3.47	(4,0)
Alaska	86.6	84.5	68.7	66.3	17.9	18.2	0.3	3.72	(4,0)
Arizona	56.5	66.7	65.0	67.2	-8.5	-0.6	7.9	5.42	(1,0)
Arkansas	63.0	53.3	61.2	61.8	1.9	-8.6	-10.5 *	5.09	(2,-1)
California	74.7	74.9	70.7	71.8	4.0	3.1	-1.0	4.24	(3,0)
Colorado	82.9	78.6	65.2	64.0	17.7	14.7	-3.0	3.17	(4,0)
Connecticut	73.5	78.5	70.3	66.9	3.1	11.6	8.4 *	3.86	(3,1)
Delaware	35.5	28.6	67.2	66.5	-31.7	-37.9	-6.2 *	3.10	(1,-1)
District of Columbia	60.0	57.7	58.0	56.7	1.9	1.0	-1.0	3.60	(2,0)
Florida	83.6	76.0	67.9	71.5	15.8	4.5	-11.2*	3.72	(4,-1)
Georgia	77.7	59.7	68.8	66.3	8.9	-6.6	–15.6 *	4.12	(3,-1)
Hawaii	76.6	82.5	64.6	64.3	11.9	18.2	6.3	3.86	(4,0)
Idaho	78.8	72.2	64.7	65.4	14.0	6.9	-7.2	4.44	(4,0)
Illinois	71.7	65.3	67.0	66.9	4.6	-1.6	-6.3	4.99	(3.0)
Indiana	72.6	75.2	69.3	71.8	3.3	3.4	0.1	4.86	(3,0)
lowa	56.4	65.2	60.6	64 6	-4 2	0.6	47	5 61	(20)
Kansas	83.4	77.4	65.3	65.8	18.1	11.7	-6.4 *	3.15	(4,-1)
Kentucky	41.6	45.4	64.0	63.3	-22.4	-17.9	4.5	4.04	(1.0)
Louisiana	71.1	41.2	72.1	71.2	-1.0	-30.0	-29.1 *	5.54	(2,-1)
Maine	63.7	65.8	63.5	68.1	0.1	-2.3	-2.5	3.75	(2.0)
Maryland	57.0	63.3	68.0	68.9	_11.0	-5.6	55	4.06	(1,0)
Massachusetts	85.1	67.2	69.2	70.3	15.8	-3.0	-18.8 *	3 48	(4 – 1)
Michigan	44 5	52.3	62.3	63.3	-17.9	-11 1	6.8	5.39	(1,0)
Minnesota	80.2	84.5	66.9	69.6	13.3	14.9	1.6	3.00	(4,0)
Mississinni	41.3	66.9	69.5	76.2	-28.1	-9.3	18.8*	4 53	(1,3)
Missouri	55.5	55.8	69.0	68.2	_13.5	_12.5	1.0	4 17	(1,0)
Montana	65.3	61 1	64.3	62.1	10.0	-1.0	-2.0	4 70	(2,0)
Nebraska	78.0	75.2	73.0	74.4	5.0	0.8	-4.3	4 05	(3,0)
Nevada	66.2	60.4	63.4	65.0	2.8	-4.5	-7.3	5.00	(2,0)
New Hampshire	81.0	83.0	69.0	69.7	12.0	13.4	1.0	3.68	(4,0)
New Jersey	76.0	73.8	67.2	68.7	8.8	5 1	_3.7	5.67	(3,0)
New Mexico	78.2	64.4	67.2	64.9	10.5	-0.5	-11.0*	5 14	(3 – 1)
New York	63.3	74.5	70.0	67.7	-6.7	6.8	13.6*	4 43	(0, 1)
North Carolina	64 5	83.2	65.1	70.9	-0.6	12.4	13.0*	3.88	(1,1) (2.1)
North Dakota	76.7	64.7	74.2	70.5	2.4	-6.7	_9.1 *	3.61	(2 -1)
Ohio	53.0	40 8	50.8	50.8	_5.9	_18.0	_13.1 *	5.58	(2, 1)
Oklahoma	70.4	72 5	64.7	67.9	-5.5	4.6	_10.1	4 14	(2,-1)
Oregon	63.4	69.4	65.9	67.4	-2.5	4.0 2.0	4.5	3 74	(0,0)
Poppsylvania	70.1	73.3	65.1	66.7	14.0	6.5	-7.5	4 4 1	(4,0)
Phodo Island	85.5	88.0	69.4	71 3	16.1	16.7	0.6	3.14	(4,0)
South Carolina	56.0	61.1	70.2	71.0	14.2	10.7	0.0 / 1	2.59	(1,0)
South Dakota	72.6	71 /	70.2	68.0	-14.3	-10.1	4.1	3.50	(1,0)
	72.0	29.4	70.0 66 9	59 A	5.0	2.5	25.0 *	5.05	(2,0)
Termessee	10.0	50.4 E0 E	00.0 65.6	71.0	17.0	-20.0	-23.0	5.59	(3,-1)
Texas	40.3	20.0	05.0	71.3	-17.2	-12.9	4.3	4.52	(1,0)
	8U.3	12.0	69.3	00. I	11.0	5.9	-5.1	3.27	(3,0)
	04.5	00.4	03.3 67 7	59.7 67 5	1.2	0.0 0.0	7.5 <sup>^</sup>	3.3/	(2,1)
Vilgifila	44.3 60.1	30.0	07.7	07.5	-23.4	-30.8	-7.4	4.01	(1,0)
washington	09.1	0.01	02.3	71.0	8.0	14.0	7.3	4.50	(3,0)
west virginia	30.4 60.7	09.1	04.5	/1.6	-26.1	-2.5	23.6	3.93	(1,1)
vvisconsin	08.7	/1./	62.3	03.4	6.3	8.3	1.9	4.52	(3,0)
vvyoming	88.8	90.4	66.7	68.4	22.1	22.1	0.0	2.74	(4,0)

#### Table B-3. Percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4 reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach: By state, 2003 and 2005

\* Significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The 2003 *difference from predicted* is also the *starting point* measure.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Actual ra	tes	Predicted	rates	Diff. from p	redicted <sup>1</sup>	Change	Standard Composite	
State	2003	2005	2003	2005	2003	2005	2003–05	error	index <sup>2</sup>
Alabama	81.3	88.0	70.3	72.5	11.0	15.4	4.5	3.95	(4,0)
Alaska	86.3	88.0	71.2	74.0	15.0	14.0	-1.1	2.50	(4,0)
Arizona	65.8	73.3	67.4	70.6	-1.7	2.7	4.3	5.02	(2,0)
Arkansas	72.3	62.0	64.3	63.8	8.0	-1.8	-9.8	5.12	(3,0)
California	78.4	80.1	71.5	72.4	6.9	7.7	0.8	4.29	(3,0)
Colorado	84.0	76.7	68.9	69.7	15.1	7.1	-8.0	4.25	(4,0)
Connecticut	80.3	84.4	76.3	75.0	4.0	9.5	5.5	2.92	(2,0)
Delaware	47.5	33.3	65.6	68.2	-18.1	-34.9	-16.8 *	3.48	(1,-1)
District of Columbia	60.9	62.1	63.3	64.2	-2.4	-2.1	0.3	3.23	(2,0)
Florida	77.5	80.2	70.1	73.8	7.3	6.3	-1.0	3.97	(3,0)
Georgia	79.0	62.4	68.0	71.0	11.0	-8.6	-19.6 *	5.17	(4,-1)
Hawaii	79.1	82.4	72.5	71.8	6.5	10.5	4.0	2.64	(3,0)
Idaho	76.2	81.5	71.4	71.9	4.8	9.6	4.9	3.91	(2,0)
Illinois	73.4	72.4	68.7	73.1	4.6	-0.7	-5.3	4.42	(2.0)
Indiana	78.0	73.5	73.2	76.2	4.9	-2.8	-7.7	4.10	(3,0)
lowa	71.4	75.9	70.0	74.0	1.4	2.0	0.6	4.43	(2.0)
Kansas	81.6	72.6	68.9	69.0	12.7	3.7	-9.1 *	3.84	(4,-1)
Kentucky	46.9	44.8	70.7	67.1	-23.8	-22.3	1.5	4.74	(1.0)
Louisiana	62.4	49.8	71.9	75.4	-9.6	-25.6	-16.0 *	5.86	(11)
Maine	71.4	65.9	69.0	71.0	2.4	-5.2	-7.6*	3.50	(2,-1)
Maryland	78.8	69.1	70.2	71.6	8.6	-25	_11 1 *	4 98	(3 – 1)
Massachusetts	83.6	69.0	71.3	75.6	12.4	-6.7	-19.0*	3.96	(0, 1)
Michigan	51.1	56.1	67.7	69.8	-16.6	-13.7	29	5 10	(1.0)
Minnesota	78.7	82.8	70.6	71.6	8.0	11.2	3.2	3 25	(3,0)
Mississinni	40.9	58.0	70.9	75.4	-30.0	-17.4	12.6*	5.67	(1,1)
Missouri	51.2	49.5	71.1	69.7	_19.9	_20.2	_0.3	4 93	(1,0)
Montana	68.6		71.5	71 1	-2.9	-4.5	-1.6	3 73	(2,0)
Nebraska	76.0	77.2	77 1	73.1	-1 1	4 1	5.2	3.05	(2,0)
Nevada	84.1	74.7	71.9	72.9	12.2	1.8	_10.4 *	3.57	(4 –1)
New Hampshire	84.0	87.7	74.5	76.5	9.5	11.2	17	2 63	(3.0)
New Jersey	86.1	78.5	71.0	75.1	14.7	3.3	_11.4 *	4 09	(4 –1)
New Mexico	77 7	68.7	69.2	73.5	8.5	-4.8	-13.3*	4 04	(3 –1)
New York	66.3	65.2	72.9	72.5	-6.6	-7.2	-0.6	4 80	(1 0)
North Carolina	63.0	80.9	69.8	72 7	-6.8	82	15.0*	3 76	(1,0)
North Dakota	71.3	55.9	73.6	72.6	-2.2	-16.7	-14.5*	3.61	(2-1)
Ohio	56.1	50.8	60.3	68.6	_4 2	-17.8	-13.6*	6.76	(2 –1)
Oklahoma	75.4	74.2	68.7	68.9	6.8	5.3	-1.5	4 63	(3, 0)
Oregon	76.5	77.4	71.2	69.6	5.3	7.7	2.4	3.19	(3.0)
Pennsylvania	85.6	79.3	69.1	71.5	16.5	7.8	_8.7 *	4 09	(4 –1)
Rhode Island	85.9	84.6	75.8	76.4	10.0	82	-2.0	2 10	(4 0)
South Carolina	45.6	52.2	69.1	70.9	-23.5	-18.7	4.8	4 89	(1,0)
South Dakota	68.9	73.0	70.7	68.0	-17	5.0	6.8	3.68	(2,0)
Tennessee	81.5	43.4	71.5	64.9	10.1	-21.5	-31.5 *	4 48	(4 -1)
Texas	57.6	63.1	71.3	74.9	-13.7	_11 7	2.0	3.98	(1, 1)
litah	79.8	72 1	70.9	71.0	89	11	_7.8*	3.86	(3 –1)
Vermont	75.0	77 5	69.3	72 N	0.0 6.6	5.4	_1 2	2.50	(3, 1)
Virginia	47.2	54.9	69.6	73.7	-22.4	-18.8	37	4 35	(1,0)
Washington	79.6	72 5	68.1	67.3	115	5.2	_6 3	4 13	(4.0)
West Virginia	48.5	62.7	69.5	70.6		_7 0	-0.3 13.2 *	5.24	( <del>1</del> ,0) (1 1)
Wieconein	-0.0 69 5	68.3	66.0	69.2	35	_0.0	_4.5	4 73	(20)
Wyoming	95.0 85.4	00.0 81 G	73.0	09.2 73.9	10.0	-0.9 7 9	-4.5	9 60	(2,0) (1 0)
vvyonning	03.4	01.0	10.2	75.0	12.2	1.0	-4.4	2.09	(4,0)

#### Table B-4. Percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8 reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach: By state, 2003 and 2005

\* Significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The 2003 *difference from predicted* is also the *starting point* measure.

<sup>2</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Starting point measu	re-2003	2003–05 ch	ange	Composite
State	Estimated	Std error	Change	Std error	index <sup>1</sup>
Alabama	7.7 *	2.14	2.3	3.12	(4,0)
Alaska	9.5 *	1.86	0.7	1.72	(4,0)
Arizona	-9.4 *	2.74	4.2	3.99	(1,0)
Arkansas	12.7 *	1.81	-3.2	2.87	(4,0)
California	-1.4	2.54	-2.2	3.13	(2,0)
Colorado	4.8 *	1.91	4.0	2.77	(3,0)
Connecticut	-6.9 *	3.04	5.8*	2.79	(1,1)
Delaware	–19.7 *	1.95	-7.3*	2.91	(1,-1)
District of Columbia	-0.1	2.19	-7.7 *	2.83	(2,-1)
Florida	8.4 *	1.70	-4.6*	2.33	(4,-1)
Georgia	4.5 *	1.70	-0.3	4.53	(3,0)
Hawaii	4.2	2.56	0.9	4.69	(3,0)
Idaho	11.3 *	1.37	4.9*	2.02	(4,1)
Illinois	1.4	2.58	0.7	3.19	(2,0)
Indiana	1.8	2.36	1.6	2.73	(2,0)
lowa	2.7	2.12	0.8	2.24	(3,0)
Kansas	7.3 *	1.66	-7.3 *	3.61	(41)
Kentucky	2.5	2.74	2.8	4.02	(3,0)
Louisiana	2.6	4.13	-3.0	4.33	(3,0)
Maine	1.6	2.11	1.4	2.94	(2,0)
Maryland	-3.1	2.99	0.1	3.70	(1,0)
Massachusetts	7.1 *	1.51	-6.5 *	2.63	(4,-1)
Michigan	-13.5 *	3.14	3.1	3.50	(1,0)
Minnesota	0.8	1.62	0.2	5.35	(2,0)
Mississippi	-33.3 *	3.27	17.9*	3.52	(1,1)
Missouri	-4.5	2.33	9.6*	3.45	(1,1)
Montana	3.4	1.96	6.1	8.46	(3,0)
Nebraska	2.1	1.80	-2.4	2.52	(2,0)
Nevada	-0.5	3.14	-1.3	4.24	(2,0)
New Hampshire	3.0	2.17	6.3 *	2.79	(3,1)
New Jersey	6.0	3.28	-0.7	4.19	(4,0)
New Mexico	9.9 *	2.19	3.4	4.97	(4,0)
New York	-2.3	3.62	4.8	4.46	(1,0)
North Carolina	-0.7	2.04	5.8	3.38	(2,0)
North Dakota	5.0 *	1.36	-5.7 *	2.58	(4,-1)
Ohio	-8.9 *	4.30	0.8	4.86	(1,0)
Oklahoma	1.3	2.21	-1.2	3.21	(2,0)
Oregon	-0.7	2.14	-1.3	3.30	(2,0)
Pennsylvania	3.5	2.56	-2.2	3.84	(3,0)
Rhode Island	8.7 *	1.26	-6.8 *	2.29	(4,-1)
South Carolina	–19.3 *	2.47	4.2	3.26	(1,0)
South Dakota	5.8 *	1.33	-1.3	1.56	(4,0)
Tennessee	4.3	2.77	-5.9	4.17	(3,0)
Texas	-26.8 *	2.90	2.3	3.22	(1,0)
Utah	2.4	2.39	2.4	2.90	(3,0)
Vermont	-0.1	1.68	9.1 *	2.96	(2,1)
Virginia	-15.8 *	3.09	0.9	3.85	(1,0)
Washington	3.8	2.15	2.8	3.79	(3.0)
West Virginia	-0.7	2.51	5.1	3.28	(2,0)
Wisconsin	2.1	2.03	-1.1	3.39	(3.0)
Wyoming	7.6 *	1.05	11.6*	2.38	(4,1)

## Table B-5. Starting point and change measures for percentages of students with<br/>disabilities in NAEP grade 4 mathematics assessments from state-specific<br/>approach: By state, 2003 and 2005

\* Significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Starting point measure	e—2003	2003–05 ch	ange	Composite
State	Estimated	Std error	Change	Std error	index <sup>1</sup>
Alabama	8.1 *	2.46	8.6*	3.41	(4,1)
Alaska	11.2 *	1.14	-8.2*	3.83	(4,-1)
Arizona	-2.1	3.00	-10.7	5.69	(2,0)
Arkansas	13.2 *	1.68	-9.9 *	2.78	(4,-1)
California	8.0 *	1.66	-3.2	2.68	(4,0)
Colorado	8.4 *	1.79	-7.0 *	3.14	(41)
Connecticut	-5.1 *	1.80	6.9*	2.77	(2.1)
Delaware	-28.4 *	2 76	-15.2*	3 38	(1-1)
District of Columbia	-5.7 *	1.98	4.5	4 31	(20)
Florida	7.8 *	1.59	-2.5	2.69	(4.0)
Georgia	54*	2 17	-6.9*	2 89	(3 –1)
Hawaii	27	1.83	-0.5	2 44	(2, 1)
Idaho	10.4 *	1.60	-3.0	5 90	(2,0)
Illinois	_2 3	2.47	-0.0	3.50	(4,0)
Indiana	-2.5	2.47	5.5	4.03	(2,0)
	2.3	1.70	-5.5	4.03	(2,0)
Iowa	3.4	1.79	-0.5	2.04	(3,0)
Kansas	3.5	1.88	-5.9	3.41	(3,0)
Kentucky	-8.6	3.93	1.2	4.79	(1,0)
Louisiana	-7.0 *	3.44	-0.9	6.25	(1,0)
Maine	-2.5	2.48	-1.2	3.55	(2,0)
Maryland	-6.1	4.18	-7.5	5.67	(1,0)
Massachusetts	5.6 *	2.58	-16.4*	4.60	(3,–1)
Michigan	-11.4 *	3.16	0.7	4.71	(1,0)
Minnesota	3.5	2.07	4.3	2.70	(3,0)
Mississippi	-34.9 *	3.85	7.8*	3.74	(1,1)
Missouri	-6.6 *	2.86	-1.8	4.34	(1,0)
Montana	5.5 *	1.90	-2.1	2.63	(3,0)
Nebraska	-3.8	2.01	12.4*	2.82	(2,1)
Nevada	3.6	1.87	-2.8	3.02	(3,0)
New Hampshire	-0.3	2.11	7.1	3.71	(2,0)
New Jersey	11.1 *	1.58	-12.4*	2.96	(4,-1)
New Mexico	10.9 *	1.71	-3.2	3.14	(4,0)
New York	-6.7 *	3.20	6.2	4.27	(1,0)
North Carolina	0.7	2.55	2.0	2.81	(2,0)
North Dakota	9.5 *	1.62	-16.0*	2.99	(4,-1)
Ohio	-12.5 *	4.78	-2.6	6.49	(1,0)
Oklahoma	4.4 *	2.02	-7.7 *	3.28	(3,-1)
Oregon	3.6	1.96	4.5	3.18	(3,0)
Pennsylvania	8.7 *	2.05	-8.4 *	3.57	(4,-1)
Rhode Island	4.0 *	1.38	0.3	2.46	(3.0)
South Carolina	-25.6 *	3 33	1.8	4 40	(1.0)
South Dakota	5.2 *	1.66	-0.7	2.41	(3.0)
Tennessee	3.3	2 19	-14.2*	3.90	(3-1)
Texas	-20.9 *	4 10	-1 7	4 29	(10)
Litah	_0.3	2 54	4.0	3 50	(2,0)
Vormont	0.0	1 76	1.0	3 20	(2,0)
Virginia	0.0 10.1 *	2.90	1.2	3.29	(∠,U) (1,O)
Washington	-13.1	2.00	4.4	4.42 0 /E	(1,0)
Washington Wast Virginia	0.1	1.97	-2.0	3.40	(4,0)
Wissensin	1.4	2.02	-0.4	3.08 2.05	(2,0)
Wisconsing	ю. Г <sup>с</sup>	2.23	-2.9	3.05	(3,0)
wyoming	13.1 *	0.97	-2.9	3.59	(4,0)

## Table B-6. Starting point and change measures for percentages of students with<br/>disabilities in NAEP grade 8 mathematics assessments from state-specific<br/>approach: By state, 2003 and 2005

\* Significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Starting point measure	- 2003	2003–05 ch	ange	Composite
State	Estimated	Std error	Change	Std error	index <sup>1</sup>
Alabama	19.7 *	2.70	2.6	3.61	(4,0)
Alaska	16.5 *	2.15	-4.1	3.04	(4,0)
Arizona	–10.2 *	4.41	6.6	6.11	(1,0)
Arkansas	0.1	3.69	-11.4*	4.88	(2,-1)
California	2.7	3.50	-1.7	4.05	(3,0)
Colorado	16.5 *	1.62	-5.4	2.90	(4.0)
Connecticut	1.8	2.53	8.6*	3.99	(3,1)
Delaware	-33.3 *	1.93	-7.3*	3.04	(11)
District of Columbia	02	2 40	-3.8	4 16	(2,0)
Elorida	14.6 *	2.33	-9.4 *	3 69	(4-1)
Georgia	75*	2.00	_18.2*	4.06	(3 –1)
Hawaii	10.4 *	2.61	7.0	3 99	(0, 1)
Idaho	10.4 *	3 10	-6.2	4 98	(4,0)
Illinois	3 3	3.58	-0.2 -6 1	4.50 5.16	(4,0)
Indiana	1.9	3.54	_1.4	4.48	(0,0)
lowe	6.0	4 17	-1.4	4.70	(0,0)
lowa Kapaga	-0.0	4.17	0.3	4.70	(2,0)
Kansas	10.8	1.00	-4.7	3.37	(4,0)
Kentucky	-24.2	2.95	-0.5	4.14	(1,0)
Louisiana	-2.4	3.54	-30.4	5.02	(2,-1)
Maine	-1.4	2.56	0.5	3.24	(2,0)
Maryland	-12.5 *	2.97	2.8	3.95	(1,0)
Massachusetts	14.5 *	2.29	-18.4 *	3.67	(4,-1)
Michigan	-19.7 *	3.88	2.1	6.39	(1,0)
Minnesota	12.0 *	2.13	4.1	3.02	(4,0)
Mississippi	–29.6 *	3.22	14.9*	4.32	(1,1)
Missouri	-14.8 *	3.08	-0.1	4.28	(1,0)
Montana	-0.5	3.36	-5.0	5.19	(2,0)
Nebraska	3.7	2.53	-7.4	4.16	(3,0)
Nevada	1.2	3.50	-7.5	4.70	(2,0)
New Hampshire	10.6 *	2.77	4.3	6.21	(4,0)
New Jersey	7.2	4.51	-1.8	5.58	(3,0)
New Mexico	9.2 *	2.93	-13.2*	4.77	(3,-1)
New York	-8.3 *	3.43	14.6*	4.44	(1,1)
North Carolina	-2.3	3.29	14.2*	3.71	(2,1)
North Dakota	1.2	2.66	-9.2*	4.61	(2,-1)
Ohio	-7.4	4.44	-16.9*	4.92	(2,-1)
Oklahoma	4.3	3.21	-1.4	3.96	(3,0)
Oregon	-3.9	2.81	-0.1	3.66	(2,0)
Pennsylvania	12.5 *	3.03	-1.0	5.45	(4,0)
Rhode Island	14.7 *	2.11	-1.2	2.79	(4,0)
South Carolina	–15.7 *	2.22	-1.9	3.28	(1,0)
South Dakota	0.7	2.26	-4.2	2.92	(2,0)
Tennessee	3.5	3.05	-31.4*	6.19	(3,-1)
Texas	–18.9 *	3.68	-1.6	4.40	(1,0)
Utah	9.6 *	2.09	-8.4 *	3.31	(3.–1)
Vermont	-0.5	2 42	64	3 26	(2.0)
Virginia	-24.8 *	3.40	-14.2*	4.22	(1 - 1)
Washington	5.1	3.27	7.5	4.47	(3.0)
West Virginia	-28.0 *	3.01	15.1*	4 19	(1,1)
Wisconsin	4.8	2.86	28	5 58	(3.0)
Wyoming	20.8 *	1 73	1 1	1 77	(4,0)
	20.0	1.70	1.1	1.77	(+,0)

## Table B-7. Starting point and change measures for percentages of students with<br/>disabilities in NAEP grade 4 reading assessments from state-specific<br/>approach: By state, 2003 and 2005

\* Significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

	Starting point measure	e—2003	2003–05 ch	ange	Composite			
State	Estimated	Std error	Change	Std error	index <sup>1</sup>			
Alabama	9.8 *	2.85	5.5	3.65	(4,0)			
Alaska	14.2 *	1.90	2.3	2.04	(4,0)			
Arizona	-2.8	3.99	9.6*	4.54	(2,1)			
Arkansas	6.3	3.32	-11.1 *	5.02	(3,-1)			
California	6.1	3.82	4.1	4.67	(3.0)			
Colorado	14.1 *	2 70	-0.5	4 58	(4.0)			
Connecticut	31	1.99	6.2*	3.08	(2,1)			
Delaware	-19.4 *	2.08	-15.0 *	3 59	(1-1)			
District of Columbia	-3.7	2.00	0.4	3.63	(2,0)			
Florida	63*	3 19	1.8	3 77	(2,0)			
Georgia	9.7 *	3.16	_16.0*	5.01	(0,0)			
Hawaii	9.7 5.6 *	1.66	-10.0	2 70	(4,-1)			
Idaha	3.8	2.83	7.8*	3.73	(0,0)			
	3.0	2.00	7.0	3.75	(3,1)			
Indiana	3.7	2.49	-2.7	4.44	(2,0)			
	3.0	2.90	-2.1	4.50	(2,0)			
Iowa	0.3	3.37	2.7	4.15	(2,0)			
Kansas	11.0	2.05	-0.1	4.02	(4,0)			
Kentucky	-25.5	3.41	-0.4	4.56	(1,0)			
Louisiana	-11.0 "	4.20	-14.7	5.33	(1,-1)			
Maine	1.2	2.15	-4.5	3.91	(2,0)			
Maryland	7.7 *	3.45	-12.7 *	4.74	(3,-1)			
Massachusetts	11.2 *	2.53	-15.3 *	3.89	(4,-1)			
Michigan	-17.9 *	3.83	2.7	5.51	(1,0)			
Minnesota	6.9 *	2.36	5.2	3.12	(3,0)			
Mississippi	-31.0 *	3.67	12.6 *	5.99	(1,1)			
Missouri	-21.2 *	3.16	1.9	4.82	(1,0)			
Montana	-4.0	2.41	1.3	3.97	(2,0)			
Nebraska	-2.4	2.05	9.1 *	3.27	(2,1)			
Nevada	11.1 *	2.37	-8.7 *	2.93	(4,-1)			
New Hampshire	8.6 *	2.03	5.1 *	2.27	(3,1)			
New Jersey	14.0 *	2.58	-8.0 *	3.78	(4,-1)			
New Mexico	7.8 *	2.63	-10.1 *	3.28	(3,-1)			
New York	-7.7 *	3.64	0.2	4.98	(1,0)			
North Carolina	-8.2 *	2.77	15.6 *	3.48	(1,1)			
North Dakota	-3.7	2.47	-11.3 *	4.24	(2,-1)			
Ohio	-6.0	5.27	-5.7	5.87	(2,0)			
Oklahoma	5.8	3.37	-0.4	4.44	(3,0)			
Oregon	4.3	2.34	4.8	3.49	(3,0)			
Pennsylvania	15.5 *	2.84	-3.2	3.98	(4,0)			
Rhode Island	9.3 *	1.41	-0.3	1.93	(4,0)			
South Carolina	-25.0 *	3.04	2.1	4.68	(1,0)			
South Dakota	-2.8	2.63	6.3	4.36	(2,0)			
Tennessee	9.2 *	2.36	-34.3 *	4.68	(4,-1)			
Texas	–15.0 *	3.27	2.9	3.33	(1,0)			
Utah	8.1 *	2.36	-6.8	4.06	(3,0)			
Vermont	5.5 *	1.64	5.0	2.80	(3.0)			
Virginia	-24 1 *	3.38	23	4 06	(1,0)			
Washington	10.6 *	2 92	-6.4	4 43	(1,0)			
West Virginia	_22.6 *	4 03	14 Q *	5 97	(+,0)			
Wieconsin	-22.0	4.00 Q 10	0.6	5.03	(1,1)			
Wyoming	۲.۱ ۲۰۱۵ ×	1 61	0.0	0.00	(2,0)			
wyoning	11.3	1.01	-0.0	2.19	(4,0)			

## Table B-8.Starting point and change measures for percentages of students with<br/>disabilities in NAEP grade 8 reading assessments from state-specific<br/>approach: By state, 2003 and 2005

\* Significantly different from zero (p < .05).

<sup>1</sup> The composite index (q,s) is the quartile of the starting point, q (from 1, the lowest, to 4, the highest), and statistical significance of the *change* score, s, where s is -1 if the change is negative and statistically significant, 1 if positive and statistically significant, and 0 if changes are not statistically different from zero (p < .05).

200	05											
			Gra	de 4					Gra	ide 8		
Starting -	Na	tion-bas	ed	Sta	ate-spec	ific	Na	tion-bas	ed	Sta	ate-spec	ific
Quartile	•	=		-	=		•	=		-	=	
4 more inclusive	2	11	0	5	6	2	7	6	0	6	6	1
3	1	12	0	0	12	1	4	9	0	4	9	0
2	0	12	1	1	11	1	1	9	3	0	11	2
1 less inclusive	0	7	5	1	8	3	1	10	1	1	10	1
Overall	3	42	6	7	37	7	13	34	4	11	36	4

### Table B-9. Number of states in each composite index score category by estimationapproach based on NAEP grades 4 and 8 mathematics assessments: 2003 and2005

• Measure of change is positive and statistically significant indicating higher inclusion rates (p < .05).

= Measure of change is not statistically significant (p < .05).

• Measure of change is negative and statistically significant indicating lower inclusion rates (p < .05). SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) 2003 and 2005 Mathematics Assessments.

### Table B-10.Number of states in each composite index score category by estimation<br/>approach based on NAEP grades 4 and 8 reading assessments: 2003 and<br/>2005

_			Gra	de 4		Grade 8						
Starting -	ed	Sta	State-specific			tion-bas	ed	State-specific				
Quartile	•	=		-	=		•	=		-	=	
4 more inclusive	3	10	0	2	11	0	7	6	0	5	8	0
3	3	9	1	4	8	1	3	10	0	3	8	2
2	4	7	2	4	8	1	3	10	0	1	9	3
1 less inclusive	1	8	3	2	7	3	2	7	3	2	7	3
Overall	11	34	6	12	34	5	15	33	3	11	32	8

• Measure of change is positive and statistically significant indicating higher inclusion rates (p < .05).

= Measure of change is not statistically significant (p < .05).

- Measure of change is negative and statistically significant indicating lower inclusion rates (p < .05).

### APPENDIX C. RECENTERING MEASURES

State-level predicted inclusion rates and *distance above the predicted inclusion rate* measures are essentially based on average inclusion rates across the country.<sup>1</sup> Hence, under the procedures described in the methodology section, half the states will have positive *starting point* measures and half will have negative *starting point* measures. This applies to both the nation-based and state-specific approaches. Rather than report predicted inclusion rates and measures centered on the average, we explored for this report recentering all *distance above the predicted* measures and corresponding state-level predicted inclusion rates for presentation. Recentering involves adding a constant to all state-level predicted inclusion rates, and this corresponds to subtracting the same constant from all *distance above the predicted* measures. The motivation was a concern that predicted inclusion rates and *distance above the predicted* might be misinterpreted as normative and readers might interpret the results to say that states that are very inclusive should reduce their inclusion rates. Recentering would put almost all states below the predicted rate by increasing the predicted rate by a fixed amount for all states.

Recentering procedures were later abandoned because it was deemed to be an unnecessary precaution that not only confused readers but also detracted from the focus of the paper, which is the change analysis. The recentering had no effect on the change measure but was simply a means to provide an alternative presentation of the starting point measures. In this appendix we report on exploratory analysis on recentering results for presentation.

The constant that was chosen to use for recentering was the average of the five largest *distance above the predicted* measures in the initial period.<sup>2</sup> This average is used as an empirical reference point for rescaling state-level predicted inclusion rates and *distance above the predicted* measures. Although we focus on the average of the five largest *distance above the predicted* measures, it is possible to use a different constant to add to the predicted measures, it is possible to use a different constant to add to the predicted measures. Discussion below of the recentering method is based on using the 5 largest measures, but tables in this appendix present results for the 1 largest and 10 largest criteria as well.

The first step in recentering is to find the average of the 5 largest *distance above the predicted* measures:

$$Top5^{0} = \frac{1}{5} \cdot \left( \sum_{s \in \{5 \text{ Maximum } DistAbovePredicted}\}} DistAbovePredicted_{s}^{0} \right)$$

Next, this constant is simply added to each state-level benchmark to recenter them.

 $RecenteredPredicted_s^0 = StateLevelPredicted_s^0 + Top5^0$  $RecenteredPredicted_s^1 = StateLevelPredicted_s^1 + Top5^0$ 

Measuring the Status and Change of NAEP State Inclusion Rates for Students with Disabilities

<sup>1</sup> The logistic regression using all observations from all states estimates the relationship between SD characteristics and the probability of inclusion. The resulting predicted probability for each combination of student characteristics is the student-type benchmark and equals the average probability of inclusion for students with those characteristics across the country. State-level benchmarks are aggregations of these averages weighted by the distribution of SD characteristics in the state.

<sup>2</sup> Instead of the 5 largest scores, we could have instead used the top (1) largest score or the top 10 largest scores or some other similar variant of this.

Because the state-level predicted inclusion rates have been raised, the *distance above the predicted* measures corresponding to these new predictions are lowered by that same constant.

Through substitution, we confirm that the recentered *distance above the predicted* inclusion rate is simply the *distance above the predicted* minus the average of the five largest initial-period states *distance above the predicted* measures.

It is important to reiterate that this recentering does not change the relative position of states in the *starting point* measure. We have simply subtracted a constant from all the *distance above the predicted* measures; hence, the percentage-point difference between and ranking of states will be unaffected. Similarly, the change measure is <u>not</u> affected in any way by the recentering: it is the same whether we use *distance above the predicted* or *recentered distance above the predicted* measures. This is confirmed by the equations below, which show that the change measure in the nation-based approach is equivalent using the unadjusted or recentered *distance above the benchmark* measures.

RecenteredDistance<sup>1</sup><sub>s</sub> - RecenteredDistance<sup>0</sup><sub>s</sub> =  $(DistAbovePredicted^{1}_{s} - Top5^{0}) - (DistAbovePredicted^{0}_{s} - Top5^{0})$ =  $(DistAbovePredicted^{1}_{s} - DistAbovePredicted^{0}_{s}) - (Top5^{0} - Top5^{0})$ =  $DistAbovePredicted^{1}_{s} - DistAbovePredicted^{0}_{s}$ 

	Unadius	ted	Top 1		Top 5		Top 10	)
State	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Alabama	79.7	83.0	91.4	94.7	89.3	92.6	88.2	91.5
Alaska	84.1	81.5	95.8	93.2	93.7	91.1	92.6	90.0
Arizona	82.7	82.0	94.4	93.7	92.4	91.6	91.2	90.5
Arkansas	78.1	77.8	89.7	89.5	87.7	87.4	86.5	86.3
California	83.6	83.1	95.3	94.8	93.2	92.8	92.1	91.6
Colorado	79.2	79.9	90.9	91.5	88.9	89.5	87.7	88.3
Connecticut	86.0	82.5	97.6	94.2	95.6	92.1	94.4	91.0
Delaware	80.1	78.2	91.8	89.9	89.8	87.8	88.6	86.7
District of Columbia	71 7	75.1	83.3	86.8	81.3	84 7	80.1	83.6
Florida	83.9	85.3	95.6	97.0	93.6	94.9	92.4	93.8
Georgia	84.1	83.5	95.8	95.2	93.7	93.1	92.6	92.0
Hawaii	79.5	81.0	91.2	92.6	89.2	90.6	88.0	89.4
Idaho	80.5	80.7	02.2	02.0	90.2	00.0 00.3	89.0	80.1
Illinois	91 Q	92.1	92.2	04.9	90.2	02.9	09.0	01.6
Indiana	01.9	05.1	93.5	94.0 06.7	91.5	92.0	90.5	91.0
linuidita	00.1	00.1	97.0	90.7	95.0	94.7	94.0	93.5
lowa	85.0	82.9	96.7	94.0	94.7	92.0	93.5	91.4
Kansas	80.3	79.1	92.0	90.8	89.9	00.0	88.8	87.0
кептиску	80.4	83.6	92.1	95.3	90.1	93.2	88.9	92.1
Louisiana	84.7	84.1	96.4	95.8	94.3	93.7	93.2	92.6
Maine	81.0	81.2	92.7	92.9	90.6	90.8	89.5	89.7
Maryland	81.7	81.3	93.4	93.0	91.4	90.9	90.2	89.8
Massachusetts	83.9	80.7	95.6	92.4	93.5	90.3	92.4	89.2
Michigan	78.4	81.2	90.1	92.9	88.0	90.8	86.9	89.7
Minnesota	82.4	80.9	94.1	92.6	92.0	90.5	90.9	89.4
Mississippi	87.1	87.4	98.8	99.1	96.7	97.1	95.6	95.9
Missouri	82.7	81.4	94.4	93.1	92.4	91.0	91.2	89.9
Montana	80.6	77.3	92.3	89.0	90.3	86.9	89.1	85.8
Nebraska	85.1	85.2	96.8	96.9	94.8	94.9	93.6	93.7
Nevada	83.3	82.3	95.0	94.0	93.0	92.0	91.8	90.8
New Hampshire	82.0	82.3	93.7	94.0	91.6	92.0	90.5	90.8
New Jersey	83.9	82.5	95.6	94.2	93.6	92.1	92.4	91.0
New Mexico	81.9	80.2	93.6	91.9	91.6	89.9	90.4	88.7
New York	83.2	85.2	94.9	96.9	92.8	94.8	91.7	93.7
North Carolina	83.7	84.6	95.4	96.2	93.3	94.2	92.2	93.0
North Dakota	84.9	81.9	96.6	93.6	94.5	91.6	93.4	90.4
Ohio	78.9	77.3	90.6	89.0	88.6	87.0	87.4	85.8
Oklahoma	78.5	79.9	90.2	91.6	88.1	89.6	87.0	88.4
Oregon	80.0	80.3	91.7	92.0	89.6	89.9	88.5	88.8
Pennsylvania	80.5	81.5	92.2	93.2	90.2	91.1	89.0	89.9
Rhode Island	84.6	84.0	96.3	95.7	94.3	93.6	93.1	92.5
South Carolina	83.4	85.7	95.1	97.4	93.0	95.3	91.9	94.2
South Dakota	86.1	85.2	97.8	96.9	95.7	94.9	94.6	93.7
Tennessee	73.3	73.3	85.0	85.0	82.9	82.9	81.8	81.8
Texas	82.5	82.8	94.1	94.4	92.1	92.4	90.9	91.2
Utah	81.8	82.0	93.5	93 7	91 4	91 7	90.3	90.5
Vermont	70 1	78.2	90.0 90 R	80.0	88.7	87.8	87.6	86.7
Virginia	82.4	82.8	94.1	94 A	92.0	92.4	90.9	01.7 01.2
Washington	78 1	80 5	80.8	00 0	87.7	90 1	86.6	20.2 20.0
West Virginia	84 3	87 /	96.0	92.2 QQ 1	94.0	97.0	00.0 02 R	05.0
Wisconsin	04.0 81 2	82.7	02 A	0/ /	04.0 Q1 0	02 /	92.0 80.9	01.0
Whoming	01.3	02./	93.0	94.4	91.0	92.4	04.0	91.2
vvyorning	03.2	01.1	94.9	92.8	92.9	90.7	91.7	89.6

Table C-1.Benchmark percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4<br/>mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007

State         2007         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2008         81.3         91.1         80.6         80.1         70.7         2007         200.2         80.9         80.1         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2008         2007         2007         2007         2007         <		Unadjusted	ł	Top 1		Top 5		Top 10	
Alabama       78.9       76.7       92.3       90.1       88.6       87.3       88.6       88.2         Alaska       78.0       77.5       78.2       90.9       91.7       88.2       88.9       87.2       87.9         Arkansas       74.0       76.1       87.4       89.5       84.6       88.8       85.8       85.8         Calfornia       78.6       81.4       92.0       94.8       89.3       82.1       88.3       87.3       87.3         Connecticut       80.9       81.3       94.3       94.7       91.6       81.9       92.0       91.0       91.0       88.3       88.3       88.1       80.0       90.9       91.9       90.6       80.9       91.9       90.6       80.9       91.9       90.6       80.9       91.9       90.2       89.0       90.2       89.0       90.2       89.0       89.2       80.0       80.2       80.6       90.2       89.9       90.2       89.0       80.2       80.6       90.2       89.9       90.2       89.0       80.2       80.7       80.4       80.1       80.7       80.4       80.1       80.7       80.4       80.0       90.2       80.9       80.0 <t< th=""><th>State</th><th>2005</th><th>2007</th><th>2005</th><th>2007</th><th>2005</th><th>2007</th><th>2005</th><th>2007</th></t<>	State	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Alaska       76.0       72.3       91.4       85.7       86.7       83.0       87.7       82.0         Arkansas       74.0       76.1       87.4       89.5       84.6       86.8       83.6       85.8         Calfornia       78.6       81.4       82.0       94.8       89.3       92.1       83.3       87.3         Connecticut       80.9       81.3       94.3       94.7       91.6       91.9       80.3       87.3       87.3         Deleware       71.2       72.2       84.7       85.6       81.9       82.9       80.9       80.1       79.6         Deleware       71.2       72.2       84.7       85.6       81.9       80.2       90.6       80.1       79.6         Georgia       79.5       79.6       92.0       94.2       80.2       91.8       88.2       88.4       88.4       84.6       46.6       16.0       17.0	Alabama	78.9	76.7	92.3	90.1	89.6	87.3	88.6	86.3
Arizona         77.5         78.2         90.9         91.7         88.2         88.9         87.2         87.2           Arkansas         74.0         76.1         87.4         80.5         84.6         86.8         86.8         85.8           Calfornia         77.6         97.6         91.0         91.0         88.3         98.3         98.3         98.3         88.3         88.3         97.3         87.3           Connecticut         80.9         81.3         94.3         94.6         89.9         89.9         90.9         80.9         80.9           District of Columbia         70.5         69.6         89.9         89.3         81.1         80.6         80.1         79.6           Florda         78.6         80.8         92.0         98.9         90.2         88.9         80.2         89.5           Idaho         76.7         76.8         80.6         90.2         88.9         80.3         88.1         86.4         80.0           Indana         77.3         77.5         90.7         80.9         80.2         87.0         88.4         80.3           Kansas         76.7         77.0         87.1         87.4         81.	Alaska	78.0	72.3	91.4	85.7	88.7	83.0	87.7	82.0
Arkanses         74.0         76.1         87.4         89.5         84.6         86.8         85.8         85.6         85.8         85.1         85.3         87.3         87.3           Collorado         77.6         77.6         91.0         91.0         88.3         87.3         87.3         67.3           Connecticut         80.9         81.3         94.7         91.6         91.9         80.0         80.9           District of Columbia         70.5         69.9         83.9         83.3         81.1         80.6         92.9         80.9         90.2         80.3         80.3           Florida         78.6         80.8         92.0         92.8         80.9         90.2         80.9         80.2         80.9           Idaho         76.7         74.3         90.1         87.7         87.4         85.0         88.0         88.0         88.1         88.0         88.1	Arizona	77.5	78.2	90.9	91.7	88.2	88.9	87.2	87.9
California         76.6         91.4         92.0         94.8         89.3         92.1         88.3         97.3         97.3           Cornecticut         80.9         81.3         94.3         94.7         91.6         91.9         90.6         90.9           Delaware         71.2         72.2         84.7         85.6         81.9         82.9         80.5         80.1         79.6         90.2         90.3         88.2         90.5           Georgia         79.5         79.5         92.6         82.9         89.9         90.2         88.9         89.2           Idana         77.3         77.5         90.7         89.9         89.2         89.3         89.2           Idana         77.3         77.5         90.7         90.9         88.0         88.2         87.0         87.2           Inva         76.7         76.0         90.1         94.1         87.4         91.3         86.4         84.0           Indana         77.3         77.5         80.7         86.5         84.0         86.5         84.8         86.6         86.7         83.4         86.7           Incois         76.7         77.0         87.1         <	Arkansas	74.0	76.1	87.4	89.5	84.6	86.8	83.6	85.8
Colorado         77.6         91.0         91.0         88.3         88.3         87.3         Connecticut         80.9         81.3         94.3         94.7         91.6         91.9         80.6         80.9           Delaware         71.2         72.2         84.7         85.6         81.9         82.9         80.9         81.9           District of Columbia         70.6         80.8         92.0         94.2         89.2         99.3         88.2         88.3           Hawail         79.2         79.5         92.9         89.9         90.2         88.9         89.2           Idaho         76.7         74.3         90.1         87.7         87.4         85.0         86.4         40.0           Idaha         77.3         77.5         90.7         90.9         88.0         88.2         87.0         87.2           Idaha         76.7         60.6         90.1         94.1         87.4         85.0         86.4         90.3         88.4         80.0         88.2         85.6         86.0         86.2         87.0         87.2         86.6         Mana         86.4         86.0         86.7         82.4         86.7         82.4         86.	California	78.6	81.4	92.0	94.8	89.3	92.1	88.3	91.1
Connecticut         80.9         81.3         94.7         91.6         91.6         90.6         90.9           Delaware         71.2         72.2         84.7         86.6         81.9         82.9         80.9         81.9           Florida         78.6         90.8         92.0         94.2         89.2         91.5         88.2         90.5           Georgia         79.5         79.6         92.2         90.3         89.2         89.3           Hawai         79.2         79.5         92.6         92.0         90.3         89.2         89.3           Idaho         76.2         76.8         89.6         90.2         86.9         87.5         86.6         84.0           Indiana         77.3         77.5         90.7         80.9         88.0         82.8         83.0         81.8           Kantask         73.4         72.1         86.8         85.5         84.0         82.8         83.0         81.8         84.6           Louisiana         73.7         77.0         87.1         90.4         84.4         87.7         83.4         86.7         83.9         83.8         83.8           Louisiania         73.7	Colorado	77.6	77.6	91.0	91.0	88.3	88.3	87.3	87.3
Delaware         71.2         72.2         84.7         85.6         81.9         82.9         80.9         81.9           District of Columbia         70.5         66.9         83.3         81.1         80.6         80.1         79.6           Georgia         79.5         79.6         92.9         93.0         90.2         89.3         89.2         89.3           Idaho         76.2         76.8         89.6         90.2         86.9         87.5         85.9         86.5           Ilinois         76.7         74.3         90.1         87.7         87.4         91.3         86.4         80.3           Iondana         77.3         77.5         90.7         90.9         88.0         82.2         87.0         87.2           Iowa         76.7         74.3         80.6         84.1         87.4         91.3         86.4         80.3           Kansas         73.4         77.1         86.4         86.1         86.7         83.4         85.7         83.4         85.7         83.4         85.7         83.4         85.7         83.4         86.7         83.4         85.7         83.4         85.7         83.4         85.7         83.4	Connecticut	80.9	81.3	94.3	94.7	91.6	91.9	90.6	90.9
District of Columbia         70.5         69.9         83.9         83.3         81.1         80.6         80.1         79.6           Florida         78.6         80.8         92.0         94.2         89.2         90.3         89.2         89.3           Hawaii         79.5         79.6         92.9         93.0         90.2         88.9         89.2           Idaho         76.2         76.8         89.6         90.2         86.9         85.5         86.4         84.0           Indiana         77.3         77.5         90.7         90.9         88.0         88.2         87.0         87.2           Iowa         76.7         74.3         90.1         94.1         87.4         91.3         86.4         80.3           Kansas         73.4         72.1         86.8         85.5         84.0         82.8         83.0         81.8           Louisiana         75.1         77.4         88.5         88.3         85.6         85.6         84.4         87.7         83.4         86.7           Marsachuests         76.3         73.2         87.5         86.6         87.0         83.8         86.0         83.8           Marsachu	Delaware	71.2	72.2	84.7	85.6	81.9	82.9	80.9	81.9
Florida         78.6         90.8         92.0         94.2         89.2         91.5         88.2         90.5           Georgia         79.5         79.6         92.6         92.9         89.9         90.2         88.9         89.2           Idaho         76.2         76.8         89.6         90.2         86.9         87.5         85.9         86.5           Illinois         76.7         74.3         90.1         87.7         87.4         85.0         86.4         80.0           Indiana         77.3         77.5         90.7         90.9         88.0         88.2         87.0         87.2           Iowa         76.0         72.7         88.4         86.1         86.7         83.4         86.7         82.4           Louisina         73.7         77.0         87.1         90.4         84.4         87.7         83.4         86.7           Maryland         74.1         73.2         87.5         86.6         84.8         83.9         83.8         82.8           Maryland         74.1         73.2         86.7         86.7         83.9         86.0         82.9         86.0         82.9         86.0         83.8         <	District of Columbia	70.5	69.9	83.9	83.3	81.1	80.6	80.1	79.6
Georgia         79.5         79.6         92.9         93.0         90.2         90.3         89.9         89.3           Hawaii         79.2         79.5         92.6         92.9         89.9         90.2         88.9         89.2           Idaho         76.2         76.8         88.6         90.2         86.9         87.5         85.9         86.0           Indiana         77.3         77.5         90.7         90.9         88.0         88.2         87.0         87.2           Iowa         76.7         60.6         90.1         94.1         87.4         91.3         86.4         80.3         81.8           Kansas         73.4         72.1         86.8         85.5         84.0         82.8         83.0         81.8           Louisiana         75.1         74.9         88.5         83.8         85.6         85.6         83.4         85.7         82.9         83.8         82.7         83.8         82.7         83.8         82.8         83.8         82.8         83.8         82.8         83.8         83.8         82.8         83.8         83.8         83.8         83.8         83.8         83.8         83.8         83.8         8	Florida	78.6	80.8	92.0	94.2	89.2	91.5	88.2	90.5
Hawaii79.279.592.692.989.990.288.989.2Idaho76.276.889.690.286.987.585.986.5Illinois76.774.390.790.988.088.287.087.2Iowa76.772.180.690.194.187.486.088.287.087.2Iowa76.072.789.486.186.783.485.782.4Louisiana75.177.087.190.484.487.783.486.7Maryland74.173.287.586.684.883.983.882.8Massachusetts76.373.289.786.687.083.986.082.8Michigan75.374.188.787.586.084.885.083.8Minesota76.476.389.889.787.187.086.186.0Missouri73.073.286.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.874.891.288.288.485.587.484.5Nevada80.676.991.990.391.387.690.393.690.592.6Nevada80.676.991.990.391.387.690.386.089.6Missouri73.478.592.991.990.289.289.289.289.2Nevada <td< td=""><td>Georgia</td><td>79.5</td><td>79.6</td><td>92.9</td><td>93.0</td><td>90.2</td><td>90.3</td><td>89.2</td><td>89.3</td></td<>	Georgia	79.5	79.6	92.9	93.0	90.2	90.3	89.2	89.3
Idaho         76.2         76.8         89.6         90.2         86.9         87.5         85.9         86.5           Illinois         76.7         74.3         90.1         87.7         87.4         91.3         86.4         84.0           Iowa         76.7         80.6         90.1         94.1         87.4         91.3         86.4         90.3           Kansas         73.4         72.1         86.8         85.5         84.0         82.8         83.0         81.8           Kentucky         76.0         72.7         89.4         86.1         86.7         83.4         85.7         82.4           Louisiana         75.1         74.9         88.5         88.3         85.6         84.8         84.6         84.6           Maryland         74.1         73.2         87.5         86.6         84.8         85.0         83.8         82.8           Michigan         75.3         74.1         88.7         87.5         86.0         84.8         85.0         86.1         86.0         83.9         82.7         82.9           Michigan         75.3         74.3         89.4         86.6         83.7         83.9         82.7	Hawaii	79.2	79.5	92.6	92.9	89.9	90.2	88.9	89.2
Illinois         76.7         74.3         90.1         87.7         87.4         85.0         86.4         84.0           Indana         77.3         77.5         90.7         90.9         88.0         87.2         87.0         87.2           Iowa         76.7         80.6         90.1         94.1         87.4         91.3         86.4         90.3           Kansas         73.4         72.1         86.8         85.5         84.0         82.8         83.0         81.8           Kentucky         76.0         72.7         89.4         86.1         86.7         83.4         85.7         82.4           Maine         73.7         77.0         87.1         90.4         84.4         87.7         83.4         86.7           Massachusetts         76.3         73.2         87.5         86.6         84.8         85.0         83.8         82.9           Michigan         75.3         74.1         88.7         87.5         86.0         84.8         85.0         83.8         82.8           Mississippi         80.8         80.7         87.1         87.0         86.1         86.0         83.4         85.5         87.4         84.5	Idaho	76.2	76.8	89.6	90.2	86.9	87.5	85.9	86.5
Indiana77.377.590.790.988.088.287.087.2lowa76.780.690.194.187.491.386.490.3Kansas73.472.186.885.584.082.883.081.8Kentucky76.072.789.486.186.783.485.782.4Louisiana75.174.988.588.385.885.885.883.385.884.886.7Maryland74.173.287.586.684.883.983.882.8Massachusetts76.373.289.786.687.083.986.083.8Michigan75.374.188.787.586.084.885.083.8Minnesota76.476.389.889.787.187.086.186.0Misissippi80.883.094.296.491.593.690.592.6Missouri77.077.266.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.877.874.190.391.387.690.386.6Nev Alaryska81.381.994.795.392.092.691.091.6Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.689.289.2New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.089.089.689.6New Yark79.980.	Illinois	76.7	74.3	90.1	87.7	87.4	85.0	86.4	84.0
Iowa         76.7         80.6         90.1         94.1         87.4         91.3         86.4         90.3           Kansas         73.4         72.1         86.8         85.5         84.0         82.8         83.0         81.8           Kentucky         76.0         72.7         89.4         86.1         86.7         82.4         85.7         82.4           Louislana         75.1         74.9         88.5         88.3         85.8         85.6         84.8         84.6           Mariane         73.7         77.0         87.1         90.4         84.4         87.7         83.4         86.7         82.8           Massachusetts         76.3         73.2         89.7         86.6         84.8         85.0         82.8           Michigan         75.3         74.1         88.7         87.5         86.0         84.8         85.0         82.8           Missouri         73.0         73.2         86.4         86.6         83.7         83.9         82.7         82.9           Montana         77.8         74.8         91.2         88.2         88.4         85.5         87.4         84.5           Nevada         80.6	Indiana	77.3	77.5	90.7	90.9	88.0	88.2	87.0	87.2
Kansas73.472.186.885.584.082.883.081.8Kentucky76.072.789.486.186.783.485.782.4Louisiana75.174.988.588.385.885.684.884.6Maine73.777.087.190.484.487.783.486.7Maryland74.173.287.586.687.083.983.882.8Massachusetts76.373.289.786.687.083.986.082.9Michigan75.374.188.786.687.083.986.082.9Missouri76.476.389.889.787.187.086.186.0Missouri73.073.286.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.874.891.288.288.485.587.484.5Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Jarsey78.578.592.991.990.289.289.288.2New Jarsey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.282.5New Jarsey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.292.5North Carolina79.578.592.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.775.388.688.7<	lowa	76.7	80.6	90.1	94.1	87.4	91.3	86.4	90.3
Kentucky76.072.789.486.186.783.485.782.4Louislana75.174.988.588.385.885.684.884.6Maine73.777.087.190.484.487.783.486.7Maryland74.173.287.586.684.883.983.882.8Massachusetts76.373.289.786.687.083.986.082.9Michigan75.374.188.787.586.084.885.083.8Minesota76.476.389.889.787.187.066.186.0Mississippi80.883.094.296.491.593.690.592.6Missouri73.073.286.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.874.891.288.284.485.587.484.5Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.288.2New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.286.0New Jork79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina75.522.996.290.293.589.282.5North Carolina75.667.684.381.184.3<	Kansas	73.4	72.1	86.8	85.5	84.0	82.8	83.0	81.8
Louisiana         75.1         74.9         88.5         88.3         85.8         85.6         84.8         84.6           Maine         73.7         77.0         87.1         90.4         84.4         87.7         83.4         86.7           Maryland         74.1         73.2         87.5         86.6         84.8         83.9         83.8         82.8           Michigan         75.3         74.1         88.7         87.5         86.0         84.8         85.0         83.8           Minnesota         76.4         76.3         89.8         89.7         87.1         87.0         86.1         86.0           Missoirpi         80.8         83.0         94.2         96.4         91.5         93.6         90.5         92.6           Missouri         73.0         73.2         86.4         86.6         83.7         83.9         82.7         82.9           Montana         77.8         74.8         91.2         88.2         88.4         85.5         87.4         84.5           New daca         80.6         76.9         94.1         90.3         91.3         87.6         89.6         88.0         89.6         88.0         88.6	Kentucky	76.0	72.7	89.4	86.1	86.7	83.4	85.7	82.4
Maine73.777.067.190.484.467.783.486.7Maryland74.173.287.586.684.883.983.882.8Massachusetts76.373.289.786.687.083.986.082.9Michigan75.374.188.787.586.084.885.083.8Minnesota76.476.389.889.787.187.086.186.0Missouri73.073.286.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.874.891.282.288.485.587.484.5Nebraska81.381.994.795.392.092.691.091.6New data80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Hampshire78.480.091.889.489.090.688.089.6New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.785.987.986.0Nert Vork79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.990.289.289.292.5North Carolina73.676.487.184.387.183.386.1Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.5	Louisiana	75.1	74.9	88.5	88.3	85.8	85.6	84.8	84.6
Maryland         74.1         73.2         87.5         86.6         84.8         83.9         83.8         82.8           Massachusetts         76.3         73.2         89.7         86.6         87.0         83.9         86.0         82.9           Michigan         75.3         74.1         88.7         87.5         86.0         84.8         85.0         83.8           Minnesota         76.4         76.3         89.8         89.7         87.1         87.0         86.1         86.0         83.0         90.5         92.6           Mississippi         80.8         83.0         94.2         96.4         91.5         93.6         90.5         92.6           Missouri         73.0         73.2         86.4         86.6         83.7         83.9         82.7         82.9           Montana         77.8         74.8         91.2         88.2         88.4         85.5         87.4         84.5           New tacka         81.3         81.9         94.7         95.3         92.0         92.6         91.0         91.6           New darce         78.4         80.0         91.8         93.4         89.0         90.6         88.0 <td< td=""><td>Maine</td><td>73.7</td><td>77.0</td><td>87.1</td><td>90.4</td><td>84.4</td><td>87.7</td><td>83.4</td><td>86.7</td></td<>	Maine	73.7	77.0	87.1	90.4	84.4	87.7	83.4	86.7
Massachusetts76.373.289.786.687.083.986.082.9Michigan75.374.188.787.586.084.885.083.8Minnesota76.476.389.889.787.187.086.186.0Mississippi80.883.094.266.491.593.690.592.6Missouri73.073.286.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.874.891.288.288.485.587.484.5Nebraska81.381.994.795.392.092.691.091.6Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.090.688.088.2New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.288.288.2New Vark79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.664.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Orio70.867.664.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.1	Maryland	74.1	73.2	87.5	86.6	84.8	83.9	83.8	82.8
Michigan         75.3         74.1         88.7         87.5         86.0         84.8         85.0         83.8           Minnesota         76.4         76.3         89.8         89.7         87.1         87.0         86.1         86.0           Missouri         73.0         73.2         86.4         86.6         83.7         83.9         82.7         82.9           Missouri         77.8         74.8         91.2         88.2         88.4         85.5         87.4         84.5           Nebraska         81.3         81.9         94.7         95.3         92.0         92.6         91.0         91.6           Nevada         80.6         76.9         94.1         90.3         91.3         87.6         90.3         88.0	Massachusetts	76.3	73.2	89.7	86.6	87.0	83.9	86.0	82.9
Minnesota76.476.389.889.787.187.086.186.0Mississippi80.883.094.296.491.593.690.592.6Mississippi73.073.286.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.874.891.288.288.485.587.484.5Nebraska81.381.994.795.392.092.691.091.6Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.090.688.089.6New Jersey79.576.592.991.990.289.288.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.986.0New York79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.975.489.186.886.	Michigan	75.3	74.1	88.7	87.5	86.0	84.8	85.0	83.8
Mississippi80.883.094.296.491.593.690.592.6Missouri73.073.286.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.874.891.288.288.485.587.484.5Nebraska81.381.994.795.392.092.691.091.6Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.090.688.089.6New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.986.0New York79.980.993.394.490.691.689.292.289.2North Carolina75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Pennsylvania75.975.489.391.486.688.785.687.7South Carolina76.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Carolina75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.0	Minnesota	76.4	76.3	89.8	89.7	87.1	87.0	86.1	86.0
Missouri73.073.286.486.683.783.982.782.9Montana77.874.891.288.288.485.587.484.5Nebraska81.381.994.795.392.092.691.091.6Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.090.688.089.6New Jersey79.576.592.991.990.289.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.9New Vork79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.589.3South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.	Mississippi	80.8	83.0	94.2	96.4	91.5	93.6	90.5	92.6
Montana77.874.891.288.288.485.587.484.5Nebraska81.381.994.795.392.092.691.091.6Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.388.6New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.090.688.089.6New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.986.0New Mexico78.275.388.688.785.989.292.5North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.387.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.	Missouri	73.0	73.2	86.4	86.6	83.7	83.9	82.7	82.9
Nebraska81.381.994.795.392.092.691.091.6Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.090.688.089.6New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.986.0New York79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina76.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.4 <td>Montana</td> <td>77.8</td> <td>74.8</td> <td>91.2</td> <td>88.2</td> <td>88.4</td> <td>85.5</td> <td>87.4</td> <td>84.5</td>	Montana	77.8	74.8	91.2	88.2	88.4	85.5	87.4	84.5
Nevada80.676.994.190.391.387.690.386.6New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.090.688.089.6New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.986.0New York79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.9<	Nebraska	81.3	81.9	94.7	95.3	92.0	92.6	91.0	91.6
New Hampshire78.480.091.893.489.090.688.089.6New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.986.0New York79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.384.3Utah74.274.687.6 <td< td=""><td>Nevada</td><td>80.6</td><td>76.9</td><td>94.1</td><td>90.3</td><td>91.3</td><td>87.6</td><td>90.3</td><td>86.6</td></td<>	Nevada	80.6	76.9	94.1	90.3	91.3	87.6	90.3	86.6
New Jersey79.578.592.991.990.289.289.289.288.2New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.986.0New York79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.2<	New Hampshire	78.4	80.0	91.8	93.4	89.0	90.6	88.0	89.6
New Mexico78.276.391.689.788.987.087.986.0New York79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.9 <td>New Jersey</td> <td>79.5</td> <td>78.5</td> <td>92.9</td> <td>91.9</td> <td>90.2</td> <td>89.2</td> <td>89.2</td> <td>88.2</td>	New Jersey	79.5	78.5	92.9	91.9	90.2	89.2	89.2	88.2
New York79.980.993.394.490.691.689.690.6North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.4 <td>New Mexico</td> <td>78.2</td> <td>76.3</td> <td>91.6</td> <td>89.7</td> <td>88.9</td> <td>87.0</td> <td>87.9</td> <td>86.0</td>	New Mexico	78.2	76.3	91.6	89.7	88.9	87.0	87.9	86.0
North Carolina79.582.892.996.290.293.589.292.5North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Carolina75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7Wisconsin74.274.285.597.6	New York	79.9	80.9	93.3	94.4	90.6	91.6	89.6	90.6
North Dakota75.275.388.688.785.985.984.984.9Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6	North Carolina	79.5	82.8	92.9	96.2	90.2	93.5	89.2	92.5
Ohio70.867.684.381.081.578.280.577.2Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6	North Dakota	75.2	75.3	88.6	88.7	85.9	85.9	84.9	84.9
Oklahoma73.473.786.887.184.184.483.183.4Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.878.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6	Ohio	70.8	67.6	84.3	81.0	81.5	78.2	80.5	77.2
Oregon73.676.487.189.884.387.183.386.1Pennsylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6	Oklahoma	73.4	73.7	86.8	87.1	84.1	84.4	83.1	83.4
Persylvania75.978.089.391.486.688.785.687.7Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6	Oregon	73.6	76.4	87.1	89.8	84.3	87.1	83.3	86.1
Rhode Island81.082.494.495.891.793.190.792.1South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6	Pennsylvania	75.9	78.0	89.3	91.4	86.6	88.7	85.6	87.7
South Carolina78.879.692.293.089.590.388.589.3South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6	Rhode Island	81.0	82.4	94.4	95.8	91.7	93.1	90.7	92.1
South Dakota75.775.489.188.886.486.185.385.1Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6	South Carolina	78.8	79.6	92.2	93.0	89.5	90.3	88.5	89.3
Tennessee71.371.084.784.482.081.781.080.7Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6Wisconspin72.174.285.587.682.884.081.982.0	South Dakota	75.7	75.4	89.1	88.8	86.4	86.1	85.3	85.1
Texas78.378.691.892.089.089.388.088.3Utah74.274.687.688.084.985.383.984.3Vermont75.874.389.287.786.585.085.584.0Virginia79.578.592.991.990.289.189.288.1Washington74.374.087.787.485.084.784.083.7West Virginia80.083.093.496.490.793.689.792.6Wisconsin72.174.285.587.682.884.081.882.0	Tennessee	71.3	71.0	84.7	84.4	82.0	81.7	81.0	80.7
Utah         74.2         74.6         87.6         88.0         84.9         85.3         83.9         84.3           Vermont         75.8         74.3         89.2         87.7         86.5         85.0         85.5         84.0           Virginia         79.5         78.5         92.9         91.9         90.2         89.1         89.2         88.1           Washington         74.3         74.0         87.7         87.4         85.0         84.7         84.0         83.7           West Virginia         80.0         83.0         93.4         96.4         90.7         93.6         89.7         92.6           Wisconsin         72.1         74.2         85.5         87.6         82.8         84.0         81.9         82.9	Texas	78.3	78.6	91.8	92.0	89.0	89.3	88.0	88.3
Vermont         75.8         74.3         89.2         87.7         86.5         85.0         85.5         84.0           Virginia         79.5         78.5         92.9         91.9         90.2         89.1         89.2         88.1           Washington         74.3         74.0         87.7         87.4         85.0         84.7         84.0         83.7           West Virginia         80.0         83.0         93.4         96.4         90.7         93.6         89.7         92.6           Wisconsin         72.1         74.2         85.5         97.6         92.9         94.0         94.9 </td <td>Utah</td> <td>74.2</td> <td>74.6</td> <td>87.6</td> <td>88.0</td> <td>84.9</td> <td>85.3</td> <td>83.9</td> <td>84.3</td>	Utah	74.2	74.6	87.6	88.0	84.9	85.3	83.9	84.3
Virginia       79.5       78.5       92.9       91.9       90.2       89.1       89.2       88.1         Washington       74.3       74.0       87.7       87.4       85.0       84.7       84.0       83.7         West Virginia       80.0       83.0       93.4       96.4       90.7       93.6       89.7       92.6         Wisconsin       72.1       74.2       85.5       87.6       82.8       84.0       81.9       83.0	Vermont	75.8	74.3	89.2	87.7	86.5	85.0	85.5	84.0
Washington         74.3         74.0         87.7         87.4         85.0         84.7         84.0         83.7           West Virginia         80.0         83.0         93.4         96.4         90.7         93.6         89.7         92.6           Wisconsin         72.1         74.2         85.5         87.6         82.8         84.0         81.8         83.0	Virginia	79.5	78.5	92.9	91.9	90.2	89.1	89.2	88.1
West Virginia         80.0         83.0         93.4         96.4         90.7         93.6         89.7         92.6           Wisconsin         72.1         74.2         85.5         87.6         82.8         84.0         81.8         83.0	Washington	74.3	74.0	87.7	87.4	85.0	84 7	84.0	83.7
Wieconsin 721 742 855 976 929 940 919 920	West Virginia	80.0	83.0	93.4	96.4	90.7	93.6	89.7	92.6
	Wisconsin	72 1	74.2	85.5	87.6	82.8	84.9	81.8	83.0
	Wyoming	78.8	79.4	92.2	92.8	89.5	90.0	88.5	89.0

## Table C-2.Benchmark percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8<br/>mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007

	Unadjus	ted	Top 1		Top 5		Top 10	
State	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Alabama	65.3	71.6	88.0	94.2	84.1	90.4	81.9	88.1
Alaska	66.3	69.2	89.0	91.8	85.1	88.0	82.8	85.7
Arizona	66.2	70.7	88.8	93.4	85.0	89.5	82.7	87.2
Arkansas	60.0	67.2	82.6	89.9	78.8	86.0	76.5	83.7
California	71.8	73.7	94.5	96.4	90.6	92.5	88.3	90.3
Colorado	64.0	69.3	86.7	92.0	82.8	88.1	80.5	85.8
Connecticut	69.4	72.8	92.1	95.5	88.2	91.6	85.9	89.4
Delaware	59.3	58.5	81.9	81.1	78.1	77.3	75.8	75.0
District of Columbia	54.1	57.2	76.8	79.9	72.9	76.0	70.7	73.8
Florida	71.2	75.7	93.8	98.3	90.0	94.5	87.7	92.2
Georgia	62.9	65.9	85.6	88.5	81.7	84.7	79.5	82.4
Hawaii	68.5	68.8	91.2	91.5	87.3	87.6	85.1	85.3
Idaho	64.1	69.5	86.7	92.2	82.9	88.3	80.6	86.1
Illinois	64.4	70.9	87.0	93.6	83.2	89.7	80.9	87.4
Indiana	67.6	72.6	90.3	95.3	86.4	91.4	84.2	89.2
lowa	60.2	65.9	82.8	88.5	79.0	84.7	76.7	82.4
Kansas	62.2	70.4	84.8	93.0	81.0	89.2	78.7	86.9
Kentucky	58.8	66.3	81.5	88.9	77.6	85.1	75.4	82.8
Louisiana	64.9	70.7	87.6	93.4	83.7	89.5	81.4	87.3
Maine	66.0	67.8	88.6	90.5	84.8	86.6	82.5	84.3
Maryland	67.3	66.4	89.9	89.1	86.1	85.2	83.8	83.0
Massachusetts	67.1	67.5	89.7	90.2	85.9	86.3	83.6	84.1
Michigan	61.9	67.6	84.6	90.2	80.7	86.4	78.5	84.1
Minnesota	70.6	72.9	93.3	95.6	89.4	91.7	87.2	89.5
Mississippi	74.5	76.6	97.2	99.3	93.3	95.4	91.1	93.2
Missouri	63.2	73.2	85.8	95.9	82.0	92.0	79.7	89.8
Montana	59.0	63.6	81.6	86.3	77.8	82.4	75.5	80.2
Nebraska	70.5	72.1	93.2	94.8	89.3	91.0	87.0	88.7
Nevada	64.2	69.2	86.9	91.9	83.0	88.0	80.7	85.7
New Hampshire	68.4	72.7	91.1	95.4	87.2	91.6	85.0	89.3
New Jersey	64.7	66.8	87.4	89.5	83.6	85.6	81.3	83.4
New Mexico	64.2	69.5	86.8	92.1	83.0	88.3	80.7	86.0
New York	68.8	71.1	91.4	93.7	87.6	89.9	85.3	87.6
North Carolina	69.1	74.0	91.7	96.7	87.9	92.8	85.6	90.6
North Dakota	67.1	65.7	89.8	88.3	85.9	84.5	83.6	82.2
Ohio	54.4	61.1	77.1	83.7	73.2	79.9	70.9	77.6
Oklahoma	63.9	67.6	86.6	90.3	82.7	86.4	80.4	84.2
Oregon	67.0	69.2	89.7	91.9	85.8	88.0	83.6	85.7
Pennsylvania	63.5	68.9	86.2	91.6	82.3	87.8	80.1	85.5
Rhode Island	70.1	72.8	92.8	95.5	89.0	91.6	86.7	89.3
South Carolina	70.0	72.5	92.7	95.2	88.8	91.3	86.5	89.1
South Dakota	65.1	71.1	87.8	93.8	83.9	89.9	81.6	87.7
Tennessee	53.6	58.7	76.2	81.4	72.4	77.5	70.1	75.2
Texas	72.7	71.3	95.3	93.9	91.5	90.1	89.2	87.8
Utah	66.0	68.5	88.6	91.2	84.8	87.3	82.5	85.0
Vermont	59.7	64.3	82.4	87.0	78.5	83.1	76.3	80.8
Virginia	59.7	70.0	82.4	92.7	78.5	88.8	76.2	86.6
Washington	63.3	68.5	86.0	91.2	82.1	87.3	79.9	85.1
West Virginia	69.4	74.7	92.0	97.3	88.2	93.5	85.9	91.2
Wisconsin	61.5	70.1	84.1	92.8	80.3	88.9	78.0	86.7
Wyoming	67.8	68.4	90.4	91.0	86.6	87.2	84.3	84.9

# Table C-3.Benchmark percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4<br/>reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007

	Unadjus	ted	Top 1		Top 5		Top 10	)
State	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Alabama	72.7	74.0	88.0	89.3	86.1	87.5	84.6	85.9
Alaska	72.8	72.5	88.0	87.8	86.2	86.0	84.6	84.4
Arizona	67.9	73.3	83.1	88.6	81.3	86.8	79.7	85.2
Arkansas	60.8	71.8	76.0	87.1	74.2	85.3	72.6	83.7
California	71.5	77.1	86.7	92.4	84.9	90.6	83.3	89.0
Colorado	68.3	74.9	83.6	90.2	81.8	88.4	80.2	86.8
Connecticut	75.4	75.7	90.6	90.9	88.8	89.1	87.2	87.5
Delaware	62.0	64.4	77.3	79.7	75.4	77.9	73.8	76.3
District of Columbia	62.6	59.6	77.9	74.9	76.0	73.1	74.5	71.5
Florida	72.3	77.9	87.6	93.2	85.7	91.4	84.2	89.8
Georgia	69.2	69.7	84.4	85.0	82.6	83.2	81.0	81.6
Hawaii	72.8	74.2	88.0	89.4	86.2	87.6	84.6	86.0
Idaho	70.4	74.9	85.7	90.2	83.9	88.4	82.3	86.8
Illinois	66.9	70.3	82.2	85.6	80.3	83.8	78.7	82.2
Indiana	70.4	72.4	85.7	87.7	83.9	85.9	82.3	84.3
lowa	69.6	73.0	84.8	88.3	83.0	86.5	81.4	84.9
Kansas	64.3	71.6	79.6	86.9	77.7	85.1	76.1	83.5
Kentucky	60.7	63.5	76.0	78.8	74.2	77.0	72.6	75.4
Louisiana	67.0	74.5	82.3	89.8	80.5	88.0	78.9	86.4
Maine	67.3	72.0	82.5	87.2	80.7	85.4	79.1	83.8
Marvland	66.2	67.2	81.5	82.5	79.7	80.6	78.1	79.0
Massachusetts	70.3	71.9	85.6	87.1	83.7	85.3	82.2	83.7
Michigan	65.7	71.3	81.0	86.5	79.2	84 7	77.6	83.1
Minnesota	71.0	73.4	86.3	88.6	84.5	86.8	82.9	85.2
Mississinni	74.1	75.9	89.4	00.0 01 2	87.6	89.4	86.0	87.8
Missouri	62.7	73.8	77 0	91.2 80.0	76.1	87.2	74.5	85.6
Montana	66.4	73.0	81.7	86.8	70.1	85.0	78.3	83.4
Nebraska	67.5	74.7	82.8	00.0 00.0	80.9	88.2	70.0	86.6
Novada	71.6	74.7	96.0	90.0	80.9	94.1	79.4 92.4	80.0
New Hompohiro	71.0	70.0	80.9	00.9	05.0	04.1	05.4	02.5
	73.0	70.0	09.1	92.1	07.3	90.2	03.7	00.7
New Jersey	72.6	71.7	87.8	87.0	86.0	85.1	84.4	83.6
	70.5	73.0	85.8	00.4	84.0	80.4	82.4	84.8
New York	69.4	74.8	84.6	90.1	82.8	88.2	81.2	86.6
North Carolina	/1.1	76.9	86.4	92.2	84.6	90.4	83.0	88.8
North Dakota	65.5	68.2	80.8	83.4	78.9	81.6	77.3	80.0
Onio	63.9	63.1	79.2	78.3	77.4	76.5	75.8	74.9
Okianoma	65.9	71.2	81.1	86.4	79.3	84.6	77.7	83.0
Oregon	68.0	70.7	83.2	86.0	81.4	84.2	79.8	82.6
Pennsylvania	69.0	73.8	84.2	89.0	82.4	87.2	80.8	85.6
Rhode Island	74.0	78.3	89.2	93.5	87.4	91.7	85.8	90.1
South Carolina	68.7	72.2	83.9	87.5	82.1	85.6	80.5	84.0
South Dakota	62.7	70.3	78.0	85.5	76.2	83.7	74.6	82.1
Tennessee	60.1	62.8	75.4	78.1	73.6	76.3	72.0	74.7
Texas	73.7	72.8	89.0	88.0	87.2	86.2	85.6	84.6
Utah	67.6	67.6	82.9	82.9	81.1	81.1	79.5	79.5
Vermont	69.3	73.9	84.5	89.2	82.7	87.4	81.1	85.8
Virginia	69.6	73.3	84.8	88.5	83.0	86.7	81.4	85.1
Washington	65.6	71.8	80.9	87.1	79.0	85.3	77.4	83.7
West Virginia	67.1	74.9	82.4	90.2	80.6	88.4	79.0	86.8
Wisconsin	63.6	66.4	78.9	81.7	77.1	79.9	75.5	78.3
Wyoming	71.3	68.9	86.6	84.2	84.8	82.4	83.2	80.8

# Table C-4.Benchmark percentages of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8<br/>reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007

	Unadius	sted	Top	1	Top 5		Top 1	0
State	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Alabama	9.9	5.4	-1.8	-6.3	0.3	-4.3	1.4	-3.1
Alaska	9.7	9.8	-2.0	-1.8	0.0	0.2	1.2	1.4
Arizona	-2.4	1.4	-14.1	-10.2	-12.0	-8.2	-10.9	-7.0
Arkansas	8.2	2.0	-3.5	-9.7	-1.4	-7.6	-0.3	-6.5
California	-2.6	0.8	-14.2	-10.9	-12.2	-8.9	-11.0	-7.7
Colorado	4.5	8.3	-7.2	-3.3	-5.1	-1.3	-4.0	-0.1
Connecticut	1.9	7.2	-9.8	-4.5	-7.7	-2.5	-6.6	-1.3
Delaware	-21.8	-5.1	-33.5	-16.7	-31.4	-14.7	-30.3	-13.5
District of Columbia	-3.9	-8.8	-15.6	-20.5	-13.6	-18.4	-12.4	-17.3
Florida	4.6	3.0	-7 1	-8.7	-5.0	-6.6	-3.9	-5.5
Georgia	3.8	0.0	-7.9	-11 7	-5.9	-9.6	-4 7	-8.5
Hawaii	5.7	9.5	-6.0	-2 1	-3.9	-0.1	-2.8	11
Idaho	11 7	57	0.0	_6.0	2.0	-4.0	3.2	-2.8
Illinois	4.6	-5.5	-7 1	-17.2	-5.0	-15.2	-3.8	_14.0
Indiana	5.6	0.6	-6.1	_11 1	-4.0	_9.0	-2.9	_7.9
lowa	3.3	7 1	_8.4	_4.6	-6.4	-2.6	_5.2	_1.3
Kansas	5.5	_0.2	-6.2	_4.0 _11 Q	-0.4	-2.0	-3.0	-1. <del>4</del> _8.7
Kentucky	3.3	0.2	_8.4	_11.0	-6.4	_0.0	-5.2	_7.9
Louisiana	0.0	2.7	12.6	-11.1	-0.4	-5.0	-5.2	-7.5
Maina	-0.9	0.7	-12.0	-0.0	-10.5	-3.9	-9.4	-4.0
Mandand	2.0	2.0	-9.7	-9.2	-7.7	-1.2	-0.5	-0.0
Magaaabuaatta	-2.3	-8.0	-14.0	-20.3	-12.0	-18.2	-10.8	-17.1
Massachuseus	0.0	-0.3	-11.7	-18.0	-9.7	-10.0	-8.5	-14.8
Michigan	-3.8	-5.1	-15.5	-16.8	-13.4	-14.7	-12.3	-13.6
Minnesota	4.0	5.0	-7.7	-6.7	-5.7	-4.6	-4.5	-3.5
Mississippi	-6.6	4.9	-18.3	-6.8	-16.3	-4.8	-15.1	-3.6
Missouri	4.5	-4.8	-7.2	-16.5	-5.2	-14.4	-4.0	-13.3
Montana	2.7	4.4	-8.9	-7.3	-6.9	-5.2	-5.7	-4.1
Nebraska	3.6	0.5	-8.1	-11.2	-6.0	-9.2	-4.9	-8.0
Nevada	-2.6	2.1	-14.3	-9.5	-12.2	-7.5	-11.1	-6.3
New Hampshire	8.3	6.4	-3.4	-5.3	-1.3	-3.2	-0.2	-2.1
New Jersey	3.8	5.5	-7.9	-6.2	-5.8	-4.2	-4.7	-3.0
New Mexico	7.4	3.0	-4.3	-8.7	-2.3	-6.7	-1.1	-5.5
New York	0.5	6.0	-11.2	-5.7	-9.1	-3.7	-8.0	-2.5
North Carolina	3.8	5.1	-7.9	-6.6	-5.8	-4.5	-4.7	-3.4
North Dakota	0.6	-5.6	-11.1	-17.3	-9.0	-15.3	-7.9	-14.1
Ohio	-5.9	-5.8	-17.6	-17.5	-15.5	-15.4	-14.4	-14.3
Oklahoma	0.3	-12.1	-11.4	-23.8	-9.3	-21.8	-8.2	-20.6
Oregon	-1.3	5.5	-13.0	-6.1	-10.9	-4.1	-9.8	-2.9
Pennsylvania	4.8	4.6	-6.9	-7.1	-4.9	-5.0	-3.7	-3.9
Rhode Island	3.3	7.0	-8.4	-4.7	-6.4	-2.7	-5.2	-1.5
South Carolina	-9.6	2.4	-21.3	-9.2	-19.3	-7.2	-18.1	-6.0
South Dakota	4.9	7.0	-6.8	-4.7	-4.7	-2.7	-3.6	-1.5
Tennessee	2.8	-13.9	-8.9	-25.6	-6.8	-23.5	-5.7	-22.4
Texas	-17.3	-19.9	-29.0	-31.6	-26.9	-29.6	-25.8	-28.4
Utah	6.8	2.4	-4.9	-9.3	-2.8	-7.3	-1.7	-6.1
Vermont	1.3	8.2	-10.4	-3.5	-8.3	-1.5	-7.2	-0.3
Virginia	-10.8	-8.7	-22.5	-20.4	-20.5	-18.3	-19.3	-17.2
Washington	7.3	5.3	-4.4	-6.4	-2.4	-4.4	-1.2	-3.2
West Virginia	4.1	4.2	-7.5	-7.5	-5.5	-5.4	-4.3	-4.3
Wisconsin	7.0	2.8	-4.7	-8.9	-2.6	-6.9	-1.5	-5.7
Wyoming	8.6	8.6	-3.1	-3.1	-1.1	-1.1	0.1	0.1

Table C-5.Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4<br/>mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007

	Unadjus	ted	Top 1	1	Top 5		Top 1	0
State	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Alabama	13.4	0.1	0.0	-13.3	2.7	-10.5	3.7	-9.5
Alaska	6.2	-9.2	-7.2	-22.6	-4.5	-19.9	-3.5	-18.9
Arizona	-6.1	-2.9	-19.5	-16.3	-16.8	-13.6	-15.8	-12.6
Arkansas	6.3	5.6	-7.1	-7.8	-4.4	-5.1	-3.4	-4.1
California	5.9	1.6	-7.6	-11.8	-4.8	-9.1	-3.8	-8.1
Colorado	6.3	9.6	-7.1	-3.8	-4.4	-1.1	-3.4	-0.1
Connecticut	2.9	9.4	-10.5	-4.0	-7.8	-1.2	-6.8	-0.2
Delaware	-37.1	-15.1	-50.5	-28.5	-47.8	-25.8	-46.8	-24.8
District of Columbia	0.7	-24.2	-12.7	-37.6	-9.9	-34.9	-8.9	-33.9
Florida	7.0	2.7	-6.4	-10.7	-3.7	-8.0	-2.7	-7.0
Georgia	2.5	-29.4	-10.9	-42.8	-8.2	-40.1	-7.2	-39.1
Hawaii	6.9	11.3	-6.5	-2.1	-3.8	0.7	-2.8	1.7
Idaho	10.1	9.7	-3.4	-3.7	-0.6	-1.0	0.4	0.1
Illinois	6.9	-8.7	-6.5	-22.1	-3.7	-19.4	-2.7	-18.4
Indiana	-0.8	-13.7	-14.2	-27.1	-11.5	-24.4	-10.5	-23.4
lowa	7.1	3.6	-6.3	-9.8	-3.6	-7.1	-2.6	-6.1
Kansas	3.3	-2.6	-10.1	-16.0	-7.4	-13.3	-6.4	-12.3
Kentucky	-3.3	-21.1	-16.7	-34.5	-13.9	-31.8	-12.9	-30.8
Louisiana	-4.4	-0.8	-17.8	-14.2	-15.1	-11.5	-14.1	-10.5
Maine	1.4	-5.1	-12.0	-18.5	-9.2	-15.8	-8.2	-14.7
Maryland	-6.9	-34.9	-20.3	-48.3	-17.6	-45.5	-16.6	-44.5
Massachusetts	-7.7	-23.8	-21.1	-37.2	-18.4	-34.4	-17.4	-33.4
Michigan	-5.9	-4.9	-19.3	-18.3	-16.6	-15.6	-15.6	-14.6
Minnesota	9.1	7.1	-4.3	-6.3	-1.6	-3.5	-0.6	-2.5
Mississippi	-12.3	-4.5	-25.7	-17.9	-22.9	-15.2	-21.9	-14.2
Missouri	-0.5	-7.8	-13.9	-21.2	-11.2	-18.5	-10.2	-17.5
Montana	6.5	2.5	-7.0	-10.9	-4.2	-8.2	-3.2	-7.2
Nebraska	9.8	1.0	-3.6	-12.4	-0.9	-9.6	0.1	-8.6
Nevada	1.7	-3.1	-11.7	-16.5	-9.0	-13.8	-8.0	-12.8
New Hampshire	9.6	3.3	-3.8	-10.1	-1.1	-7.3	-0.1	-6.3
New Jersey	3.6	4.2	-9.8	-9.2	-7.1	-6.5	-6.1	-5.5
New Mexico	8.9	7.2	-4.5	-6.2	-1.8	-3.5	-0.8	-2.5
New York	1.3	-1.7	-12.1	-15.1	-9.3	-12.4	-8.3	-11.3
North Carolina	6.3	3.9	-7.1	-9.5	-4.4	-6.8	-3.4	-5.8
North Dakota	-1.2	-17.1	-14.6	-30.6	-11.8	-27.8	-10.8	-26.8
Ohio	-10.9	-14.0	-24.3	-27.4	-21.6	-24.6	-20.6	-23.6
Oklahoma	3.1	-28.8	-10.3	-42.2	-7.6	-39.5	-6.6	-38.5
Oregon	8.5	1.6	-4.9	-11.8	-2.2	-9.1	-1.2	-8.0
Pennsylvania	4.9	-0.1	-8.5	-13.5	-5.8	-10.8	-4.8	-9.8
Rhode Island	4.1	5.6	-9.3	-7.8	-6.6	-5.1	-5.6	-4.1
South Carolina	-19.5	-19.4	-32.9	-32.8	-30.2	-30.1	-29.2	-29.1
South Dakota	7.2	2.9	-6.2	-10.5	-3.5	-7.8	-2.5	-6.8
Tennessee	-2.6	-24.0	-16.0	-37.4	-13.3	-34.7	-12.3	-33.7
Texas	-17.3	-20.1	-30.7	-33.5	-28.0	-30.8	-27.0	-29.8
Utah	8.2	2.5	-5.2	-10.9	-2.5	-8.2	-1.5	-7.1
Vermont	3.3	3.7	-10.1	-9.7	-7.4	-7.0	-6.3	-6.0
Virginia	-8.6	-19.6	-22.0	-33.0	-19.2	-30.3	-18.2	-29.3
Washington	8.7	-0.9	-4.7	-14.3	-2.0	-11.6	-1.0	-10.6
West Virginia	3.0	5.9	-10.4	-7.5	-7.7	-4.8	-6.7	-3.8
Wisconsin	6.6	-0.5	-6.8	-14.0	-4.1	-11.2	-3.1	-10.2
Wyoming	10.6	5.3	-2.8	-8.1	-0.1	-5.3	0.9	-4.3

Table C-6.Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8<br/>mathematics assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007

	Unadjus	sted	Top 1		Top 5		Top 10	)
State	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Alabama	20.0	6.6	-2.6	-16.1	1.2	-12.2	3.5	-10.0
Alaska	18.2	11.7	-4.5	-11.0	-0.6	-7.1	1.7	-4.9
Arizona	0.5	4.1	-22.2	-18.5	-18.3	-14.7	-16.0	-12.4
Arkansas	-6.7	-12.2	-29.4	-34.9	-25.5	-31.0	-23.2	-28.7
California	3.1	3.6	-19.5	-19.1	-15.7	-15.2	-13.4	-12.9
Colorado	14.7	10.6	-8.0	-12.0	-4.1	-8.2	-1.9	-5.9
Connecticut	9.0	12.2	-13.6	-10.4	-9.8	-6.6	-7.5	-4.3
Delaware	-30.7	-12.4	-53.4	-35.1	-49.5	-31.2	-47.3	-29.0
District of Columbia	3.6	-28.6	-19.1	-51.3	-15.2	-47.4	-12.9	-45.2
Florida	4.8	1.7	-17.8	-21.0	-14.0	-17.1	-11.7	-14.9
Georgia	-3.3	-22.5	-25.9	-45.2	-22.1	-41.3	-19.8	-39.0
Hawaii	14.0	8.4	-8.7	-14.3	-4.8	-10.5	-2.5	-8.2
Idaho	8.2	7.6	-14.5	-15.0	-10.6	-11.2	-8.4	-8.9
Illinois	1.0	-3.3	-21.7	-26.0	-17.9	-22.2	-15.6	-19.9
Indiana	7.6	5.0	-15.1	-17.7	-11.2	-13.8	-8.9	-11.6
lowa	5.0	5.3	-17.7	-17.3	-13.8	-13.5	-11.5	-11.2
Kansas	15.3	-8.0	-7.4	-30.6	-3.5	-26.8	-1.2	-24.5
Kentucky	-13.4	-13.1	-36.1	-35.8	-32.2	-31.9	-30.0	-29.7
Louisiana	-23.7	8.6	-46.4	-14.1	-42.5	-10.2	-40.3	-8.0
Maine	-0.2	1.7	-22.9	-21.0	-19.0	-17.2	-16.7	-14.9
Maryland	-3.9	-15.0	-26.6	-37.7	-22.7	-33.8	-20.5	-31.5
Massachusetts	0.2	4.5	-22.5	-18.1	-18.6	-14.3	-16.3	-12.0
Michigan	-9.7	0.6	-32.3	-22.0	-28.5	-18.2	-26.2	-15.9
Minnesota	13.9	4.1	-8.8	-18.5	-4.9	-14.7	-2.6	-12.4
Mississippi	-7.6	1.0	-30.3	-21.7	-26.4	-17.8	-24.1	-15.5
Missouri	-7.4	5.6	-30.1	-17.0	-26.2	-13.2	-24.0	-10.9
Montana	2.1	1.1	-20.5	-21.5	-16.7	-17.7	-14.4	-15.4
Nebraska	4.7	0.0	-18.0	-22.7	-14.2	-18.8	-11.9	-16.6
Nevada	-3.8	1.0	-26.4	-21.7	-22.6	-17.8	-20.3	-15.6
New Hampshire	14.6	7.0	-8.1	-15.6	-4.2	-11.8	-1.9	-9.5
New Jersey	9.0	-5.1	-13.6	-27.8	-9.8	-23.9	-7.5	-21.7
New Mexico	0.2	-15.2	-22.5	-37.9	-18.6	-34.0	-16.3	-31.8
New York	5.7	1.4	-16.9	-21.2	-13.1	-17.4	-10.8	-15.1
North Carolina	14.2	13.6	-8.5	-9.1	-4.6	-5.2	-2.4	-2.9
North Dakota	-2.4	-19.5	-25.0	-42.2	-21.2	-38.3	-18.9	-36.1
Ohio	-13.5	-10.4	-36.2	-33.1	-32.4	-29.2	-30.1	-26.9
Oklahoma	8.6	-8.9	-14.1	-31.5	-10.2	-27.7	-7.9	-25.4
Oregon	2.3	5.1	-20.3	-17.6	-16.5	-13.7	-14.2	-11.5
Pennsylvania	9.7	3.1	-12.9	-19.6	-9.1	-15.7	-6.8	-13.4
Rhode Island	17.9	10.1	-4.8	-12.6	-0.9	-8.7	1.3	-6.4
South Carolina	-8.9	1.2	-31.6	-21.4	-27.7	-17.6	-25.5	-15.3
South Dakota	6.3	-4.9	-16.4	-27.6	-12.5	-23.7	-10.2	-21.5
Tennessee	-15.2	-21.7	-37.9	-44.4	-34.0	-40.5	-31.7	-38.2
Texas	-14.2	-19.6	-36.9	-42.2	-33.0	-38.4	-30.7	-36.1
Utah	6.0	-5.7	-16.7	-28.3	-12.8	-24.5	-10.5	-22.2
Vermont	8.6	2.7	-14.0	-20.0	-10.2	-16.1	-7.9	-13.9
Virginia	-22.9	-14.5	-45.6	-37.2	-41.7	-33.3	-39.5	-31.1
Washington	13.5	4.0	-9.1	-18.7	-5.3	-14.8	-3.0	-12.5
West Virginia	-0.3	16.4	-22.9	-6.3	-19.1	-2.4	-16.8	-0.2
Wisconsin	10.2	2.3	-12.5	-20.4	-8.6	-16.5	-6.3	-14.2
Wyoming	22.7	10.3	0.0	-12.4	3.9	-8.6	6.1	-6.3

Table C-7.Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4<br/>reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007

State         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2007         2005         2005         2007 <t< th=""><th></th></t<>	
Alabama         15.3         0.2         0.0         -15.1         1.8         -13.3         3.4         -11.           Alaska         15.2         11.6         -0.1         -3.7         1.8         -1.8         3.3         -0.1           Arizona         5.5         -6.0         -9.8         -21.3         -8.0         -19.5         -6.4         -17.           Arkansas         1.2         -9.7         -14.0         -25.0         -12.2         -23.2         -8.0           Colorado         8.4         3.2         -6.6         -12.0         -4.8         -10.2         -3.2         -8.0           Colorado         8.4         3.2         -6.6         -12.0         -4.8         -10.2         -3.2         -8.0           Colorado         8.4         3.2         -6.8         -12.1         -5.0         -10.3         -3.4         -8.0           District of Columbia         -0.5         -26.1         -15.8         -41.4         -14.0         -39.5         -12.4         -37.           Florida         7.9         5.5         -7.4         -9.7         -5.6         -7.9         -4.0         -6.6           Georgia         -6.8 <t< th=""><th>State</th></t<>	State
Alaska15.211.6 $-0.1$ $-3.7$ 1.8 $-1.8$ 3.3 $-0.$ Arzona5.5 $-6.0$ $-9.8$ $-21.3$ $-8.0$ $-19.5$ $-6.4$ $-17.$ Arkansas1.2 $-9.7$ $-14.0$ $-25.0$ $-12.2$ $-23.2$ $-10.6$ $-21.$ California8.73.2 $-6.6$ $-12.0$ $-4.8$ $-10.2$ $-3.2$ $-8.6$ Colorado8.43.2 $-6.6$ $-12.1$ $-5.0$ $-10.3$ $-3.4$ $-8.6$ Connecticut9.111.3 $-6.2$ $-3.9$ $-4.4$ $-2.1$ $-2.8$ $-0.$ Delaware $-28.7$ $-1.8$ $-44.0$ $-17.1$ $-42.1$ $-15.3$ $-40.5$ $-13.$ District of Columbia $-0.5$ $-5.6$ $-7.9$ $-4.0$ $-6.6$ $-7.7$ $-9.7$ $-5.6$ $-7.9$ $-4.0$ $-6.6$ Georgia $-6.8$ $-24.8$ $-22.0$ $-40.0$ $-20.2$ $-38.2$ $-18.6$ $-36.$ Hawaii9.613.4 $-5.7$ $-1.8$ $-3.8$ $0.0$ $-2.2$ $1.1$ Idaho11.1 $0.0$ $-4.2$ $-15.3$ $-2.4$ $-13.4$ $-0.8$ $-11.1$ Illinois $5.6$ $2.1$ $-9.7$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ $-5.5$ $-13.3$ Iowa $6.4$ $-1.3$ $-8.9$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ $-5.5$ $-13.3$ Iowa $6.4$ $-1.3$ $-8.9$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ <td>Alabama</td>	Alabama
Arizona $5.5$ $-6.0$ $-9.8$ $-21.3$ $-8.0$ $-19.5$ $-6.4$ $-17.$ Arkansas $1.2$ $-9.7$ $-14.0$ $-25.0$ $-12.2$ $-23.2$ $-10.6$ $-21.$ California $8.7$ $3.2$ $-6.6$ $-12.0$ $-14.8$ $-10.2$ $-3.2$ $-8.$ Colorado $8.4$ $3.2$ $-6.8$ $-12.0$ $-4.8$ $-10.2$ $-3.2$ $-8.$ Colorado $8.4$ $3.2$ $-6.8$ $-12.0$ $-4.8$ $-0.2$ $-3.2$ $-8.$ Connecticut $9.1$ $11.3$ $-6.2$ $-3.9$ $-4.4$ $-2.1$ $-2.8$ $-0.$ Delaware $-28.7$ $-1.8$ $-44.0$ $-17.1$ $-42.1$ $-15.3$ $-40.5$ $-13.$ District of Columbia $-0.5$ $-26.1$ $-15.8$ $-41.4$ $-14.0$ $-39.5$ $-12.4$ $-37.$ Florida $7.9$ $5.5$ $-7.4$ $-9.7$ $-7.6$ $-7.9$ $-4.0$ $-6.$ Georgia $-6.8$ $-22.8$ $-22.0$ $-40.0$ $-20.2$ $-38.2$ $-18.6$ $-36.$ Hawaii $9.6$ $13.4$ $-5.7$ $-1.8$ $-3.8$ $0.0$ $-2.2$ $1.$ Idaho $11.1$ $0.0$ $-4.2$ $-15.3$ $-2.4$ $-13.4$ $-0.8$ $-13.$ Indiana $3.1$ $-1.5$ $-12.2$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ $-5.5$ $-13.$ Iowa $6.4$ $-1.3$ $-8.9$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ $-5.5$	Alaska
Arkansas1.2 $-9.7$ $-14.0$ $-25.0$ $-12.2$ $-23.2$ $-10.6$ $-21.$ California $8.7$ $3.2$ $-6.6$ $-12.0$ $-4.8$ $-10.2$ $-3.2$ $-8.$ Colorado $8.4$ $3.2$ $-6.6$ $-12.1$ $-5.0$ $-10.3$ $-3.4$ $-8.$ Connecticut $9.1$ $111.3$ $-6.2$ $-3.9$ $-4.4$ $-2.1$ $-2.8$ $-0.$ Delaware $-28.7$ $-1.8$ $-44.0$ $-17.1$ $-42.1$ $-15.3$ $-40.5$ $-13.$ District of Columbia $-0.5$ $-26.1$ $-15.8$ $-41.4$ $-14.0$ $-39.5$ $-12.4$ $-37.$ Florida $7.9$ $5.5$ $-7.4$ $-9.7$ $-5.6$ $-7.9$ $-4.0$ $-6.$ Georgia $-6.8$ $-24.8$ $-22.0$ $-40.0$ $-20.2$ $-38.2$ $-18.6$ $-36.$ Hawaii $9.6$ $13.4$ $-5.7$ $-1.8$ $-3.8$ $0.0$ $-2.2$ $1.$ Idaho $11.1$ $0.0$ $-4.2$ $-15.3$ $-2.4$ $-13.4$ $-0.8$ $-11.$ Illinois $5.6$ $2.1$ $-9.7$ $-13.2$ $-7.9$ $-11.3$ $-6.3$ $-9.$ Indiana $3.1$ $-1.5$ $-12.2$ $-16.8$ $-10.4$ $-14.9$ $-8.8$ $-13.$ Iowa $6.4$ $-1.3$ $-8.9$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ $-5.5$ $-13.$ Kansas $8.4$ $-5.8$ $-6.9$ $-21.0$ $-5.1$ $-19.2$ $-3.5$	Arizona
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Arkansas
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	California
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Colorado
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Connecticut
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Delaware
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	District of Columbia
Georgia $-6.8$ $-24.8$ $-22.0$ $-40.0$ $-20.2$ $-38.2$ $-18.6$ $-36.$ Hawaii9.613.4 $-5.7$ $-1.8$ $-3.8$ 0.0 $-2.2$ 1.Idaho11.10.0 $-4.2$ $-15.3$ $-2.4$ $-13.4$ $-0.8$ $-11.$ Illinois5.62.1 $-9.7$ $-13.2$ $-7.9$ $-11.3$ $-6.3$ $-9.$ Indiana3.1 $-1.5$ $-12.2$ $-16.8$ $-10.4$ $-14.9$ $-8.8$ $-13.$ Iowa6.4 $-1.3$ $-8.9$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ $-5.5$ $-13.$ Kansas8.4 $-5.8$ $-6.9$ $-21.0$ $-5.1$ $-19.2$ $-3.5$ $-17.$ Kentucky $-15.9$ $-21.1$ $-31.2$ $-36.3$ $-29.3$ $-34.5$ $-27.8$ $-32.$ Louisiana $-17.2$ $5.6$ $-32.5$ $-9.7$ $-30.7$ $-7.9$ $-29.1$ $-6.$ Maine $-1.4$ $-4.1$ $-16.7$ $-19.4$ $-14.8$ $-17.6$ $-13.2$ $-16.6$ Maryland2.8 $-19.4$ $-12.4$ $-34.7$ $-10.6$ $-32.8$ $-9.0$ $-31.$ Massachusetts $-1.3$ $-3.2$ $-16.6$ $-18.4$ $-14.8$ $-16.6$ $-13.2$ $-15.$ Minesota11.8 $-0.2$ $-3.5$ $-15.4$ $-1.6$ $-13.2$ $-15.$ Minesota11.8 $-0.2$ $-3.5$ $-15.4$ $-1.6$ $-13.6$ $-0.1$ $-12.$ Min	Florida
Hawaii9.613.4 $-5.7$ $-1.8$ $-3.8$ $0.0$ $-2.2$ $1.1$ Idaho11.1 $0.0$ $-4.2$ $-15.3$ $-2.4$ $-13.4$ $-0.8$ $-11.1$ Illinois $5.6$ $2.1$ $-9.7$ $-13.2$ $-7.9$ $-11.3$ $-6.3$ $-9.$ Indiana $3.1$ $-1.5$ $-12.2$ $-16.8$ $-10.4$ $-14.9$ $-8.8$ $-13.1$ Iowa $6.4$ $-1.3$ $-8.9$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ $-5.5$ $-13.1$ Kansas $8.4$ $-5.8$ $-6.9$ $-21.0$ $-5.1$ $-19.2$ $-3.5$ $-17.7$ Kentucky $-15.9$ $-21.1$ $-31.2$ $-36.3$ $-29.3$ $-34.5$ $-27.8$ $-32.1$ Louisiana $-17.2$ $5.6$ $-32.5$ $-9.7$ $-30.7$ $-7.9$ $-29.1$ $-6.6$ Maine $-1.4$ $-4.1$ $-16.7$ $-19.4$ $-14.8$ $-17.6$ $-13.2$ $-16.6$ Maryland $2.8$ $-19.4$ $-12.4$ $-34.7$ $-10.6$ $-32.8$ $-9.0$ $-31.1$ Massachusetts $-1.3$ $-3.2$ $-16.6$ $-18.4$ $-14.8$ $-16.6$ $-13.2$ $-15.5$ Mingan $-9.7$ $-7.8$ $-25.0$ $-23.1$ $-23.1$ $-21.3$ $-21.5$ $-19.16$ Missouri $-13.2$ $-16.6$ $-18.4$ $-14.8$ $-16.6$ $-13.2$ $-15.1$ Missouri $-13.2$ $-27.8$ $-25.0$ $-23.1$ $-23.1$ $-21.3$ $-$	Georgia
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Hawaii
Illinois $5.6$ $2.1$ $-9.7$ $-13.2$ $-7.9$ $-11.3$ $-6.3$ $-9.7$ Indiana $3.1$ $-1.5$ $-12.2$ $-16.8$ $-10.4$ $-14.9$ $-8.8$ $-13.7$ Iowa $6.4$ $-1.3$ $-8.9$ $-16.6$ $-7.1$ $-14.8$ $-5.5$ $-13.7$ Kansas $8.4$ $-5.8$ $-6.9$ $-21.0$ $-5.1$ $-19.2$ $-3.5$ $-17.7$ Kentucky $-15.9$ $-21.1$ $-31.2$ $-36.3$ $-29.3$ $-34.5$ $-27.8$ $-32.2$ Louisiana $-17.2$ $5.6$ $-32.5$ $-9.7$ $-30.7$ $-7.9$ $-29.1$ $-6.6$ Maine $-1.4$ $-4.1$ $-16.7$ $-19.4$ $-14.8$ $-17.6$ $-13.2$ $-16.6$ Maryland $2.8$ $-19.4$ $-12.4$ $-34.7$ $-10.6$ $-32.8$ $-9.0$ $-31.7$ Massachusetts $-1.3$ $-3.2$ $-16.6$ $-18.4$ $-14.8$ $-16.6$ $-13.2$ $-15.7$ Michigan $-9.7$ $-7.8$ $-25.0$ $-23.1$ $-23.1$ $-21.3$ $-21.5$ $-19.7$ Mississippi $-16.1$ $-12.7$ $-31.4$ $-27.9$ $-29.6$ $-26.1$ $-28.0$ $-24.7$ Missouri $-13.2$ $2.4$ $-28.4$ $-12.9$ $-26.6$ $-11.1$ $-25.0$ $-9.7$ Montana $0.2$ $-2.3$ $-15.1$ $-17.6$ $-13.3$ $-15.7$ $-11.7$ $-14.7$ Nevada $3.1$ $-1.1$ $-12.2$ $-16.4$ <	Idaho
Indiana3.1-1.5-12.2-16.8-10.4-14.9-8.8-13.Iowa6.4-1.3-8.9-16.6-7.1-14.8-5.5-13.Kansas8.4-5.8-6.9-21.0-5.1-19.2-3.5-17.Kentucky-15.9-21.1-31.2-36.3-29.3-34.5-27.8-32.Louisiana-17.25.6-32.5-9.7-30.7-7.9-29.1-6.Maine-1.4-4.1-16.7-19.4-14.8-17.6-13.2-16.Maryland2.8-19.4-12.4-34.7-10.6-32.8-9.0-31.Massachusetts-1.3-3.2-16.6-18.4-14.8-16.6-13.2-15.Michigan-9.7-7.8-25.0-23.1-23.1-21.3-21.5-19.Minnesota11.8-0.2-3.5-15.4-1.6-13.6-0.1-12.Missouri-13.22.4-28.4-12.9-26.6-11.1-25.0-9.Montana0.2-2.3-15.1-17.6-13.3-15.7-11.7-14.Nevada3.1-1.1-12.2-16.4-10.4-14.6-8.8-13.New Hampshire13.93.9-1.4-11.30.5-9.52.1-7.	Illinois
Iowa6.4-1.3-8.9-16.6-7.1-14.8-5.5-13.Kansas8.4-5.8-6.9-21.0-5.1-19.2-3.5-17.Kentucky-15.9-21.1-31.2-36.3-29.3-34.5-27.8-32.Louisiana-17.25.6-32.5-9.7-30.7-7.9-29.1-6.Maine-1.4-4.1-16.7-19.4-14.8-17.6-13.2-16.Maryland2.8-19.4-12.4-34.7-10.6-32.8-9.0-31.Massachusetts-1.3-3.2-16.6-18.4-14.8-16.6-13.2-15.Michigan-9.7-7.8-25.0-23.1-23.1-21.3-21.5-19.Minnesota11.8-0.2-3.5-15.4-1.6-13.6-0.1-12.Missouri-13.22.4-28.4-12.9-26.6-11.1-25.0-9.Montana0.2-2.3-15.1-17.6-13.3-15.7-11.7-14.Nevada3.1-1.1-12.2-16.4-10.4-14.6-8.8-13.New Hampshire13.93.9-1.4-11.30.5-9.52.1-7.	Indiana
Kansas8.4-5.8-6.9-21.0-5.1-19.2-3.5-17.Kentucky-15.9-21.1-31.2-36.3-29.3-34.5-27.8-32.Louisiana-17.25.6-32.5-9.7-30.7-7.9-29.1-6.Maine-1.4-4.1-16.7-19.4-14.8-17.6-13.2-16.Maryland2.8-19.4-12.4-34.7-10.6-32.8-9.0-31.Massachusetts-1.3-3.2-16.6-18.4-14.8-16.6-13.2-15.Michigan-9.7-7.8-25.0-23.1-23.1-21.3-21.5-19.Minnesota11.8-0.2-3.5-15.4-1.6-13.6-0.1-12.Missouri-13.22.4-28.4-12.9-26.6-11.1-25.0-9.Montana0.2-2.3-15.1-17.6-13.3-15.7-11.7-14.Nevada3.1-1.1-12.2-16.4-10.4-14.6-8.8-13.New Hampshire13.93.9-1.4-11.30.5-9.52.1-7.	lowa
Kentucky-15.9-21.1-31.2-36.3-29.3-34.5-27.8-32.Louisiana-17.25.6-32.5-9.7-30.7-7.9-29.1-6.Maine-1.4-4.1-16.7-19.4-14.8-17.6-13.2-16.Maryland2.8-19.4-12.4-34.7-10.6-32.8-9.0-31.Massachusetts-1.3-3.2-16.6-18.4-14.8-16.6-13.2-15.Michigan-9.7-7.8-25.0-23.1-23.1-21.3-21.5-19.Minnesota11.8-0.2-3.5-15.4-1.6-13.6-0.1-12.Missouri-13.22.4-28.4-12.9-26.6-26.1-28.0-24.Missouri-13.22.4-28.4-12.9-26.6-11.1-25.0-9.Montana0.2-2.3-15.1-17.6-13.3-15.7-11.7-14.Nevada3.1-1.1-12.2-16.4-10.4-14.6-8.8-13.New Hampshire13.93.9-1.4-11.30.5-9.52.1-7.	Kansas
Louisiana $-17.2$ $5.6$ $-32.5$ $-9.7$ $-30.7$ $-7.9$ $-29.1$ $-6.$ Maine $-1.4$ $-4.1$ $-16.7$ $-19.4$ $-14.8$ $-17.6$ $-13.2$ $-16.$ Maryland $2.8$ $-19.4$ $-12.4$ $-34.7$ $-10.6$ $-32.8$ $-9.0$ $-31.$ Massachusetts $-1.3$ $-3.2$ $-16.6$ $-18.4$ $-14.8$ $-16.6$ $-13.2$ $-15.$ Michigan $-9.7$ $-7.8$ $-25.0$ $-23.1$ $-23.1$ $-21.3$ $-21.5$ $-19.$ Minnesota $11.8$ $-0.2$ $-35.5$ $-15.4$ $-1.6$ $-13.6$ $-0.1$ $-12.$ Missouri $-13.2$ $2.4$ $-28.4$ $-27.9$ $-29.6$ $-26.1$ $-28.0$ $-24.$ Missouri $-13.2$ $2.4$ $-28.4$ $-12.9$ $-26.6$ $-11.1$ $-25.0$ $-9.$ Montana $0.2$ $-2.3$ $-15.1$ $-17.6$ $-13.3$ $-15.7$ $-11.7$ $-14.$ Nebraska $9.7$ $-0.9$ $-5.6$ $-16.2$ $-3.7$ $-14.4$ $-2.1$ $-12.$ New Hampshire $13.9$ $3.9$ $-1.4$ $-11.3$ $0.5$ $-9.5$ $2.1$ $-7.$	Kentucky
Maine         -1.4         -4.1         -16.7         -19.4         -14.8         -17.6         -13.2         -16.7           Maryland         2.8         -19.4         -12.4         -34.7         -10.6         -32.8         -9.0         -31.           Massachusetts         -1.3         -3.2         -16.6         -18.4         -14.8         -16.6         -13.2         -15.           Michigan         -9.7         -7.8         -25.0         -23.1         -21.3         -21.5         -19.           Minnesota         11.8         -0.2         -3.5         -15.4         -1.6         -13.6         -0.1         -12.           Missouri         -13.2         2.4         -28.4         -12.9         -26.6         -11.1         -25.0         -24.           Missouri         -13.2         2.4         -28.4         -12.9         -26.6         -11.1         -25.0         -9.           Montana         0.2         -2.3         -15.1         -17.6         -13.3         -15.7         -11.7         -14.           Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           New Hampshire	Louisiana
Maryland         2.8         -19.4         -12.4         -34.7         -10.6         -32.8         -9.0         -31.           Massachusetts         -1.3         -3.2         -16.6         -18.4         -14.8         -16.6         -13.2         -15.           Michigan         -9.7         -7.8         -25.0         -23.1         -21.3         -21.5         -19.           Minnesota         11.8         -0.2         -3.5         -15.4         -1.6         -13.6         -0.1         -12.           Mississippi         -16.1         -12.7         -31.4         -27.9         -29.6         -26.1         -28.0         -24.           Missouri         -13.2         2.4         -28.4         -12.9         -26.6         -11.1         -25.0         -9.           Montana         0.2         -2.3         -15.1         -17.6         -13.3         -15.7         -11.7         -14.           Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -14.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.	Maine
Massachusetts         -1.3         -3.2         -16.6         -18.4         -14.8         -16.6         -13.2         -15.           Michigan         -9.7         -7.8         -25.0         -23.1         -23.1         -21.3         -21.5         -19.           Minnesota         11.8         -0.2         -3.5         -15.4         -1.6         -13.6         -0.1         -12.           Mississippi         -16.1         -12.7         -31.4         -27.9         -29.6         -26.1         -28.0         -24.           Missouri         -13.2         2.4         -28.4         -12.9         -26.6         -11.1         -25.0         -9.           Montana         0.2         -2.3         -15.1         -17.6         -13.3         -15.7         -11.7         -14.4           Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           Nevada         3.1         -1.1         -12.2         -16.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -1.4         -11.3         0.5         -9.5         2.1         -7. <td>Maryland</td>	Maryland
Michigan         -9.7         -7.8         -25.0         -23.1         -23.1         -21.3         -21.5         -19.           Minnesota         11.8         -0.2         -3.5         -15.4         -1.6         -13.6         -0.1         -12.           Mississippi         -16.1         -12.7         -31.4         -27.9         -29.6         -26.1         -28.0         -24.           Missouri         -13.2         2.4         -28.4         -12.9         -26.6         -11.1         -25.0         -9.           Montana         0.2         -2.3         -15.1         -17.6         -13.3         -15.7         -11.7         -14.4           Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           Newada         3.1         -1.1         -12.2         -16.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -1.4         -11.3         0.5         -9.5         2.1         -7.	Massachusetts
Minnesota         11.8         -0.2         -3.5         -15.4         -1.6         -13.6         -0.1         -12.           Mississippi         -16.1         -12.7         -31.4         -27.9         -29.6         -26.1         -28.0         -24.           Missouri         -13.2         2.4         -28.4         -12.9         -26.6         -11.1         -25.0         -9.           Montana         0.2         -2.3         -15.1         -17.6         -13.3         -15.7         -11.7         -14.           Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           New data         3.1         -1.1         -12.2         -16.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -1.4         -11.3         0.5         -9.5         2.1         -7.	Michigan
Mississippi         -16.1         -12.7         -31.4         -27.9         -29.6         -26.1         -28.0         -24.           Missouri         -13.2         2.4         -28.4         -12.9         -26.6         -11.1         -25.0         -9.           Montana         0.2         -2.3         -15.1         -17.6         -13.3         -15.7         -11.7         -14.           Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           Nevada         3.1         -1.1         -12.2         -16.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -1.4         -11.3         0.5         -9.5         2.1         -7.	Minnesota
Missouri         -13.2         2.4         -28.4         -12.9         -26.6         -11.1         -25.0         -9.           Montana         0.2         -2.3         -15.1         -17.6         -13.3         -15.7         -11.7         -14.           Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           Nevada         3.1         -1.1         -12.2         -16.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -1.4         -11.3         0.5         -9.5         2.1         -7.	Mississippi
Montana         0.2         -2.3         -15.1         -17.6         -13.3         -15.7         -11.7         -14.           Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           Nevada         3.1         -1.1         -12.2         -16.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -1.4         -11.3         0.5         -9.5         2.1         -7.	Missouri
Nebraska         9.7         -0.9         -5.6         -16.2         -3.7         -14.4         -2.1         -12.           Nevada         3.1         -1.1         -12.2         -16.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -1.4         -11.3         0.5         -9.5         2.1         -7.	Montana
Nevada         3.1         -1.1         -12.2         -16.4         -10.4         -14.6         -8.8         -13.           New Hampshire         13.9         3.9         -1.4         -11.3         0.5         -9.5         2.1         -7.	Nebraska
New Hampshire 13.9 3.9 -1.4 -11.3 0.5 -9.5 2.1 -7.	Nevada
	New Hampshire
New Jersey 5.9 -7.0 -9.4 -22.3 -7.6 -20.5 -6.0 -18	New Jersev
New Mexico -1.8 -12.5 -17.1 -27.7 -15.3 -25.9 -13.7 -24.	New Mexico
New York -4.1 -8.0 -19.4 -23.2 -17.6 -21.4 -16.0 -19.	New York
North Carolina 9.8 6.3 -5.5 -9.0 -3.7 -7.2 -2.1 -5.	North Carolina
North Dakota $-96$ $-294$ $-248$ $-447$ $-230$ $-429$ $-214$ $-41$	North Dakota
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Ohio
Oklahoma 84 -118 -69 -271 -51 -253 -35 -23	Oklahoma
Oregon $94 \ 108 \ -59 \ -44 \ -40 \ -26 \ -24 \ -1$	Oregon
Pennsylvania 10.3 0.1 -4.9 -15.2 -3.1 -13.4 -1.5 -11	Pennsylvania
Bhode Island $10.6$ $7.0$ $-4.7$ $-8.2$ $-2.8$ $-6.4$ $-1.3$ $-4$	Rhode Island
South Carolina -165 -150 -318 -303 -299 -285 -283 -26	South Carolina
South Dakota 10.3 -19.6 -5.0 -34.9 -3.2 -33.1 -1.6 -31	South Dakota
Tennessee -16.7 -22.1 -32.0 -37.4 -30.2 -35.6 -28.6 -34	Tennessee
Tayas $-10.6 - 16.1 - 25.8 - 31.4 - 24.0 - 29.6 - 22.4 - 28$	Texas
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Utah
Vermont $82 -02 -71 -155 -52 -136 -37 -12$	Vermont
Virginia -14.7 -17.4 -29.9 -32.6 -28.1 -30.8 -26.5 -29	Virginia
Washington $70 -43 -83 -196 -65 -178 -49 -16$	Washington
West Virginia4.4 11.719.63.517.81.716.20	West Virginia
Misconsin $4.7$ $11.7$ $10.6$ $-0.6$ $-17.6$ $-17.7$ $-10.2$ $-0.6$ Wisconsin $4.7$ $-3.5$ $-10.6$ $-18.8$ $-8.8$ $-17.0$ $-7.2$ $-15.6$	Wisconsin
Wyoming $10.3$ $7.8$ $-5.0$ $-7.5$ $-3.1$ $-5.6$ $-1.5$ $-4$	Wvoming

## Table C-8.Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 8<br/>reading assessments, estimated using nation-based approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005 and 2007

	Grade 4			Grade 8				
	Distance		Centered on		Distance		Centered on	
State	above	Ten 1	Ton F	Tan 10	above	Top 1	Ton F	Tan 10
Alabama	Denchmark	23	100 2	100 10	11 Q		25	100 10
Alabama	7.5	-2.3	-0.3	1.0	11.9	0.0	2.5	3.0
AldSKa	0.0	-1.0	10.2	10.0	4.3	-7.0	-5.2	-4.0
Arizonia	-4.2	-14.1	-12.1	-10.8	-7.7	-19.0	-17.2	-10.0
Arkansas	5.7	-4.2	-2.1	-0.9	4.4	-7.5	-0.1	-3.9
California	-4.4	-14.3	-12.2	-11.0	4.0	-7.3	-4.9	-3.7
Colorado	2.8	-7.1	-5.0	-3.7	5.0	-6.9	-4.4	-3.3
Connecticut	0.2	-9.7	-7.6	-6.4	1.6	-10.3	-7.8	-6.7
Delaware	-23.5	-33.3	-31.3	-30.0	-39.8	-51.7	-49.3	-48.2
District of Columbia	-7.3	-17.2	-15.1	-13.9	-1.4	-13.3	-10.9	-9.7
Florida	3.1	-6.8	-4.7	-3.5	5.9	-6.0	-3.5	-2.4
Georgia	2.3	-7.6	-5.5	-4.3	1.2	-10.7	-8.3	-7.1
Hawaii	3.1	-6.8	-4.7	-3.5	5.6	-6.3	-3.8	-2.7
Idaho	9.9	0.0	2.1	3.3	9.0	-3.0	-0.5	0.6
Illinois	3.4	-6.5	-4.4	-3.2	5.8	-6.1	-3.6	-2.5
Indiana	4.9	-4.9	-2.9	-1.6	-1.9	-13.8	-11.4	-10.2
lowa	2.4	-7.5	-5.4	-4.2	6.0	-5.9	-3.5	-2.3
Kansas	4.1	-5.7	-3.7	-2.4	1.7	-10.2	-7.7	-6.6
Kentucky	1.4	-8.5	-6.4	-5.1	-5.4	-17.3	-14.8	-13.7
Louisiana	-1.8	-11.6	-9.6	-8.3	-6.0	-17.9	-15.4	-14.3
Maine	-0.2	-10.1	-8.1	-6.8	-0.5	-12.5	-10.0	-8.9
Maryland	-4.4	-14.3	-12.2	-11.0	-9.1	-21.0	-18.5	-17.4
Massachusetts	-1.7	-11.6	-9.5	-8.3	-9.3	-21.2	-18.7	-17.6
Michigan	-5.9	-15.8	-13.7	-12.5	-8.2	-20.1	-17.6	-16.5
Minnesota	2.6	-7.3	-5.2	-3.9	7.8	-4.1	-1.6	-0.5
Mississippi	-8.1	-17.9	-15.9	-14.6	-13.5	-25.4	-23.0	-21.8
Missouri	2.6	-7.2	-5.2	-3.9	-2.6	-14.5	-12.0	-10.9
Montana	1.1	-8.8	-6.7	-5.4	4.9	-7.0	-4.6	-3.4
Nebraska	2.8	-7.1	-5.0	-3.7	8.9	-3.0	-0.5	0.6
Nevada	-4.8	-14.6	-12.6	-11.3	0.5	-11.4	-9.0	-7.8
New Hampshire	6.4	-3.4	-1.4	-0.1	8.1	-3.8	-1.3	-0.2
New Jersey	1.9	-8.0	-5.9	-4.7	1.9	-10.0	-7.5	-6.4
New Mexico	5.3	-4.6	-2.5	-1.3	7.5	-4.4	-1.9	-0.8
New York	-1.9	-11.8	-9.7	-8.5	0.0	-11.9	-9.4	-8.3
North Carolina	2.4	-7.5	-5.4	-4.2	4.7	-7.2	-4.7	-3.6
North Dakota	-0.9	-10.8	-8.7	-7.5	-2.9	-14.8	-12.3	-11.2
Ohio	-7.9	-17.7	-15.7	-14.4	-13.2	-25.1	-22.6	-21.5
Oklahoma	-1.6	-11.4	-9.4	-8.1	1.0	-10.9	-8.5	-7.3
Oregon	-3.1	-12.9	-10.9	-9.6	7.4	-4.5	-2.0	-0.9
Pennsvlvania	3.2	-6.7	-4.6	-3.3	3.2	-8.7	-6.2	-5.1
Rhode Island	1.9	-8.0	-6.0	-4.7	3.1	-8.8	-6.3	-5.2
South Carolina	-10.9	-20.8	-18 7	-17 4	-20.8	-32 7	-30.3	-29 1
South Dakota	3.9	-5.9	-3.9	-2.6	5.8	-6.1	-3.6	-2.5
Tennessee	0.7	-9.2	-7 1	-5.9	-4.6	-16.6	-14 1	-13.0
Texas	-19.3	-29.1	-27.1	-25.8	-18.6	-30.5	-28.0	-26.9
litah	5.2	_4 7	-2.6	_1 4	62	-5.7	_3.2	_2 1
Vermont	1.0		- <u>2</u> .0 0 0	-1. <del>4</del> 75	1.0	-0.7	-0.2	-2.1 & F
Virginia	-1.0	-10.9	0.0 00 0	-7.5	۵.۱ ۱.۵	-10.1	-1.1	-0.0 10 E
Washington	-12.4	-22.3	-20.2	-19.0	-10.2	-22.1	-19.7	-10.0 4 4
Woot Virginia	D.I	-4.0	-2.0	-1.5	0.9	0.0	-2.0	-1.4
Wiesensin	3.0	-0.9	-4.8	-3.0	2.0	-9.9	-7.5	-0.3
vvisconsin	5.2	-4.7	-2.6	-1.3	5.0	-6.9	-4.5	-3.3
vvyoming	7.2	-2.7	-0.7	0.6	9.3	-2.6	-0.1	1.0

Table C-9.Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4<br/>and 8 mathematics assessments, estimated using state-specific approach<br/>and recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005

	Grade 4			Grade 8				
	Distance	C	Centered on		Distance		Centered on	
State	benchmark	Top 1	Top 5	Top 10	benchmark	Top 1	Top 5	Top 10
Alabama	18.8	-2.3	1.7	3.9	14.4	0.0	1.9	3.6
Alaska	16.4	-4.6	-0.7	1.6	14.4	0.0	2.0	3.6
Arizona	-1.5	-22.6	-18.6	-16.4	4.4	-10.0	-8.1	-6.4
Arkansas	-9.5	-30.6	-26.6	-24.4	-1.1	-15.4	-13.5	-11.8
California	1.4	-19.7	-15.7	-13.4	7.6	-6.8	-4.8	-3.2
Colorado	12.9	-8.2	-4.2	-1.9	7.0	-7.4	-5.4	-3.8
Connecticut	7.7	-13.4	-9.4	-7.2	8.1	-6.3	-4.3	-2.7
Delaware	-34.0	-55.1	-51.1	-48.8	-31.4	-45.8	-43.8	-42.2
District of Columbia	0.7	-20.4	-16.4	-14.2	-2.3	-16.7	-14.7	-13.1
Florida	3.2	-17.9	-13.9	-11.6	7.0	-7.4	-5.5	-3.8
Georgia	-6.1	-27.2	-23.2	-21.0	-8.6	-23.0	-21.1	-19.4
Hawaii	12.9	-8.2	-4.2	-2.0	8.9	-5.5	-3.6	-1.9
Idaho	6.1	-15.0	-11.0	-8.8	9.7	-4.7	-2.8	-1.1
Illinois	-1.0	-22.1	-18.1	-15.9	4.5	-9.9	-7.9	-6.3
Indiana	5.4	-15.7	-11.7	-9.4	1.8	-12.6	-10.6	-9.0
lowa	2.5	-18.6	-14.6	-12.4	5.4	-9.0	-7.1	-5.4
Kansas	13.0	-8.1	-4.1	-1.9	6.5	-7.9	-5.9	-4.3
Kentucky	-17.0	-38.1	-34.1	-31.8	-18.9	-33.3	-31.3	-29.7
Louisiana	-27.1	-48.2	-44.2	-41.9	-19.6	-34.0	-32.1	-30.4
Maine	-2.9	-24.0	-20.0	-17.7	-3.4	-17.8	-15.8	-14.2
Maryland	-6.0	-27.1	-23.1	-20.9	0.8	-13.6	-11.7	-10.0
Massachusetts	-2.1	-23.1	-19.2	-16.9	-2.6	-17.0	-15.0	-13.4
Michigan	-12.5	-33.5	-29.6	-27.3	-11.6	-26.0	-24.1	-22.4
Minnesota	12.4	-8.7	-4.7	-2.5	10.5	-3.9	-1.9	-0.3
Mississippi	-9.0	-30.1	-26.1	-23.9	-16.9	-31.3	-29.3	-27.7
Missouri	-10.6	-31.7	-27.7	-25.4	-15.4	-29.8	-27.9	-26.2
Montana	-0.1	-21.2	-17.2	-15.0	-1.2	-15.6	-13.6	-12.0
Nebraska	2.6	-18.5	-14.5	-12.3	8.7	-5.7	-3.7	-2.1
Nevada	-6.0	-27.1	-23.1	-20.8	1.8	-12.6	-10.6	-9.0
New Hampshire	12.6	-8.5	-4.5	-2.3	12.9	-1.5	0.5	2.1
New Jersey	6.5	-14.6	-10.6	-8.3	4.6	-9.8	-7.8	-6.2
New Mexico	-2.0	-23.1	-19.1	-16.8	-2.8	-17.2	-15.2	-13.6
New York	3.8	-17.3	-13.3	-11.1	-5.3	-19.7	-17.7	-16.1
North Carolina	12.2	-8.9	-4.9	-2.6	8.4	-6.0	-4.0	-2.4
North Dakota	-4.8	-25.9	-21.9	-19.7	-11.6	-26.0	-24.0	-22.4
Ohio	-16.8	-37.9	-33.9	-31.7	-15.2	-29.6	-27.6	-26.0
Oklahoma	6.2	-14.9	-10.9	-8.7	7.0	-7.4	-5.4	-3.8
Oregon	0.4	-20.7	-16.7	-14.5	8.4	-6.0	-4.0	-2.4
Pennsylvania	7.4	-13.7	-9.7	-7.5	9.2	-5.2	-3.2	-1.6
Rhode Island	16.2	-4.9	-0.9	1.4	9.9	-4.5	-2.5	-0.9
South Carolina	-10.5	-31.6	-27.6	-25.3	-17.8	-32.2	-30.2	-28.6
South Dakota	3.8	-17.3	-13.3	-11.0	8.6	-5.8	-3.9	-2.2
Tennessee	-18.8	-39.9	-35.9	-33.6	-19.0	-33.4	-31.4	-29.8
Texas	-15.3	-36.3	-32.4	-30.1	-10.9	-25.3	-23.3	-21.7
Utah	4.1	-17.0	-13.0	-10.8	3.1	-11.3	-9.3	-7.7
Vermont	6.1	-15.0	-11.0	-8.8	6.9	-7.5	-5.5	-3.9
Virginia	-26.3	-47.4	-43.4	-41.2	-16.3	-30.7	-28.7	-27.1
Washington	11.4	-9.7	-5.7	-3.4	5.7	-8.6	-6.7	-5.0
West Virginia	-2.4	-23.5	-19.5	-17.2	-6.1	-20.5	-18.5	-16.9
Wisconsin	7.7	-13.4	-9.4	-7.1	3.3	-11.1	-9.2	-7.5
Wyoming	21.1	0.0	4.0	6.2	9.4	-5.0	-3.1	-1.4

Table C-10.Distance above benchmark rate of students with disabilities in NAEP grade 4<br/>and 8 reading assessments, estimated using state-specific approach and<br/>recentered to the top 1, 5, and 10 states: By state, 2005

### APPENDIX D. SD BACKGROUND QUESTIONNAIRES



**SD Background Questionnaire** 

2005



Dear Principal or Administrator:

Thank you for allowing your school to participate in the 2005 National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP). These assessments are vital to measuring the academic skills and progress of the students in our nation and in each state.

As you know, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) requires that all students with disabilities participate in state and district wide assessment programs through regular assessments, including with appropriate accommodations when necessary, or alternate assessments. The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) likewise requires the participation of students with disabilities in the student academic assessments required under that Act, and also requires that limited-English-proficient students, as well as other groups of students, participate in those state assessments. NCLB allows for reasonable accommodations on assessments administered to limited-English-proficient students. Although federal law does not explicitly specify similar requirements regarding the participation of students with disabilities and limited English-proficient students in NAEP, the NAEP program has been working very hard to make its sample of students taking the assessments as representative as possible of all students. We are asking you to ensure that the greatest possible number of students with disabilities and limited-Englishproficient students in your school, who are selected to participate, do in fact take the assessments.

Please keep in mind that NAEP does not produce results for individual students or schools, as your state or district tests might. All results are summarized only at the national and state levels (and for a few large urban districts). In other words, the NAEP assessments do not impose consequences for the student or the school, and are instead intended purely to provide a picture of educational performance and progress.

We want to include as many students as possible in the picture NAEP provides for us. For this reason, we ask you to do all you can to help ensure the participation of students who are selected for NAEP whenever possible, including students with disabilities and limited-English-proficient students. Students taking the NAEP are able to use most of the testing accommodations they usually receive in other tests (e.g., extended time, small group testing). Most students with disabilities and limited-English-proficient students are indeed able to participate in NAEP with their fellow students.

NAEP is one of the most visible and important indicators of educational performance in this country, and we very much appreciate your support in making NAEP as inclusive as possible.

aria Zi

Maria Hernandez Ferrier, Ed. D. Deputy Under Secretary Office of English Language Acquisition

Jay K Justines

Troy R. Justesen, Ed. D. Delegated the authority to perform the functions of Assistant Secretary for Special Education and Rehabilitative Services

400 MARYLAND AVE., S. W., WASHINGTON, D. C. 20202-6510 www.ed.gov

Our mission is to ensure equal access to education and to promote educational excellence throughout the Nation.

Some students in your school have been selected, as part of a representative sample of students across the country, to take part in the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP). The current NAEP assessment focuses on students' performance in civics, economics, mathematics, reading, science, and U.S. history. As part of the assessment, NAEP collects background information about students, their teachers, and their school that may be related to students' academic performance.

In order to obtain a complete picture of educational progress for **all** students, it is important to collect supplemental information on students in the sample who have been identified as having a physical or mental disability—**whether they will be assessed or not**. Students with disabilities include those who have an individual education plan (IEP), Section 504 plan, or equivalent documentation for reasons other than gifted or talented. We are asking you to complete this questionnaire about **one** of those students.

NAEP is authorized under Public Law 107–110. While your participation is voluntary, your responses to these questions are needed to make this survey accurate and complete. All responses that relate to or describe identifiable characteristics of teachers or schools may be used only for statistical purposes and may not be disclosed, or used, in identifiable form for any other purposes, unless otherwise compelled by law.

Thank you very much for your help.

#### INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILLING OUT QUESTIONNAIRE

Please complete this questionnaire for the student named on the front cover. If the student named on the front cover does not meet the definition for a student with a disability, or if you do not know about the student's disability, instruction, and assessment, please return this questionnaire to the NAEP school coordinator.

Please answer questions directly on this questionnaire with a number 2 pencil by filling in the appropriate ovals and, if necessary, by writing your responses in the spaces provided. When you are finished, please return the questionnaire to your school's NAEP coordinator.

```
VC037154
```

What is your relationship to the student named on the front cover?

- Classroom (General Education) Teacher
- Special Education Teacher
- © Related Service Provider (e.g., Speech Language Pathologist, Occupational Therapist, Physical Therapist)
- Guidance/School Counselor
- © Principal/Assistant Principal
- (D) Other (specify)

VC035061

- 1. Why is this student classified as SD?
  - The student has a disability and has an individualized education plan.
  - (B) The student has a Section 504 plan.
  - © The student has a disability, but the student's IEP or 504 plan is in process, and/or the student's status is unclear.
    - VB338417
- 2. Which of the following describes this student's identified disability(ies)?(Fill in all ovals that apply.)
  - Specific learning disability
  - B Hearing impairment/deafness
  - © Visual impairment/blindness
  - Speech or language impairment
  - Mental retardation
  - © Emotional handicap/disturbance
  - © Orthopedic impairment
  - Traumatic brain injury
  - O Autism
  - Developmental delay (age 9 or younger)
  - © Other health impairments
  - O Other (specify)

- 3. In your judgment, what is the degree of this student's disability(ies)?
  - Profound/Severe
  - Moderate
     Moderate
  - © Mild

VC035067

VB338418

- 4. At a minimum, do this student's longterm mathematics objectives include the ability to perform basic mathematics calculations without the use of a calculator?
  - (A) Yes
  - B No
  - © I don't know.

VC035068

- 5. At a minimum, do this student's longterm reading objectives include the ability to decode simple printed material?
  - (A) Yes
  - B No
     No
  - O I don't know.

6. What proportion of his or her academic class time (in subjects such as mathematics, reading/language arts, science, and social studies) does this student spend in the mainstream/general education classroom(s)?

- Mone
   None
- B Half or less
- More than half, but not all
- © All
- I don't know.

#### VC035071

VC035069

- 7. In which area(s) is this student currently receiving special education services? (Fill in all ovals that apply.)
  - This student does not currently receive special education services.
  - Language development
  - © Reading
  - Mathematics
  - © Science
  - © Social Studies
  - © Speech (e.g., articulation, voice, speech flow)
  - Self-control and/or deportment
  - Personal care and/or basic life skills
  - Vocational education
  - (C) Other (specify)
  - I don't know.

#### BRMS-SD

#### VC043013

- 8. Refer to the front cover to determine the subject in which this student is being assessed by NAEP, and fill in the oval for that subject below.
  - O
     Civics
  - B Economics
  - © Mathematics
  - © Reading
  - © Science
  - © U.S. history

#### Questions 9–15, which follow, ask about this student's instruction and assessment in the subject identified in question 8.

VC043017

- 9. What grade level of instruction is this student currently receiving in the subject identified in question 8?
  - This student is currently not receiving instruction in this subject.
  - At or above grade level
  - © One year below grade level
  - Two or more years below grade level
  - ① I don't know.

VC035099

- 10. Is this student participating in the same curriculum content as nondisabled students in the subject identified in question 8?
  - This student is currently not receiving instruction in this subject.
  - Same curriculum content
  - © Different curriculum content
  - I don't know.

VC035101

- 11. According to the student's IEP or 504 plan, how does this student participate in the state academic assessment in the subject identified in question 8? If your state does not have an assessment in the subject identified in question 8, indicate how this student participates in your state's reading/ language arts assessment.
  - Student's plan is still in process.
  - B Regular assessment without accommodations
  - © Regular assessment with accommodations
  - Regular assessment using accommodations *not* allowed in the regular state assessment
  - © Out-of-level (off-grade) assessment
  - C Alternate assessment for students who are significantly cognitively disabled
  - © Other (specify)

For questions 12–15, please indicate which accommodations this student receives, if any, in the state academic assessment in the subject identified in question 8. If your state does not have an assessment in the subject identified in question 8, indicate which accommodations this student receives, if any, in your state's reading/ language arts assessment.

VC035119

### 12. **Presentation** Accommodations (**Fill in all ovals that apply.**)

- No presentation accommodations
- Directions read aloud to student or presented by audiotape
- © Directions signed
- Directions repeated
- C Assistance with interpretation of directions given
- Passages, other test stimuli, or test questions read aloud or presented by audiotape
- © Braille edition of test
- Large-print edition of test
- Magnifying equipment provided
- Test administered by person familiar to the student
- (C) Other (specify)

### 13. Response Accommodations (Fill in all ovals that apply.)

VC035122

- No response accommodations
- B Responds in Braille
- © Responds in sign language
- D Points to answers
- © Responds orally
- ⑦ Tape records answers
- © Uses computer to respond
- Uses typewriter to respond
- Uses a template to respond
- Uses a large marking pen or specially designed writing tool
- <sup>®</sup> Writes directly in test booklet
- Uses a calculator, including talking or Braille calculators, for computation tasks
- O Other (specify)

- 14. Setting Accommodations (Fill in all ovals that apply.)
  - No setting accommodations
  - <sup>(B)</sup> Tested in small group
  - © Tested individually
  - Tested in separate room
  - © Receives preferential seating
  - © Special lighting provided
  - © Special furniture provided
  - Other (specify)

#### VC035160

VC035140

- 15. Timing Accommodations (Fill in all ovals that apply.)
  - No timing accommodations
  - Receives extended time
  - © Receives breaks during test
  - D Tested over several days
  - © Other (specify)

**Question 16** asks you to judge whether this student can participate in the NAEP assessment, either with or without accommodations.

The NAEP assessment includes both multiple-choice and constructed-response (open-ended) questions.

A student identified as having a disability should be included in the NAEP assessment unless he or she is significantly cognitively disabled or unable to demonstrate his or her knowledge in the subject being assessed without an accommodation that is not permitted in NAEP.

NAEP permits most, but not all, accommodations provided for state assessment programs. In the **reading** assessment, NAEP *does not* permit the reading passages or test questions to be read aloud or presented by audiotape. In the **mathematics** assessment, NAEP *does not* permit use of calculators on computation questions. Testing over more than one day *is not* permitted in any NAEP assessment. NAEP does not have out-of-level (offgrade) or alternate assessments.

- 16. In your judgment, can this student participate in NAEP in the subject identified in question 8?
  - (A) Yes, without accommodations
  - Set Yes, with accommodations permitted in NAEP
  - © No, this student is significantly cognitively disabled.
  - No, this student cannot be assessed without an out-of-level (off-grade) or alternate assessment.
  - C No, this student cannot demonstrate his or her knowledge in the subject being assessed without accommodations that are not permitted in NAEP.

### THANK YOU FOR YOUR COOPERATION


## **Students with Disabilities Background Questionnaire**

2007

## UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION



OFFICE OF SPECIAL EDUCATION AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES

Dear Principal or Administrator:

Thank you for allowing your school to participate in the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP). These assessments are vital to measuring the academic skills and progress of the students in our nation and in each state.

As you know, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) requires that all students with disabilities participate in state and district wide assessment programs through regular assessments, including with appropriate accommodations when necessary, or alternate assessments. The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) likewise requires the participation of students with disabilities in the student academic assessments required under that Act, and also requires that English language learners, as well as other groups of students, participate in those state assessments. NCLB allows for reasonable accommodations on assessments administered to English language learners. Although federal law does not explicitly specify similar requirements regarding the participation of students with disabilities and English language learners in NAEP, the NAEP program has been working very hard to make its sample of students taking the assessments as representative as possible of all students. We are asking you to ensure that the greatest possible number of students with disabilities and English language learners in your school, who are selected to participate, do in fact take the assessments.

Please keep in mind that NAEP does not produce results for individual students or schools, as your state or district tests might. All results are summarized only at the national and state levels (and for a few large urban districts). In other words, the NAEP assessments do not impose consequences for the student or the school, and are instead intended purely to provide a picture of educational performance and progress.

We want to include as many students as possible in the picture NAEP provides for us. For this reason, we ask you to do all you can to help ensure the participation of students who are selected for NAEP whenever possible, including students with disabilities and English language learners. Students taking the NAEP are able to use most of the testing accommodations they usually receive in other tests (e.g., extended time, small group testing). Most students with disabilities and English language learners are indeed able to participate in NAEP with their fellow students.

NAEP is one of the most visible and important indicators of educational performance in this country, and we very much appreciate your support in making NAEP as inclusive as possible.

Kathler Sli

Kathleen Leos Assistant Deputy Secretary Office of English Language Acquisition

auga Poeny Alexa Posny

Director Office of Special Education Programs

## GENERAL DIRECTIONS FOR COMPLETING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE

The student named on the front cover of this questionnaire has been selected to participate in the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) and has been identified as a student with disabilities (SD). NAEP's definition of SD includes only:

- students with an Individualized Educational Program (IEP), for reasons other than being gifted or talented; or
- students with 504 Plans.

The decision tree below illustrates the steps in determining how best to include this student in NAEP. By answering the questions in this questionnaire, you will provide the information needed to make this determination.



## **SD DECISION TREE**

Please answer the questions on pages 4–7 about this student and return the completed questionnaire to the person in your school who is coordinating NAEP activities.

Thank you very much for your help!

DRWM-SD

- 1. Why is this student classified as SD? (Fill in **one** oval.)
  - This student has a disability and has an IEP. (Continue)
  - (Continue) This student has a Section 504 Plan. (Continue)
  - © This student has a disability, but the student's IEP or 504 Plan is in process and/or the student's status is unclear. (Continue)
  - This student has an IEP because he/she is classified as gifted and talented. (Do not complete this questionnaire. Return it to the person coordinating NAEP at your school.)

VC195186

**Question 2 asks about the subject identified on the front cover of this questionnaire** because this student has been selected for the assessment of this subject. If the subject is reading or mathematics, refer to the state assessment used for reporting adequate yearly progress under No Child Left Behind. If this student does not take a state test in this subject refer to local testing or instructional practice.

- 2. How does this student participate in your state academic assessment in the NAEP subject identified **on the front cover** of this questionnaire? (Fill in **one** oval.)
  - This student takes the regular academic assessment with no accommodations.  $\rightarrow$  *Skip to page 7 and answer questions 7–9.*
  - **(B)** This student takes the regular academic assessment with accommodations.  $\rightarrow$  *Go to* pages 5, 6, and 7 and answer questions 3–9.
  - © This student **takes an alternate or modified** state academic assessment.  $\rightarrow$  *Skip to page 6 and answer question 6, then complete page 7.*

3. Which accommodations does this student receive for your state's assessment in the NAEP subject identified **on the front cover** of this questionnaire?

Fill in the oval in Column A for each accommodation that this student receives for your state's assessment in the NAEP subject indicated on the front cover of this questionnaire. If this student does not take a state assessment in the NAEP subject, please indicate the accommodations this student receives in local testing or in instruction.

$\left( \right)$	COLUMN A	COLUMN B			COLUMN C
This Student	Accommodations student receives on state assessment in NAEP subject	Are thes allo Reading	se accommod owed on NAEF Math	ations ?? Writing	lf allowed on NAEP, who provides accommodation?
Presentation Format					
Has directions read aloud/repeated in English or receives assistance to understand directions	0	Standard NAEP practice			NAEP provides
Has directions <b>only</b> signed	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
Has test items signed	0	Ν	Y	Y	School provides
Has occasional words or phrases read aloud	0	Ν	Y	Y	NAEP provides
Has all or most of the test materials read aloud	0	Ν	Y	Y	NAEP provides
Uses a Braille version of the test	0	Y	Y	Y	NAEP provides
Uses a large print version of the test	0	Y	Y	Y	NAEP provides
Uses magnifying equipment	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
Response Format					
Responds in sign language	0	Y	Y	N	School provides
Uses a Braille typewriter to respond	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
Points to answers or responds orally to a scribe	0	Y	Y	N	School provides
Tape records answers	0	N	N	N	NA
Uses a computer or typewriter to respond	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
		Spell/grammar check not allowed			
Uses a template to respond	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
Uses a large marking pen or special writing tool	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
Writes directly in the test booklet	0	Standard NAEP practice			NA
Setting Format					
Takes the test in a small group (5 or fewer)	0	Y	Y	Y	NAEP provides*
Takes the test one-on-one	0	Y	Y	Y	NAEP provides*
Takes the test in a study carrel	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
Receives preferential seating, special lighting, or furniture	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
Has test administered by familiar person	0	Y	Y	Y	School provides
Timing Accommodations					
Receives extended time	0	Y	Y	Y	NAEP provides
Is given breaks during the test	0	Y	Y	Y	NAEP provides
Takes test session over several days	0	N	Ν	N	NA
Other Accommodations					
Uses a calculator, including talking or Braille calculator for computation tasks	0	N	Ν	N	NA
Uses an abacus, arithmetic tables, graph paper	0	N	N	N	NA
Uses dictionary, thesaurus, or spelling/grammar-checking software or devices	0	N	N	N	NA
Receives other accommodations	0				

NA = not applicable

\* NAEP provides staff to conduct small group or one-on-one sessions after regular sessions.

Answer Question 4 and, if necessary, Question 5 using the information in Columns A and B on page 5.

VC195245

- 4. Are all of the accommodations this student receives on the state assessment as recorded in Column A allowed on NAEP (Column B)? (Fill in **one** oval.)
  - Type: This student should be assessed with these accommodations, as allowed on NAEP.  $\rightarrow$  *Skip to page* 7.
  - B No.  $\rightarrow$  Answer question 5 below.

VC195258

- 5. Can this student be assessed with only the accommodations allowed on NAEP? (Fill in **one** oval.)
  - This student should be assessed with only the accommodations allowed on NAEP.  $\rightarrow$  *Skip to page* 7.
  - ( No. This student should not be assessed on NAEP.  $\rightarrow$  *Skip to page* 7.

VC195269

- 6. Could the student participate in NAEP with any of the accommodations allowed on NAEP as listed in Column B on page 5? (Fill in **one** oval.)
  - Tes. List the accommodations allowed on NAEP and include the student in NAEP.

 $\rightarrow$  Go to page 7 and answer questions 7, 8, and 9.

No. This student should not be assessed on NAEP.
  $\rightarrow$  Go to page 7 and answer questions 7, 8, and 9.

VB338417

- 7. Which of the following describes this student's identified disability(ies)? (Fill in all ovals that apply.)
  - Specific learning disability
  - B Hearing impairment/deafness
  - © Visual impairment/blindness
  - Speech or language impairment
  - © Mental retardation
  - © Emotional disturbance
  - © Orthopedic impairment
  - Traumatic brain injury
  - ① Autism
  - Developmental delay (age 9 or younger)
  - © Other health impairment
  - O Other (specify)

- 8. What is the degree of this student's disability(ies)?
  - Profound/Severe
  - Moderate
     Moderate
  - © Mild

VC121987

- 9. What grade level of instruction is this student currently receiving in the subject indicated on the front cover?
  - This student is currently not receiving instruction in this subject.
  - <sup>®</sup> At or above grade level
  - © One year below grade level
  - Two or more years below grade level
  - © I don't know.

VC188552

www.ed.gov



ies.ed.gov